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Chairman’s Statement
FERES

Government policies continue to affect China’s property
market.

During 2011, the PRC government continued and increased the number of
policies implemented and designed to control property prices. These policies
include: increasing interest rates, higher down payments, restrictions on
the number of properties that can be purchased, restrictions on loans to
developers etc. Such policies clearly had an impact on transaction volumes
for the property market, and have resulted in a decline in property prices.

However, we remain positive over the long term given
strong long term end user demand, and will continue
our transformation from a construction company into a
major PRC property developer.

For 2012, our view is that while the government will continue to implement
measures to discourage excessive speculation, there is real end user demand
for properties, and the government remains supportive of this sector. The
property industry in China is key to supporting domestic demand, a desire
that the government recognizes is important. Therefore, although the
government measures have clearly reduced short term demand, we believe
the government will not implement policies to the extent that there will be a
further major correction in the property market.

Despite difficult near term market conditions, the Group is continuing to make
progress on its property developments as it completes its transformation into
a major PRC property developer. By the end of 2011, the Group discontinued
the construction/contractor business both in Hong Kong and in the Mainland,
in addition to selling non core property projects.
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HKC has commenced development of all its major
property projects, and is poised to benefit when the
industry recovers.

During 2011, HKC made considerable progress on the development of
its property projects. With the groundbreaking ceremony on its Sichuan
North Road Lot 108 project in Shanghai on 9 January 2012, HKC has now
commenced development on all of its major property projects on hand. The
Group’s North Bund commercial/hotel project has achieved good progress
during 2011, with the hotel tower now reaching above the 20th floor.

All superstructure works for phase 1 of the Tianjin Honggi South Road project
have been topped out and completion is expected in the second half of 2012.
Superstructure construction for phases 2 and 3 began in April 2011, and is
expected to be completed by the second quarter of 2014. Presales for phase
2 were launched in the fourth quarter of 2011. For the Tianjin Tuanbo Lake
project, land reclamation work which involved the creation of 836,000 sg.m.
GFA of land bank commenced and was completed during 2011.

In Jiangmen, construction of phase 1 commenced on 22 July 2011 and
completion is expected by the second quarter of 2013. Presales were
launched in January of 2012, with strong initial demand.

In Shenyang, the government handed over to the Group two parcels of
land for the Shenyang South Lake project in the fourth quarter of 2011, and
foundation work has commenced.

For 2011, the Group has been able to unlock the value of
its assets through the sales of HK$2.3 billion of non-core
properties at premiums to book value.

In order to focus on the Group’s core development projects, and to further
unlock the value of its assets and to strengthen the Group’s liquidity and
financial position, HKC sold HK$2.3 billion of non-core properties, generating
a profit on each sale. In March 2011, the Group sold its Jingguang Centre
in Shenzhen for RMB850.0 million (equivalent to approximately HK$1,003.0
million). While the property was generating rental revenues, HKC considers
that it can better utilize the cash generated from the sale to develop more
profitable development projects. For the same reason, HKC also sold its
office building in Shanghai for RMB95.0 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$113.0 million). In August, HKC sold its commercial project in the Heping
District of Shenyang for HK$652.3 million. And in September, HKC disposed
of its entire share interest in the Peninsula Beijing Hotel for HK$578.0 million.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)
FEHREE(E)

For 2012, HKC will continue to streamline its business and explore
opportunities to sell assets that are not part of its core real estate business.
Management continually evaluates property market conditions, and looks
to sell existing assets that no longer match with the growth direction of the
Group, with the intention of reinvesting the proceeds in higher potential
projects.

Balance sheet remains strong.

Given macroeconomic tightening by the government, there has been fear
over the solvency of Chinese property developers. However, the Group is well
positioned as it is conservatively geared with a net debt ratio of only 2.4%.
Moreover, there are no major debts that are coming due. Only HK$740.0
million is due in 2012, HK$533.1 million is due in 2013, HK$2,457.8 million
is due in 2014 and thereafter. The Group’s cash on hand is sufficient to
support HKC’s requirements for working capital, as well as to cover the initial
development costs of a number of projects.

For 2011, HKC will have distributed dividends worth an
equivalent to HK$0.038.

To partially unlock the value of the Group’s assets, the Group, during the
interim period, distributed shares of China Renewable Energy Investment
Limited (“CRE”) to shareholders, while still maintaining enough shares to
maintain the Group’s control over the subsidiary.

In addition, the Group has distributed a special cash dividend of HK$0.01
per ordinary share for the interim period. Board of Directors is recommending
an additional final special cash dividend of HK$0.01, or a total special cash
dividend of HK$0.02 for the full year. Combined with the distribution of
CRE shares, shareholders will have received a special cash dividend and
CRE shares worth HK$0.038 per HKC share (based on the closing price of
HK$0.315 per CRE share as of 22 March 2012), or an equivalent dividend
yield of 9% based on the closing price of HK$0.42 per HKC share as of 22
March 2012.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEN RO

Financial Review

During the twelve months under review, turnover for the year ended 31
December 2011 amounted to HK$695.5 million, an increase of 39.4% over
turnover of HK$499.1 million for 2010. Meanwhile, gross profit for the year of
HK$315.2 million also represented an increase of 107.6% over gross profit of
HK$151.8 million the previous year. The Group achieved an operating profit
of HK$380.0 million in 2011, compared with an operating loss of HK$282.3
million in 2010. Net profit attributable to equity holders of the Group
amounted to HK$241.3 million for the year under review, whereas net loss in
2010 was HK$293.8 million. Basic profit per share amounted to HK2.3 cents,
compared with basic loss per share in 2010 of HK2.8 cents.

The significant increase in gross profit in 2011 and the turnaround in
operating results from a net operating loss in 2010 to a substantial operating
profit in 2011 was mainly attributable to the gains from the sale of units in
Nanxun International Building Materials City and the sale of its non core assets:
Jingguang Centre in Shenzhen, an office building in Shanghai, a commercial
project in Shenyang, and the entire interest in Peninsula Beijing Hotel. The
improvement in operating results was also due to the effective control in
operating expenses of the Group, despite the new expenses associated with
the development of additional property projects in 2011. The Group was also
sucessful in managing finance costs and finance income during the year,
contributing to the higher profit attributable to the equity shareholders for the
year.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 31 December 2011, the Group’s total borrowings amounted to
HK$3,730.9 million, representing an increase of 1.3% when compared with
the equivalent figure of HK$3,682.4 million as at 31 December 2010. Total
borrowings as at 31 December 2011 included Hong Kong Dollar borrowings
of HK$253.4 million (2010: HK$56.6 million) and Renminbi borrowings
equivalent to HK$3,477.5 million (2010: HK$3,625.8 million).

The maturity dates for most of the Group’s outstanding borrowings are
spread over the next five years, with HK$740.0 million repayable within one
year or on demand, HK$1,257.2 million repayable within two to five years,
and HK$1,733.7 million repayable after five years.

All of the Group’s outstanding borrowings take the form of interest-bearing
loans, with interest rates at the market prices.
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As at 31 December 2011, the Group had restricted deposits of HK$273.5
million (2010: HK$320.6 million) and unrestricted cash and cash equivalents
amounting to HK$3,115.0 million (2010: HK$1,903.3 million).

The Group did not use financial instruments for financial hedging purposes
during the year under review. Most of the Group’s assets are in China, and use
Renminbi (“RMB?”) as its functional currency. Therefore, the Group is exposed
to changes in the value of RMB.

The Group will continue its efforts to create an optimum financial structure
that best reflects the long-term interests of its shareholders, and will
actively consider a variety of alternative sources of funding to finance future
investments.

Details of Charges in Group Assets

For the year ended 31 December, 2011, the Group and certain of its
subsidiaries had charged certain properties worth HK$4,506.1 million (2010:
HK$4,799.8 million) as security for bank and other loans.

Gearing Ratio

The Group’s gearing ratio (total debt/total equity) as at 31 December 2011
was 26.1%, compared with 27.0% as at 31 December 2010. This ratio
represents total borrowings divided by total equity. The Group’s net debt ratio
for the same period was 2.4%. This ratio represents total borrowing minus
cash divided by total equity.

Contingent Liabilities

The Group had contingent liabilities in respect of a housing facility fund for a
property held in the PRC. Details are set out in Note 41 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Business Risks
As a China property developer, the Group is subject to China government
property policies, development, marketing, and other execution risks.

Environment Policies

The Group aspires to be a leading sustainable Group, and has therefore
invested in the renewable energy sector, and uses sustainable technologies
in some of its property developments, such as solar panels and heat pump
technology. The Group has received LEED certification on some of its
residential units.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
EEEWwR D (&)

Business Review

Property Investment, Development and Management
The Group holds a property investment portfolio made up of premium
commercial developments in Shenzhen, Guangzhou, and Nanxun. These
continue to provide the Group with a steady stream of rental revenue across
the year.

The Group sold HK$2.3 billion of non-core investment properties in 2011. In
March 2011, the Group sold its Jingguang Centre in Shenzhen for HK$1.0
billion. During the first half of the year, the Group also sold an office building
in Shanghai for HK$113.0 million. In August 2011, the Group sold its
commercial project in Shenyang for HK$652.3 million. Also in the second half
of the year, the Group disposed of its entire share interest in the Peninsula
Beijing Hotel for HK$578.0 million.

Nanxun

During 2011, the Group continued sales of the remaining units at Nanxun
International Building Materials City, Zhejiang Province. The property is
a complex of three-storey buildings and is a trading centre for wooden
flooring, furniture and building materials. The gross floor area (“GFA”), already
developed by the Group at Nanxun International Building Materials City is
approximately 180,135 sg.m., in which approximately 65,766 sg.m. are
offered for sale and 114,369 sq.m are for lease. For the year, sales revenues
reached HK$259.6 million, compared to HK$60.1 million in 2010. As of the
end of 2011, the Group has leased out 55.3% of the available leasing space.

Jiangmen

This plot of land is located directly next to Jiangmen’s Hong Kong ferry
terminal and close to Guangzhu Intercity Railway’s Waihai Station connecting
Jiangmen to Guangzhou and Zhuhai. This project will be developed into
a high quality residential community with prestigious villas and high rise
apartments, surrounded by an attractive landscape.

Piling work for the phase 1 of the development project along the Xi Jiang
commenced in March 2011 and was completed in June 2011. Construction
on the superstructure for phase
1 commenced on 22 July 2011,
and is expected to be completed
by the second quarter of 2013.
Construction of the first phase
villas began to top out in the fourth
quarter of 2011, and presales
were launched during the first
quarter of 2012, with promising
initial demand. Construction for all
phases of the project is expected
to be completed by the second
half of 2014.

Eka Garden at Jiangmen, Guangdong
BRELMM — ZRLER
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Tianjin

In Tianjin, the superstructure works for all the phase 1 Hongagi South Road
villas have been topped out, and construction is expected to be completed
by the second half of 2012. The sales office was completed and opened
during the year, and presales were launched in 2010.

Construction for phases 2 and 3 of the Hongqgi South Road residential project
is progressing well. Excavation and basement work has been substantially
completed, and work has commenced on the superstructure, with the
superstructure now reaching the lower floors. The construction is expected to
be completed in stages, with the
entire project completed in the first
half of 2014. Pre-sale of phase 2
was launched in the fourth quarter
of 2011.

At Tuanbo Lake, the reclamation to
create 836,000 sg.m. GFA of land
bank was completed and handed
over to us in 2011. Upon the
promulgation by the government of
the controlling planning parameters
for the area, the Group will
commence the master plan design
for the project.

Eka Garden at Honggi South Road, Tianjin
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Shangha

The Shanghai Grade A office market remains strong. Demand for office
space is strong from both foreign and domestic companies given the robust
domestic economy, foreign investment, and employment growth. Moreover,
the completion of new infrastructure has slowly transformed the Hongkou
district into a more attractive area. Completions include the International
Cruise Terminal, a road connecting to the Bund, and new subway stations.

As such, prospects remain positive for the Group’s two commercial
developments in the Hongkou district. For the Group’s North Bund project,
piling work and half of the basement work for the hotel tower have been
completed. Superstructure work on the hotel tower has now commenced,
with the hotel tower now reaching above the 20th floor. For the office tower,
excavation work has been completed, and work has now begun on the
basement structure, which should be completed by early 2012.

Construction work for the Sichuan North Road Lot 108 development
commenced on 25 October 2011. The project is expected to take four years
to be completed.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
ERENwmR DN (E)

Shenyang

As to the three sites of the South Lake residential development project,
sites B and C have been completely cleared and handed over to the Group
during the fourth quarter 2011. Meanwhile, HKC is continuing to work with
the government to complete the relocation of occupiers on site A. Site
preparation and basement construction for Sites B and C have made good
progress. Site B is expected to be completed in 2015. Site C, mainly for
housing resettled tenants, is expected to be completed by the end of 2013.

Shenyang’s commercial market has proved to be less favourable given
existing oversupply and potential new projects that are expected to be
completed over the next several years. As a result, HKC has decided not to
proceed with its Shenyang Jingang Tower commercial project, and sold the
project so that the Group can better use the cash in existing and other new
projects.

Beijing

In Beijing, the Group has made substantial progress in managing the retail
properties at Legation Quarter. Legation Quarter was the former United States
diplomatic compound in Beijing, and is situated along the southeast corner
of Tiananmen Square. HKC owns a 15-year lease on the property, and has
turned the site into a high end retail center — combining the site’s historical
legacy with high end retailers. Legation Quarter is now 90% committed by the
end of 2011, with a number of high end tenants.

Alternative Energy

All of the Group’s alternative energy projects are under its subsidiary, now
renamed China Renewable Energy Investment Limited (“CRE”). All of the
windpower projects have been completed, and are now generating power.
As a result, CRE is now EBITDA positive. Please see CRE’s annual report for
more details.

Infrastructure

The Group’s water supply plant in the Yangpu Economic Development Zone
in Hainan continued to make contributions to the Group, with revenues rising
from HK$44.5 million in 2010 to HK$52.6 million in 2011. As sole supplier of
raw water for industrial use in the area, it remains in an excellent position for
achieving regular, reliable and long-term revenues.

The Group’s Build-Operate-Transfer (“BOT”) toll road project in Guilin
continues to make progress. Revenues increased 38.2% year on year. An
interchange connecting a new highway from Hunan and a new highway from
Guangdong, connecting with the Group’s expressway, when completed,
should further boost the traffic flow.
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Prospects

Properties

The government will likely continue to maintain its tightening stance on
China’s property sector over the first half of this year. However, management
expects the government to moderate its tough stance towards the sector by
the second half of the year, and given strong end user demand, the market
will be strong over the long term.

As such, the Group will continue its transformation from a construction
company to a PRC property developer. Having commenced development
on all of its major property projects, the Group is poised to benefit when the
industry recovers. The Group’s strong balance sheet provides strength given
the uncertain period and the opportunity to take advantage of opportunities if
they arise.

For 2012, the Group will continue selling and leasing out remaining units at
its Nanxun property, and will increasingly focus on presales of its residential
properties in Jiangmen and Tianjin Honggi South Road. While much of the
sales proceeds will not count as net income for 2012 (sales are recorded after
handover of the properties to the purchasers), they will generate substantial
cashflow, and net income for the coming years.

Meanwhile, the Group continues to explore selling its non-core properties and
assets. Management continually evaluates property market conditions, and
looks to sell existing assets that no longer match with the growth direction of
the Group, with the intention of reinvesting the proceeds in higher potential
projects.

Alternative Energy

CRE believes it is close to obtaining approvals for its Siziwangqgi Phase 2
windfarm and is exploring other opportunities in other provinces, such as
Yunnan. Please refer to the CRE (stock code: 987) annual report for more
details.

Employees

As at the end of December 2011, the Group’s operations in Hong Kong and
the Mainland China employed the total of approximately 680 employees.
All employees are remunerated according to the nature of their jobs, their
individual performances, the Group’s overall performance, and prevailing
marketing conditions.
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Corporate Governance Report
TEERRE

Corporate Governance Practices

HKC (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”, and with its subsidiaries, collectively,
the “Group”) is committed to good corporate governance principles and
practices and its board of directors (the “Directors” or the “Board”) recognizes
that it is essential to safeguard the interests of shareholders, customers and
employees and uphold accountability, transparency and responsibility of the
Company.

The Company has applied the principles and complied with the code
provisions and certain recommended best practices set out in the Code on
Corporate Governance Practices (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14
to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) during the year ended 31 December
2011, save for the deviations with considered reasons stated in the following
relevant paragraphs.

Board of Directors

Board Composition

The Company has at all time during the year ended 31 December 2011
maintained a balanced board with strong independent element. The Board
currently comprises ten Directors with three Executive Directors, three Non-
executive Directors and four Independent Non-executive Directors. Each
Director possesses expertise and experience and provides checks and
balances for safeguarding the interests of the Group and the shareholders as
a whole. Biographical details of the Directors and their relationships, where
applicable, are set out in pages 26 to 31 of this Annual Report.

During the year, the Board at all times met the requirements of the Listing
Rules relating to the appointment of at least three Independent Non-executive
Directors with at least one Independent Non-executive Director possessing
appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or related financial
management expertise. The independence of the Independent Non-executive
Directors was assessed in accordance with the applicable Listing Rules. Each
of the Independent Non-executive Directors has provided to the Company
an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. The Company considers that all of them are independent.
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company were
exercised by two different individuals. Mr. OEl Tjie Goan is the Chairman
and Mr. CHANG Li Hsien, Leslie is the Chief Executive Officer (‘CEQ”) of the
Company. Their responsibilities had been clearly set out and approved by the
Board. The Board considers that this arrangement facilitates the execution of
the Group’s business strategies and maximizes effectiveness of its operation.
The Board shall nevertheless review its structure from time to time and it will
consider the appropriate move to take should suitable circumstance arise.

Responsibilities of Directors

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the Group and is
collectively responsible for promoting the success of the Group by directing
and supervising the Group’s affairs and formulating business strategies with a
view to maximizing its financial performance and shareholders’ value.

All newly appointed Directors are given comprehensive documentations
on the business operations of the Group and regulatory and statutory
requirements of directors, together with briefing meetings with senior
executives of the Group. Directors are provided with continuous updates
on the latest changes in the Listing Rules, corporate governance practices
and other relevant laws and regulations and are encouraged to participate in
continuous professional development seminars to update their knowledge for
discharging directors’ responsibilities.

The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance to indemnify the
Group’s Directors for their liabilities arising out of corporate activities. The
insurance coverage is reviewed on an annual basis.

Delegation by the Board

The management, consisting of the Executive Directors of the Company and
other senior executives, is delegated with responsibilities for implementing
the strategy and direction as adopted by the Board from time to time, and
conducting the day-to-day operations of the Group. Executive Directors and
senior executives meet regularly to review the performance of the businesses
of various business units of the Group as a whole, co-ordinate overall
resources and make financial and operation decisions. The Board also gives
clear directions as to their powers of management including circumstances
where management should report back, and will review the delegation
arrangements on a periodic basis to ensure that they remain appropriate to
the needs of the Group.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
TEERME (E)

Nomination, Appointment and Re-election of Directors
All new appointment of Directors and nomination of Directors proposed
for re-election at the annual general meeting are first considered by the
Nomination Committee. The Nomination Committee will assess the candidate
or incumbent on criteria such as integrity, experience, skill and ability to
commit time and effort to carry out the duties and responsibilities. The
recommendations of the Nomination Committee will then be put to the Board
for decision. Details of the role and function as well as a summary of the work
performed by the Nomination Committee are set out under the heading of
“Nomination Committee” below.

In accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws, the nearest one-third of the
Directors shall retire from office by rotation but are eligible for re-election
by shareholders at the annual general meeting provided that every Director
is subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years. New
appointments to the Board are also subject to re-election by shareholders at
the next following annual general meeting.

All Non-executive Directors of the Company were appointed with no specific
term, but are subject to the aforesaid rotation requirement in the Company’s
Bye-laws, accomplishing the same purpose as being appointed for a specific
term. The rotating Directors who are subject to retirement and re-election at
the 2012 annual general meeting are set out on page 34.

Meetings of the Board and Board Committees

The Directors meet from time to time to discuss and exchange ideas on the
affairs of the Company. The Board has set up various Board Committees,
among others, the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the
Remuneration Committee for overseeing particular aspects of the Group’s
affairs.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
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During the year, the following meetings of the Board, the Audit Committee, F XN @ #5H € BIXEE € - 2L LB R
the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee were held and ZE&® BRI N E#% @  SESRZSTEZLFE
the attendance of the individual Directors at these meetings is set out in the BRER TR :
table below:
Number of meetings attended/held
B BITEEAE
Audit Remuneration = Nomination
Board Committee Committee Committee
4 EREES yzEs REZES
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Ol Kang, Eric =M A 4/4 2/2(Note fi5)  1/1(Note FiizE)  1/1(Note FisE)
Mr. CHANG Li Hsien, Leslie R FBRE 4/4 2/2(Note fifz)  1/1(Note FiizE)  1/1(Note Kizk)
Mr. CHUNG Wai Sum, Patrick BEREE 3/3 N/A i N/A 7~ F N/A 7N
(appointed on 10 June 2011) (R-F——4F
NATHEZF)
Non-executive Directors FHiTES
Mr. OFl Tjie Goan EHSIRAE 0/4 N/A 7~ F N/A 7N F N/A i F
Ms. YEN Teresa EmE L+ 4/4 N/A i N/A 7~ F N/A 7N
Mr. WAN Ming Sun FEAILEAE 2/4 N/A TiE A N/A i A N/A i A
Mr. XU Zheng (resigned on 6 April 2011)  1&1{F%e 4 0N N/A i N/A T3 N/A R A
(R=F——1F
79 H 75 HEHE)
Mr. LI Xueming (retired on 1 June 2011)  ZEBR A4 0N N/A i N/A i N/A R A
(R=ZF——4F
NA—HRE)
Mr. LIU Guolin (retired on 1 June 2011) 2B A 11 N/A i N/A T3 N/A 7~ A
(R-ZF——1F
NA—HRE)
Independent Non-executive Directors BV FHITESE
Mr. FAN Yan Hok, Philip SBICESEAE 4/4 1/2 11 11
Mr. CHUNG Cho Yee, Mico ERELE 2/4 2/2 11 11
Mr. CHENG Yuk Wo BRERAN S A 4/4 2/2 11 11
Mr. Albert Thomas DA ROSA, Junior EEkE 3/4 2/2 1/1 1/1

Note: The Executive Directors attended the relevant meetings as invitees.

Notices of not less than fourteen days are given for all regular board meetings
to provide all Directors with an opportunity to attend and include matters in
the agenda for a regular meeting. For other Board and committee meetings,
reasonable notice is generally given. The agenda and accompanying board
papers are dispatched to the Directors or committee members at least three
days before the meetings to ensure that they have sufficient time to review
the papers and be adequately prepared for the meetings. When directors or
committee members are unable to attend a meeting, they are advised of the
matters to be discussed and given an opportunity to make their views known
to the Chairman and/or the CEO prior to the meeting.
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Minutes of the board meetings and committee meetings are recorded in
sufficient detail on the matters considered by the Board and the committees
and the decisions reached, including any concerns raised by the Directors.
Draft minutes of each board meeting and committee meeting are sent to the
Directors for comments within a reasonable time after the date of the meeting.
All Directors have access to the company secretary, who is responsible for
ensuring that the board procedures are complied with and advising the Board
on compliance matters.

Directors are provided with sufficient resources to seek independent
professional advice in performing their duties at the Company’s expense
and are encouraged to consult with the Company’s senior management
independently.

Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules (the
“Model Code”) as its own code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities
transactions. Having made specific enquiries, the Company has obtained
confirmation from all Directors that they have complied with the required
standards set out in the Model Code during the year ended 31 December
2011.

The Company has also adopted a code for dealing in the Company’s
securities by relevant employees, who are likely to be in possession of
unpublished price-sensitive information in relation to the securities of the
Group, on no less exacting terms than the Model Code.

Remuneration Committee

The Company has established a Remuneration Committee with written terms
of reference. The Remuneration Committee, chaired by an Independent Non-
executive Director, comprises four members namely Mr. CHUNG Cho Yee,
Mico, Mr. CHENG Yuk Wo, Mr. Albert Thomas DA ROSA, Junior and Mr.
FAN Yan Hok, Philip, all of whom are Independent Non-executive Directors.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for making recommendations
to the Board on the Company’s remuneration policy and structure for
Directors and senior management, and reviewing their remuneration
packages. In arriving at its recommendations, the Remuneration Committee
will consult with the Chairman and/or the CEO whenever it thinks fit and take
into consideration factors such as the remuneration paid by comparable
companies, skill, knowledge, time commitment and responsibilities of
Directors.
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During the year, the Remuneration Committee held one meeting and
reviewed, inter alia, the remuneration policy and structure of the Company,
the Directors’ fees and the remuneration of newly appointed Director. No
Director was involved in deciding his/her own remuneration. The attendance
records of each member at the meetings of the Committee are set out on
page 17. Details of the Directors’ remuneration for the year are set out in note
10 to the consolidated financial statements.

Nomination Committee

The Company has established a Nomination Committee with written terms
of reference. The Nomination Committee, chaired by an Independent Non-
executive Director, comprises four members namely Mr. CHUNG Cho Yee,
Mico, Mr. CHENG Yuk Wo, Mr. Albert Thomas DA ROSA, Junior and Mr. FAN
Yan Hok, Philip, all of whom are independent. The Nomination Committee
held one meeting during the year, and the attendance details of each member
are set out on page 17.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the structure, size
and composition of the Board, identifying suitable candidates for directorship,
assessing the independence of Independent Non-executive Directors, and
making recommendations to the Board regarding any proposed appointment
or re-appointment.

During the year, the work performed by the Nomination Committee includes
the following:

° reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board;
° assessing the independence of Independent Non-executive Directors;

° assessing the qualification and experience of new candidate for
directorship and making recommendation to the Board on matters
relating to the appointment of director;

° make recommendation to the Board relating to the re-appointment of
the retiring Directors.

Audit Committee

The Company has established an Audit Committee with written terms of
reference which have been updated from time to time to align with the code
provisions set out in the CG Code. The Audit Committee, chaired by an
Independent Non-executive Director, comprises four members namely Mr.
CHUNG Cho Yee, Mico, Mr. CHENG Yuk Wo, Mr. Albert Thomas DA ROSA,
Junior and Mr. FAN Yan Hok, Philip, all of whom are Independent Non-
executive Directors.
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The principal responsibilities of the Audit Committee are to, inter alia, review
and supervise the Group’s financial reporting process, internal control and risk
management procedures, as well as oversee the adequacy of the accounting
and financial reporting resources.

During the year, the Audit Committee held two meetings together with
senior management and external auditor. The attendance details of each
member are set out on page 17. The major work performed by the Audit
Committee during the year included reviewing interim and annual financial
statements, continuing connected transactions, internal audit reports on the
internal controls and risk management matters, as well as reviewing and
recommending re-appointment of external auditor.

Executive Committee
(formerly known as Steering Committee)

The Company established a Steering Committee which has been adopted as
a board committee and changed its name to Executive Committee recently.
The objectives of the Committee are to assist the Board to strengthen internal
management, improve efficiency, reduce management cost and minimize
operational risk of the Group. The Committee comprises all Executive
Directors and some executives of the Group. Mr. OEIl Kang, Eric is the
Chairman of the Executive Committee.

The principal responsibilities of the Committee are to manage the Group’s
business activities, monitor and oversee the operating performance and
financial position of the Group and all strategic business units.

Auditors’ Remuneration

For the year ended 31 December 2011, the fees in respect of audit and
non-audit services provided to the Group by the auditor amounted to
approximately HK$6.5 million and HK$3.1 million respectively. The non-
audit services mainly consist of tax advisory services, corporate exercise
professional fee, due diligence services and corporate governance
consultation.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
TEERMSE (E)

Internal Controls R

The Group has had in place an integrated framework of internal controls 72 & B2 & iZ £ COSO (the Committee of
which is consistent with the COSO (the Committee of Sponsoring  Sponsoring Organisations of the Treadway

Organisations of the Treadway Commission) framework. Under the ~ Commission)Z&#8— 5 2 REFESIR4R & 88  1RIR

framework, the management is primarily responsible for the design, #Z3E @ BREXZBRR - BEREFAE
implementation and maintenance of internal controls to manage risks while ~ BSIZE T/ELUERIER - MEEEREBERZZES
the Board and its audit committee oversee the actions of the management RIBEEEERE 2T RERE R LEEGIE
and monitor the effectiveness of the controls that have been put in place. The — Z KA o 7% 2818 R PTEREVEERRBALAT ¢

framework and activities taken are illustrated below:

. Risk awareness and control consciousness are built into the culture of
the Group.

o PAKENGEXCRNERTRARRBHARERTE

e Channels to communicate the Company’s commitment to integrity and
high ethical standards to the staff are established.

o RUREMEIEHEARAHB ) ERHAERSBBIRT AR -

. Organisation chart, limits of authority and responsibility are set and
communicated to staff concerned.

o GRI/AMZER - ) ERREESIE - WA R TEELULES o

~
Effectiveness
. Identification, evaluation and assessment of the key risks affecting the ..
achievement of the Group’s objectives are conducted from time to time, and efficiency of
forming the basis for determining control activities. operations
o TEHP  AEETIRFEASEERE R EZME - KERE p 29 _\
]
TEIED 2 E - EEMEER AR
— N\

. Policies and procedures for ensuring management directives are carried
out.

. FIEBRRIEZF - BRELE ZHERBARIT

. Control activities include authorizations, approvals, performance
reviews, segregation of duties, asset security, access control,
documentation and records, etc.

o EHEDEERE - FH REMRN BEHD  HERE  FIUE
B X RALES -

Z

. Pertinent information is identified, captured and provided to the right
person in a timely manner.

o ERFER - B RMEE A LREERER

e  Channels of communication across the Group and with external parties.

o HEAKERIFALRIEBRE -

J

Onging assessment of control system’s performance.
PR ERHIE 2 KRB -

Management and supervisory activities.
ERREEED -

Internal audit activities.

RNEERED) -

-
-

BRER(ER)ERAF ©




Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
TEERME (E)

Control Environment

The Group is a tightly-knit organization, the actions of management and its
demonstrated commitment to effective governance and controls are therefore
very transparent to all. The Group strives to conduct all business affairs based
on good business ethics and accountability. We have in place a formal Code
of Conduct & Business Ethics that is communicated to all staff members.
We aim to build risk awareness and control responsibility into our culture and
regard them as the foundation of our internal control system.

No matter how well an internal control system is conceived and operated,
it is designed to manage, rather than eliminate, the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable, but not absolute,
assurance. Recognising this, we maintain an effective internal audit function,
the Internal Control and Risk Management (“ICRM”) Department, whose main
features include:

(i) independence from operational management;

(iiy fully empowered auditors with access to all data and every operation of
the Group;

(i) adequate resources and well qualified and capable staff; and

(iv) risk-based auditing, concentrating on areas with significant risks or where
significant changes have been made.

Risk management

The management has an ongoing process to identify, evaluate and manage
the risks faced by the Group. Each risk is rated in terms of probability of
occurrence and potential impact on performance, which serves as a basis
for better priority setting and resource allocation. Mitigation strategies and
plans with respect to each key risk identified are developed and implemented,
which include establishing or enhancing internal controls and procedures.

Heads of the departments, projects and business units also review and
analyse the key risks associated with achieving the objectives of their
particular departments, activities and businesses from time to time to provide
reasonable assurance that controls are both embedded and effective within
the business.
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Control processes
The Board establishes and maintains a sound internal control system through
the following major processes:

(i) Systems and procedures are in place to identify and measure risks on
an ongoing basis. Senior management reviews and defines the risk

assessment process and monitor the progress of risk mitigation plans.

(i) An organization structure with defined lines of responsibility and
delegation of authority is devised.

(i) The Board reviews its strategic plans and objectives on an annual basis.

(iv

=

Financial performance is analysed against budget with variances being
accounted for and appropriate actions are taken to rectify deficiencies.

(v) Policies and procedures on key control activities are established to ensure
management directives are carried out.

(vi

=

Ranges of activities including approvals, authorization, verifications,
recommendations, performance reviews, asset security and segregation
of duties are identified and implemented.

(vii) The ICRM Department conducts independent reviews on the effectiveness
of the Group’s internal control system and tests key business processes
and controls in accordance with its audit plan, including following up the
implementation of management actions. The ICRM Department reports
directly to the Audit Committee and the CEO and has direct access to the
Board through the Audit Committee.

Review of internal control effectiveness

The Board is responsible for maintaining sound and effective internal
control system for the Group and for reviewing its effectiveness. The ICRM
Department reports on reviews of the business processes and control
activities, including action plans to address any identified control weaknesses.
The management evaluates and conducts assessments of the overall internal
control and risk management systems, with action plans to make further
improvement. External auditors also report on any control issues identified in
the course of their work. Taking these into consideration, the Audit Committee
reviews the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control system at least once
each year and reports to the Board on such reviews.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
TEERME (E)

In respect of the year ended 31 December 2011, the Board considered
the internal control system effective and adequate. No significant areas of
concern that might affect the operational, financial, and compliance controls
and risk management function of the Group were identified. The scope of this
review covers the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience,
training programmes and budget of the Group’s accounting and financial
reporting function.

Price-sensitive information

With respect to procedures and internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of price-sensitive information, the Group has performed the
following actions:

(i) Management and relevant personnel are made aware of the Group’s
obligations under the Listing Rules and the overriding principle that
information which is expected to be price-sensitive and/or the subject of
a major decision should be announced immediately.

(i) Management and relevant personnel are required to conduct the Group’s
affairs with close regard to the “Guide on Disclosure of Price-sensitive
Information” and “Recent Economic Developments and the Disclosure
Obligations of Listed Issuers” issued by the Stock Exchange in 2002 and
2008 respectively.

(i) The Group has established a Code for Securities Dealing applicable to
those employees likely to have access to unpublished price-sensitive
information.

(iv) Members of the Group’s top management are identified and authorized
to act as the Group’s spokespersons and respond to external enquiries.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2011 which give a true and fair
view of the affairs of the Company and the Group and of the Group’s results
and cash flows. In preparing the financial statements, the Directors have
adopted generally accepted accounting standards in Hong Kong and suitable
accounting policies and applied them consistently, made judgments and
estimates that are prudent, fair and reasonable and prepared the financial
statements on a going concern basis.

The statement of the Company’s auditor about their reporting responsibilities
on the financial statements of the Company is set out in the Independent
Auditor’s Report on pages 68 to 69.
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Communication with Shareholders

The Board believes regular and timely communication with shareholders
forms part of the Group’s effort to help our shareholders understand our
business better. Copies of the annual reports and interim reports of the
Company are distributed to its shareholders in accordance with statutory
and regulatory requirements and also to interested parties recorded in the
Company’s mailing lists. The publications of the Company, including financial
reports, circulars and announcements, are also available on the Company’s
website at www.hkcholdings.com.

The Company acknowledges that general meetings are good communication
channel with the shareholders. At the general meeting, each substantially
separate issue is considered by a separate resolution, including election of
individual directors, and the poll procedures are clearly explained. The CEO
attended the 2011 annual general meeting in the absence of the Chairman of
the Board due to the Chairman’s prior business engagement. Other members
of the Board, the Chairmen of the relevant Board Committees and the
external auditor of the Company also attended the annual general meeting to
inter-face with, and answer questions from the shareholders.

Shareholders can send their enquiry to the Board by the following ways:

Post:  9/F., Tower 1, South Seas Centre, 75 Mody Road
Tsimshatsui East, Kowloon, Hong Kong
Email: info@hkcholdings.com

Fax:  (852) 2722 6266
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Directors and Senior Management
EERENEEE

Mr. OEI Tjie Goan

(Chairman and Non-executive Director)

Mr. OEl, aged 67, is a director of the Group since April 2004. Mr. OEl was a
graduate of the Mathematics & Dynamics Department of Beijing University
where he majored in Computational Mathematics. Involved in Asia’s pulp and
paper, finance, banking, property and agricultural industries since 1974, Mr.
OEl sits on the board of two listed companies in Indonesia: PT. Indah Kiat
Pulp & Paper Tbk. and PT. Pabrik Kertas Tjiwi Kimia Tbk. Mr. OEl is the father
of Mr. OEl Kang, Eric, an executive director of the Company.

Mr. OEI Kang, Eric

(Executive Director)

Mr. OEl, aged 41, is a director of the Group since April 2004. Mr. OEl also
holds several directorships in other members of the Group. Mr. OEl was
educated in the USA and obtained a Bachelor’s Degree in Economics
(with a minor in Electrical Engineering), and a Master’s Degree in Business
Administration. Earlier in his career, Mr. OEl worked with Peregrine Securities
Ltd. and PCCW in Hong Kong, the LG Group in Seoul and McKinsey & Co.
in Los Angeles, USA. Mr. OEl is a son of Mr. OEl Tjie Goan, the Chairman of
the Group. Mr. OEl is also a director and a shareholder of Claudio Holdings
Limited, the controlling shareholder of the Company. Mr. OEIl currently is the
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of China Renewable Energy Investment
Limited (formerly known as Hong Kong Energy (Holdings) Limited), a
subsidiary of the Company and the shares of which are listed on the Main
Board of The Hong Kong Stock Exchange Limited.
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Mr. CHANG Li Hsien, Leslie

(Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. CHANG, aged 57, is a director of the Group since 1 September 2010 and
he has also been appointed as the Chief Executive Officer of the Company on
the same date. Since 1 September 2010, Mr. CHANG has been appointed
as an Executive Director and the Vice Chairman of China Renewable Energy
Investment Limited (formerly known as Hong Kong Energy (Holdings) Limited),
a listed subsidiary of the Company. Mr. CHANG also serves as a director of
certain members of the Group.

Mr. CHANG was graduated from George Mason University in U.S.A. He is
a certified public accountant in the State of New York, a member of The
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants and The Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Mr. CHANG started his career at US Office of KPMG (formerly known as
KPMG Peat Marwick) (the “Firm”) and became a partner specializing in the
financial services industry. He was also the Firm’s director of Chinese Practice
in the United States. He then joined CITIC Pacific Ltd in 1994 and was an
Executive Director and the Deputy Managing Director of that company. He
also served as an alternate director on the board of Cathay Pacific Airways
Limited. Both CITIC Pacific Ltd and Cathay Pacific Airways Limited are listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. CHANG is also an independent non-executive director of Pou Sheng
International (Holdings) Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange.
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Directors and Senior Management (Continued)
EERSNEEEE)

Mr. CHUNG Wai Sum, Patrick

(Executive Director and Managing Director)

Mr. CHUNG, aged 63, has a Master of Science degree (Real Estate) from the
University of Hong Kong. He is a fellow of The Royal Institution of Chartered
Surveyors (United Kingdom), The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators (United Kingdom) and The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered
Secretaries. Between 1975 to 1981, Mr. CHUNG was the Group Property
Manager and Special Projects Manager of United Estate Projects Berhad of
Malaysia (now UEP, Sime Darby Limited) which developed a new town of
over 700 hectares. In his professional experiences, Mr. CHUNG had worked
in leading public listed companies in Hong Kong such as Hong Kong Electric
Holdings Limited (now known as Power Assets Holdings Limited) and CLP
Holdings Limited. Mr. CHUNG joined CITIC Pacific Limited in 1992 and was
an executive director responsible for the company’s property, environmental
and infrastructure development in Hong Kong and Shanghai. CITIC Pacific
Limited is listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited. He was a founding director and/or executive director of substantial
developments such as the Western Harbour Tunnel, the South East New
Territories Land Fill (Green Valley), the Festival Walk, Discovery Bay (a 640
hectares new town), CITIC Tower.

Ms. Teresa YEN

(Non-executive Director)

Ms. YEN, aged 42, is a director of the Group since October 2007. Ms. YEN is
a Senior Advisor to Cerberus Asia Capital Management, LLC. (“Cerberus”), a
substantial shareholder of the Company. In her capacity as Senior Advisor, Ms.
YEN is responsible for advising the Cerberus group on all of its investments
in the Greater China region, including the PRC, Hong Kong and Taiwan.
Moreover, Ms. YEN brings particular expertise to real estate and real estate
related transactions. Prior to joining Cerberus, she was part of the KPMG
real estate consulting practice where she managed real estate consulting
engagements involving United States, Japan, Korea and Taiwan, and worked
extensively in the distressed debt market in Japan between 1999 and 2001.
She also has corporate and real estate banking background from her earlier
career with Sumitomo Bank, Long-Term Credit Bank of Japan and Heller
Financial. Ms. YEN received her undergraduate degree from University of
California at Berkeley and her master degree in business administration from
University of Southern California, Marshall School of Business.
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Mr. WAN Ming Sun

(Non-executive Director)

Mr. WAN, aged 38, is a director of the Group since February 2008. Mr. WAN
holds a Bachelor of Arts degree in Economics from lllinois Wesleyan University
in U.S.A. Mr. WAN is a Senior Equity Analyst for Penta Investment Advisers
Ltd. (“Penta”), a substantial shareholder of the Company. He has over 10-
year investment experience. Prior to joining Penta, Mr. WAN worked for
UBS AG, Hong Kong as a Director of Sales Trading and was responsible for
trading Asian equities and generating investment ideas for clients. Asiamoney’s
annual poll named Mr. WAN The Best Regional Sales Trader in 2003. Mr.
WAN’s knowledge of the real estate sector is extensive.

Mr. FAN Yan Hok, Philip

(Independent Non-executive Director)

Mr. FAN, aged 62, is a non-executive director of the Group since November
1999 and re-designated as an independent non-executive director on 1
March 2010. Mr. FAN holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Industrial Engineering,
a Master’s Degree in Operations Research from Stanford University and
a Master’s Degree in Management Science from Massachusetts Institute
of Technology. Mr. FAN is presently a non-executive director of China
Everbright International Limited and an independent non-executive director of
Hysan Development Company Limited (both companies listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited), an independent director of Zhuhai Zhongfu
Enterprise Co. Ltd. (a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange) and
Goodman Group (a company listed on the Australian Securities Exchange).
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Directors and Senior Management (Continued)
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Mr. CHUNG Cho Yee, Mico

(Independent Non-executive Director)

Mr. CHUNG, aged 51, is a director of the Group since April 2004. Mr.
CHUNG graduated from the University College, University of London, England
with a Law Degree in 1983. After qualifying as a solicitor in Hong Kong in
1986, Mr. CHUNG spent 2 years working with the commercial department
of a local law firm. He subsequently joined the corporate finance department
of Standard Chartered Asia Ltd., the investment banking arm of Standard
Chartered Bank, in 1988. In 1990, Mr. CHUNG became a director and
General Manager of Bond Corporation International Ltd., leaving to join China
Strategic Holdings Ltd in 1992.

In March 1999, he joined the Pacific Century Group as executive director with
responsibility for the group’s merger and acquisition activities. Mr. CHUNG is
currently the executive chairman of CSI Properties Limited, a company listed
on the Stock Exchange, and a non-executive director of HKT Limited and
HKT Management Limited (in its capacity as the trustee — manager of the
HKT Trust). Mr. CHUNG was a non-executive director of PCCW Limited and
an independent non-executive director of E2-Capital (Holdings) Limited (now
known as CIAM Group Limited).

Mr. CHENG Yuk Wo

(Independent Non-executive Director)

Mr. CHENG, aged 51, is a director of the Group since July 2004. Mr. CHENG
holds a Master of Science Degree in Economics, Accounting and Finance and
a Bachelor of Arts (Hons.) Degree in Accounting. He is a fellow of the Institute
of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales and the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants, and a member of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants of Ontario. His career includes more than 20 years’ accounting
and corporate advisory services expertise in several listed companies in Hong
Kong. The co-founder of a Hong Kong merchant banking firm, Mr. CHENG is
the proprietor of a certified public accountancy practice in Hong Kong.

Mr. CHENG is currently an executive director of 21 Holdings Limited and an
independent non-executive director of CSI Properties Limited, South China
Land Limited, Goldbond Group Holdings Limited, C.P. Lotus Corporation,
Chong Hing Bank Limited, CPMC Holdings Limited, Imagi International
Holdings Limited and Top Spring International Holdings Limited, all being
Hong Kong listed companies. Mr. CHENG was a non-executive director of
Henry Group Holdings Limited and an independent non-executive director of
Honbridge Holdings Limited.
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Mr. Albert Thomas DA ROSA, Junior

(Independent Non-executive Director)

Mr. DA ROSA, aged 58, is a director of the Group since September 2004.
Mr. DA ROSA holds both Bachelor’s and Master’s Law Degrees from the
University of Hong Kong. He was qualified as a solicitor in Hong Kong in
1980. He currently is a practicing solicitor and a partner of Messrs. Cheung,
Tong & Rosa, Solicitors, Hong Kong.

Mr. DA ROSA is a fellow of the Chartered Institute of Arbitrators and the Hong
Kong Institute of Directors, a member of the Hong Kong Securities Institute
and the Society of Registered Financial Planners and an Accredited Mediator
with certain institutions in the U.K. and Hong Kong.

He is a non-executive director of TCL Multimedia Technology Holdings
Limited and eSun Holdings Limited, and the company secretary of Y.T. Realty
Group Limited and Yugang International Limited, all of which are companies
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. DA ROSA serves as Chairman of the Appeal Tribunal (Buildings) Panel,
Tribunal Convenor of the Solicitors Disciplinary Tribunal Panel, and Deputy
Chairman of the Panel of the Board of Review (Inland Revenue) respectively.
He also served as member of the Academic and Accreditation Advisory
Committee of the Securities and Futures Commission from February 2003 to
March 2009.
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Report of the Directors
EEERES

The directors of the Company (the “Directors” or the “Board”) have pleasure
in presenting to shareholders their report together with the audited financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for
the year ended 31 December 2011.

Principal Activities and Geographical Analysis of
Operations

The principal activities of the Group are property investment and
development, infrastructure, construction and engineering and alternative
energy business. The activities of its principal subsidiaries, associates and
jointly controlled entities are set out in pages 184 to 192 of the consolidated
financial statements.

The Group’s construction and engineering business has been discontinued
since the end of 2011.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year ended 31 December
2011 by geographical and business segments is set out in note 5 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Results and Appropriations

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2011 are set out in
the consolidated income statement on page 70.

The Board of Directors has recommended the payment of a second special
dividend of HK1 cent per share. Together with the first special dividend of
HK1 cent which was declared at the interim and paid in November 2011, the
total special dividends for the year will be HK2 cents per share (2010: Nil).

The proposed second special dividend, if approved at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company (the “AGM”), will be payable in cash, with
an option to receive new and fully paid shares in lieu of cash under the scrip
dividend scheme (the “Scrip Dividend Scheme”). The new shares will, on
issue, not be entitled to the proposed second special dividend, but will rank
pari passu in all other respects with the existing shares. A circular containing
details of the Scrip Dividend Scheme and the relevant election form are
expected to be sent to the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”)
on or about Thursday, 21 June 2012.

The Scrip Dividend Scheme is conditional upon the passing of the resolution
relating to the proposed payment of second special dividend at the AGM and
the Listing Committee of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) granting the listing of and permission to deal in the new
shares to be issued under the Scrip Dividend Scheme. The proposed second
special dividend will be distributed, and the share certificates issued under
the Scrip Dividend Scheme will be sent on or about Thursday, 19 July 2012
to the Shareholders whose names appear on the register of members of the
Company on Friday, 15 June 2012.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2011 (2010: Nil).
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Closure of Register of Members

The Register of Members of the Company will be closed from 13 June 2012
to 15 June 2012, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of
shares will be registered. In order to qualify for the proposed second special
dividend, all transfers accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be
lodged with the Company’s Share Registrars, Computershare Hong Kong
Investor Services Limited at Rooms 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on 12 June
2012.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
and the Company during the year are set out in note 18 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Principal Properties

Details of the principal properties held for development and investment
purposes are set out on pages 194 to 196.

Share Capital and Warrants

Details of movements in the share capital and warrants of the Company
during the year are set out in note 34 to the consolidated financial statements.

Pre-Emptive Rights

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the bye-laws of the
Company (“Bye-laws”) and there is no restriction against such rights under
the law of Bermuda.

Reserves

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group during
the year are set out in note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.

Distributable Reserves

At 31 December 2011, the distributable reserves of the Company available
for distribution was HK$1,158.0 million (2010: HK$342.3 million), calculated
in accordance with the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended).
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Report of the Directors (Continued)
EEEREEE)

Five-Year Financial Summary

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the
last five financial years is set out on page 193.

Directors

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

* OElI Tjie Goan (Chairman)

LI Xueming (Deputy Chairman) (retired on 1 June 2011)

XU Zheng (Deputy Chairman) (resigned on 6 April 2011)

OEl Kang, Eric

CHANG Li Hsien, Leslie (Chief Executive Officer)

CHUNG Wai Sum, Patrick (Managing Director)
(appointed on 10 June 2011)

YEN Teresa

WAN Ming Sun

LIU Guolin (retired on 1 June 2011)

FAN Yan Hok, Philip

CHUNG Cho Yee, Mico

CHENG Yuk Wo

Albert Thomas DA ROSA, Junior

H oFHF H*

* *

®@®Oe®Oe *

e

Executive Directors
Non-executive Directors
@ Independent Non-executive Directors

*

In accordance with Bye-law 85 of the Company’s Bye-laws, Mr. OEl Tjie
Goan, Ms. YEN Teresa and Mr. CHUNG Cho Yee, Mico will retire by rotation
at the forthcoming annual general meeting and, being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-election as Directors of the Company. Mr. CHUNG Wai
Sum, Patrick, who was newly appointed by the Board on 10 June 2011, will
also retire from office in accordance with bye-law 84 of the Company’s Bye-
Laws and will offer himself for re-election as Director of the Company.

The Company has also received from each of the Independent Non-executive
Directors an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited. The Company considers that all of them to be independent.

Mr. OEl Tjie Goan, a Non-executive Director and Chairman of the Company,
has voluntarily agreed to waive his annual director’s fees with effect from 1
January 2010 until further notice to the Company, and the director’s fee he
waived for the year ended 31 December 2011 amounted to HK$100,000.
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Directors’ Service Contracts

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting has a service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries
which is not determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

Share Option Schemes
Share Options of the Company

The Company’s existing share option scheme (the “HKC Option Scheme”)
was adopted on 16 June 2006. Particulars of the HKC Option Scheme are
set out below:

@

(b)

(c)

Purpose

The principal purposes are to recruit and retain high caliber Eligible
Persons (as defined below) and attract human resources that are
valuable to the Group or any entity in which any member of the
Group holds an equity interest (“Invested Entity”) or Invested Entities,
to recognise the significant contributions of the Eligible Persons
to the growth of the Group or Invested Entities by rewarding them
with opportunities to obtain ownership interest in the Company and
to further motivate and give incentives to these Eligible Persons to
continue to contribute to the long term success and prosperity of the
Group or Invested Entities.

Eligible Persons

Any employee (whether full time or part time), senior executive or officer,
manager, director (including independent non-executive director) or
consultant of any members of the Group or any Invested Entity who, in
the sole discretion of the Board, have contributed or will contribute to
the growth and development of the Group or any Invested Entity.

Maximum number of shares available for issue

The total number of shares of the Company available for issue under
the HKC Option Scheme is 674,662,383 shares which represent
approximately 6.23% of the issued share capital of the Company as at
the date of this Annual Report.
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Share Option Schemes (Continued)
Share Options of the Company (Continued)
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(e)
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Maximum entitlement of each Eligible Person

The total number of shares of the Company issued and to be issued
upon exercise of options (whether exercised or outstanding) granted in
any 12-month period to:

(i) each Eligible Person must not exceed 1% of the shares of the
Company in issue;

(i) a substantial shareholder or an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company must not exceed 0.1% of the shares of
the Company in issue and not exceed HK$5 million in aggregate
value.

Period within which the shares must be taken up under an

option

An option must be exercised within ten years from the date on which it is
granted or such shorter period as the Board may specify at the time of
grant.

Minimum period, if any, for which an option must be held
At the time of the grant of an option, the Board must specify the
minimum period(s), if any, for which an option must be held before it
can be exercised.

Period open for acceptance of an option and amount
payable upon acceptance

An offer of the grant of an option shall remain open for acceptance for
a period of ten business days from the date of offer and a consideration
of HK$1.0 must be paid upon acceptance.

Basis of determining the subscription price of an option
The exercise price must be at least the higher of (i) the closing
price of the shares as stated in daily quotations sheet on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on the date
of grant; (i) the average closing prices of the shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant; and (jii) the nominal value of a
share.

Remaining life

The HKC Option Scheme has a life of ten years and will expire on 16
June 2016 unless otherwise terminated in accordance with the terms
of the HKC Option Scheme.
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Share Option Schemes (Continued)
Share Options of the Company (Continued)

Movements of share options granted under the HKC Option Scheme during
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the year are as follows: ZEEBWT
Number of share options
BREHE
Outstanding Exercise
Outstanding at 31 price per
Nature of at 1 January Cancelled/ December share
Name interest 2011 Granted  Exercised Lapsed 2011 Date of grant Exercise period (HK$)
et et Bl
-A-8 Bit#/ TB=t-R i
1 EaitE HATE  BRE Bfif A% HAGE  RHAR i (¥7)
Directors
g2
OElKang, Eic ~ Personal 680,625 - - - 680,625 15 December 2006 15 December 2007 to 1174
Ml faA Z2EETZATRA 14 December 2016
“ZRLE+ZRTRAE
ZERETZATEA
1,134,375 - - - 1,134,375 15 December 2006 15 December 2008 to 1174
Z2EE+-ATRA 14 December 2016
“23)\E+-ATRAZ
ZERETZATEA
363,000 - - - 363,000 1 February 2008 1 February 2009 to 1.368
“2T)\FZf-A 31 January 2018
“EENECR-RE
2 \-A=1-H
544,500 - - - 544500 1 February 2008 1 February 2010 to 1.368
“2T)\FZf-A 31 January 2018
“2-TECA-RE
2 \-A=1-H
907,500 - - - 907,500 1 February 2008 1 February 2011 to 1.368
“2T)\FZf-A 31 January 2018
“E—4CA-RE
“2-\§-A=1-A
Family 680,625 - - - 680,625 15 December 2006 15 December 2007 to 1174
Rk “EERFToATRA 14 December 2016
“Z3+F+ZRTRAE
2 EtZATRA
1,134,375 - - - 1,134,375 15 December 2006 15 December 2008 to 1174

“EENFTZATRA

14 December 2016
“EF)\Ft-AtREE
ZE-RETZATEA
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Number of share options
Elheaa
Outstanding Exercise
Outstanding at 31 price per
Nature of at1 January Cancelled/ December share
Name interest 2011 Granted  Exercised Lapsed 2011 Date of grant Exercise period (HK9)
RZB--% RIE--F 8
-A-8 Bit#/ TZA=t-R 18
g EattE HATE  BRE B B4R HAGE  RHAR {8 (¥7)
363,000 - - - 363,000 1 February 2008 1 February 2009 to 1.368
“FE/\5-f-A 31 January 2018
“EENF-A-RZE
ZE-N\E-f=t-H
544,500 - - - 544500 1 February 2008 1 February 2010 to 1.368
“FT)\F-A-A 31 January 2018
TETECACRE
ZE-N\E-f=t-H
907,500 - - - 907,500 1 February 2008 1 February 2011 to 1.368
“F%)\#-A-A 31 January 2018
“F--%ZA-B%
ZE-N\E-f=t-H
CHANG Li Hsien,  Personal 6,000,000 - - - 6,000,000 1 September 2010 1 September 2011 to 0488
Lesle 0N “Z-5EnA-A 31 August 2013
RUE E—ENA-RE
Z2-ZENA=T-H
9,000,000 - - - 9,000,000 1 September 2010 1 September 2012 to 0488
“F-FFNA-A 31 August 2014 (note 2)
“F-ZFAR-RE
ZE-MENE=T-R
(it2)
15,000,000 - - - 15,000,000 1 September 2010 1 September 2013 to 0.488
“Z-5EnA-A 31 August 2015 fnote )
ZE-ZEAA-RE
ZE-RENA=T-A
(it2)
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Share Option Schemes (Continued) IEaRREST 8l (&)
Share Options of the Company (Continued) RRTR 2 ERE(E)
Number of share options
BREYE
Outstanding Exercise
Outstanding at 31 price per
Nature of at1 January Cancelled/ December share
Name interest 2011 Granted  Exercised Lapsed 2011 Date of grant Exercise period (HK$)
R 3 8k
-A-A Bi#/ TA=t-R e
i2] BaitE HATE  BRE Bfif BAX HAGE  RHAH i (E1)
CHUNG Wi Sum, - Personal - 2,000,000 - - 2,000,000 10 June 2011 10June 20120 0.360
Patrick A (note 1) “E—E5ATH 9June 2014 note 2)
(appointed on (k1) E-CERATRE
10 June 2011) “E-MERANAW)
ERR - 3,000,000 - - 3000000 10June 2011 10June 201310 0.360
(W-F—% (note 1) —2-E5ATH 9 June 2015 fnote 2)
ANATHEER) (it1) “E-CERATRE
ZZ-RERRMRRZ)
- 5,000,000 - - 5,000,000 10 June 2011 10June 2014 1o 0.360
(note 1) 2 HRATH 9 June 2016 fnote 2)
(it1) “E-PERATAZ
R RERRMRIR)
FANYanHok,  Personal 726,000 - - - 726000 1 February 2008 1 February 2009 to 1.368
Philip A “2%)\FZf-H 31 January 2018
BE ZEENFCA-RE
Z3-\§-A=1-A
1,089,000 - - - 1,089,000 1 February 2008 1 February 20100 1.368
“ZZ)\f-h-A 31 January 2018
“T-2F-f-RE
ZF-\§-A=1-H
1,815,000 - - - 1815000 1 February 2008 1 February 2011 to 1.368
ZZZ)\fh-A 31 January 2018
“T——F-f-RZE
ZE-N\E-A=t-H
CHUNG Cho Yee,  Personal 726,000 - - - 726000 1 February 2008 1 February 2009 to 1.368
Mico A “ZZ)\f-R-A 31 January 2018
#z ZEENEFCA-RE
ZE-N\E-A=t-H
1,089,000 - - - 1,089,000 1 February 2008 1 February 20100 1.368
ZZZ)\f-R-A 31 January 2018
“T-2F-f-RE
ZE-N\E-A=t-H
1,815,000 - - - 1815000 1 February 2008 1 February 2011 to 1.368
ZZZ)\f-h-A 31 January 2018
“T——F-f-RZ
ZE-N\E-A=t-H
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BRETE(E)
RNNTE 2B GE)

Number of share options
Elhega
Outstanding Exercise
Outstanding at 31 price per
Nature of at1 January Cancelled/ December share
Name interest 2011 Granted  Exercised Lapsed 2011 Date of grant Exercise period (HK$)
RZE--F RZE--F &
-A-H gif/ t-h=t-A 18
5] &t HATE  ERi BTk A% WA RHAH 18 (&7)
CHENG YukWo ~ Personal 726,000 - - - 726,000 1 February 2008 1 February 2009 to 1,368
g {EIN “2Z/\f-h-A 31 January 2018
“EENECR-RE
“2-\§-A=1-A
1,089,000 - - - 1,089,000 1 February 2008 1 February 20100 1.368
“2Z/\(ZA-A 31 January 2018
ZE-TFCR-RE
“2-\§-A=1-A
1,815,000 - - - 1,815,000 1 February 2008 1 February 2011 o 1.368
“2Z/\(ZA-A 31 January 2018
“F——F-f-R%
“2-\§-A=1-A
Albert Thomas ~ Personal 726,000 - - - 726,000 1 February 2008 1 February 2009 to 1.368
DAROSA,  fAA “2Z/\(ZA-A 31 January 2018
Junior “EINECR-RE
B “2-/\§-A=1-A
1,089,000 - - - 1,089,000 1 February 2008 1 February 20100 1.368
“2Z/\(-A-A 31 January 2018
ZE-TFCR-RE
“2-/\§-A=1-A
1,815,000 - - - 1,815,000 1 February 2008 1 February 2011 o 1.368
“2Z/\(ZA-A 31 January 2018
“F——F-f-RZ
ZE-N\§-f=t-H
Sub-total /& 51,780,000 10,000,000 - - 61,780,000
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Share Option Schemes (Continued) IEaRREST 8l (&)
Share Options of the Company (Continued) RRTR 2 ERE(E)
Number of share options
Elheaa
Outstanding Exercise
Outstanding at 31 price per
Nature of at 1 January Cancelled/ December share
Name interest 2011 Granted  Exercised Lapsed 2011 Date of grant Exercise period (HK9)
RZB--% RZE--% 8
-A-H Bit#/ TZA=t-R 18
g ERitE HATE  BRE B B4R HAGE  RHAR 8 (81)
Employees and 13431,000 . - (7018000 6413000 15 December 2006 15 December 2007 to 1174
other participants “EEET-ATRA 12 December 2016
EEREMSE ZERLETCATRAR
AT ZERETZATRA
22,808,500 - - (11,495,000 11,313,500 15 December 2006 15 December 2008 to 1174
ZERET-ATEE 14 December 2016

“EE\E+-FtRAR
“E—E+-AtmA
17,847,500 - - (3,025,000 14,822,500 15 December 2006 15 December 2009 to 1174
“EENETZATRA 14 December 2016
“TENET-ATREE
“EF—E+-AtmA

6,050,000 - - - 6,050,000 3.July 2007 15 December 2007 to 1901
“ETLELAZA 2July 2017
“FEtF+-A1RAE
“E-t+EtACH
3,025,000 - - - 3025000 3.July 2007 15 December 2008 to 1901
“FTLELAZA 2July 2017
“Z%)\E+-A1RRZ
“Z-t+EtACH
3,025,000 - - - 3025000 3.July 2007 15 December 2009 to 1901
“FTLELAZA 2July 2017
“EENET-ATRAE
“E-t+EtACH
21223400 - - (5493400 15,730,000 1 February 2008 1 February 2009 to 1368
“F%)\#-A-A 31 January 2018
“EENECR-RE
“F-\f-A=1-A
31,835,100 - - (8,240,00) 23595000 1 February 2008 1 February 201010 1368
“F%)\#-A-A 31 January 2018
“Z-TFCR-RE
“F-\f-A=1-A

BRRR(ER)ERAT ¢ —T——FF§ M




Report of the Directors (Continued)

EEEREEE)

Share Option Schemes (Continued)
Share Options of the Company (Continued)

BRETE(E)
RNNTE 2B GE)

Number of share options
EREHE
Outstanding Exercise
Outstanding at31 price per
Nature of at 1 January Cancelled/ December share
Name interest 2011 Granted  Exercised Lapsed 2011 Date of grant Exercise period (HK9)
RZB--F RZB--F =1
-A-H B/ TZA=t-H e
i3 REaftE HATE B B &M HATE  REAH it (81)
53,068,500 - - (13,733,500) 39,325,000 1 February 2008 1 February 2011 to 1.368
“F%)\#-f-A 31 January 2018
“EFCA-RE
“2-\§-A=1-A
6,600,000 - - (6,600,000 - 20 January 2010 20 January 2011 to 0578
“F-5F-A21H 19 January 2013
ZE—E-fCfRE
“T-ZE-AtAA
9,900,000 - - (9,900,000) - 20 January 2010 20 January 2012 to 0578
“Z-ZE-f-1H 19 January 2014 (note 2)
Z2-TE-AtRE
“Z-mE-ATNA
(it2)
16,500,000 - - (16,500,000) - 20 January 2010 20 January 2013 1o 0578
“Z-ZF-f-1H 19 January 2015 (note 2)
ZF-TF-A-TREE
“Z-RE-ATNA
(it2)
Sub-total /) st 205,304,000 - - (82,005,000) 123,299,000
Total &3t 257,084,000 10,000,000 - (82,005,000) 185,079,000
Notes: et -
1. The closing price of the shares immediately before the date on which the options 1. BERR =T ——FNNA AR EREN—A -
were granted on 10 June 2011 was HK$0.3550. JR17.2 W T 1B 750.3560/8 T °
2. The share options will be vested and exercisable subject to the attainment of the 2. BREAFEZEFSHTHFE AIEE TS

performance target as determined by the Board.

42 HKC (Holdings) Limited ® Annual Report 2011

BRITE -




Share Option Schemes (Continued)
Share Options of the Company (Continued)

Using the Binominal Valuation model, the fair value of 10,000,000 share
options granted on 10 June 2011 was HK$1,360,532 for the period under
review. The significant inputs into the model were share price of HK$0.36
at the grant date, exercise price of HK$0.36, volatility of ranging from 53%
to 58%, dividend yield of 1.570%, an option life of three years to five years
and on normal risk-free interest rate ranging from 0.628% to 1.264%. The
volatility measured at the standard deviation of share returns is based on
statistical analysis of weekly share prices over the past three to five years.
The vesting period is between 10 June 2012 to 10 June 2014. The value of
the share options is subject to a number of assumptions and with regard to
the limitation of model. Therefore, the value may be subjective and difficult to
determine.

Save as disclosed above, no share option was granted, exercised, cancelled
nor lapsed during the year ended 31 December 2011 under the HKC Option
Scheme.

Share Options of subsidiary of the Company

China Renewable Energy Investment Limited (“CRE”), a subsidiary of the
Company, adopted a share option scheme (the “CRE Option Scheme”) on 27
May 2008. Particulars of the CRE Option Scheme are set out below:-

(@ Purpose

The principal purposes are to recruit and retain high caliber Eligible
Persons (as defined below) and attract human resources that are
valuable to the CRE Group or any entity in which any member of the
CRE Group holds an equity interest (“Invested Entity” or “Invested
Entities”), to recognise the significant contributions of the Eligible
Persons to the growth of the CRE Group or Invested Entities by
rewarding them with opportunities to obtain ownership interest in CRE
and to further motivate and give incentives to these Eligible Persons to
continue to contribute to the long term success and prosperity of the
CRE Group or Invested Entities.
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Eligible Persons

Any employee (whether full time or part time), senior executive or officer,
manager, director (including independent non-executive director) or
consultant of any members of the CRE Group or any Invested Entity
who, in the sole discretion of the board of directors of CRE, have
contributed or will contribute to the growth and development of the
CRE Group or any Invested Entity.

Maximum number of shares available for issue

The total number of shares of CRE available for issue under the CRE
Option Scheme is 63,103,475 shares which represent approximately
2.68% of the issued share capital of CRE as at the date of this Annual
Report.

Maximum entitlement of each Eligible Person

The total number of shares of CRE issued and to be issued upon
exercise of options (whether exercised or outstanding) granted in any
12-month period to:

(i) each Eligible Person must not exceed 1% of the shares of CRE
in issue;

(i) a substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive
director of CRE must not exceed 0.1% of the shares of CRE in
issue and not exceed HK$5 million in aggregate value.
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(e)
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(h)

()

Period within which the shares must be taken up under an
option

An option must be exercised within ten years from the date on which it
is granted or such shorter period as the board of directors of CRE may
specify at the time of grant.

Minimum period, if any, for which an option must be held
At the time of the grant of an option, the board of directors of CRE
must specify the minimum period(s), if any, for which an option must be
held before it can be exercised.

Period open for acceptance of an option and amount
payable upon acceptance

An offer of the grant of an option shall remain open for acceptance for
a period of ten business days from the date of offer and a consideration
of HK$1.0 must be paid upon acceptance.

Basis of determining the subscription price of an option
The exercise price must be at least the higher of (i) the closing price of
the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on
the date of grant; (i) the average closing prices of the shares as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (i) the nominal value
of a share.

Remaining life

The CRE Option Scheme has a life of ten years and will expire on 27
May 2018 unless otherwise terminated in accordance with the terms of
the CRE Option Scheme.
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Share Options of subsidiary of the Company (Continued) N2 I B A B 2 fE A 1 (48
Movements of share options granted under the CRE Option Scheme during ~ F RARIE Bl f5 A SR B8 RO AT 81 2 1% H B S0

the year are as follows: FEFHBOT
Number of share options
RlREHA
Outstanding Exercise
Outstanding at price per
Name of Nature of at1 January Cancelled 31 December share
Directors interest 2011 Granted  Exercised [Lapsed 2011 Date of grant Exercise period (HK$)
Rog--% Rog--% 5k
-A-8 Bi#/ toA=t-A 8
E i EattE HATE R B BN HATE  RHAH {8 (¥7)
CHANG Li Hsien,  Personal 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 1 September 2010 1 September 2011 to 0570
Lesle 0N “Z-5EnA-A 31 August 2013
FUE _T—fNA-RE
ZE-ZEN\A=1-H
1,500,000 - - - 1,500,000 1 September 2010 1 September 2012 to 0570
“Z-ZENA-A 31 August 2014 fnote 1)
“T-ZFNA-RE
ZE-MENE=T-R
(1)
2,500,000 - - - 2,500,000 1 September 2010 1 September 2013 to 0570
“Z-ZENA-A 31 August 2015 fote 1)
“E--EnR-RE
ZE-RENA=T-H
(1)
YUNG Pak Keung, Personal 1,100,000 - - - 1,100,000 20 January 2010 20 January 2011 to 0.764
Buce(noted A “F-FF-AC1H 19 January 2013
Neahizz) “E—5-f-TEE
Z3-=5-f1NH
1,650,000 - - - 1,650,000 20 January 2010 20 January 2012 0 0.764
“E2-TE-AtH 19 January 2014 note 1)
Z5-TE-AtHE
ZE2-ME-ATARWE1)
2,750,000 - - - 2,750,000 20 January 2010 20 January 2013 0 0.764
“2-TE-AtH 19 January 2015 (note 1)
Z3-CE-AtHE

“E-RE-ATARREY)
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Number of share options
BREHE
Outstanding Exercise
Outstanding at price per
Name of Nature of at1 January Cancelled 31 December share
Directors interest 201 Granted  Exercised ILapsed 2011 Date of grant Exercise period (HKS)
RoB--% W% Bl
-A-H B/ toA=t-R 8
S Bt HATE  BRE BT B&M HATE  REAE b2 (%7)
LEUNG Wing Sum, Personal 560,000 - - - 550,000 20 January 2010 20 January 2011 to 0.764
Samuel hote2) A “E-FF-A-1H 19 January 2013
2R “5——F-A-tRE
Z3-=5-f1NAH
825,000 - - - 825,000 20 January 2010 20 January 2012 to 0.764
“2-TF-AtH 19 January 2014 (note 1)
“E-CE-ATEE
“Z-mE-ATABIET)
1,375,000 - - - 1,375000 20 January 2010 20 January 2013 to 0.764
“2-TF-AtH 19 January 2015 (note 1)
Z5-CE-ACtRE
ZZ-RE-ATABET)
Total &5t 13,250,000 - - - 13,250,000
Notes: Hiat -
1. The share options will be vested and exercisable subject to the attainment of the 1. BRIEAFEZFEELEREESATENZT
performance target as determined by the board of directors of CRE. B1E T EEBRITIE
2, Dr. YUNG Pak Keung, Bruce and Mr. LEUNG Wing Sum, Samuel are directors of 2. BIAE B RAELHRALBEARN G FTHTERF]
CRE, the listed subsidiary of the Company. HETEAESERC BEF o
Save as disclosed above, no share option was granted, exercised, cancelled [ FY#HEEIN REBE T ——&F+ - A
nor lapsed during the year ended 31 December 2011 under the CRE Option  =+4+—H |- & - #IET (@ ERERE DR BE
Scheme. LRI RERT BRI - 170 SHEEEE R -
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At 31 December 2011, the interests and short positions of the Directors RZ-ZZE——F+ZA=+—H FSEFRLARHA
and chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and ~ EZ1THA ERA R a s HEEE (ERER
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporation (within the &% & BB 1601 ([ 7 5 KBS 501 ]) ) EXVEL 2 A%
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”) as 17 * MHERMH REFTHEEELRESF MPEK
recorded in the register required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO or  IFE 35215 E FEME LM 2 #Em MK E 5 iR
as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to ¥R BIE4N 2 LR I 8+ Al E g1 A
the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the — ZES#EITEHF R S HIZESTAI([1Z2ESFE] ) ETE
“Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules adopted by the ~ BAIGANA G LB EmABITAT -
Company were as follows:

Directors’ Interests in Securities

A

HKC (Holdings) Limited ® Annual Report 2011

() Long positions in the shares and underlying shares () RARQBRMD R AEBE KRG 2
of the Company: B

Approximate

Number of Shares percentage of

and underlying the existing issued

shares of share capital of

Name of Directors Nature of interest the Company the Company

NS EERATRE

iaviySe BEITRA

FEHA EEME HERNEE BOBEDL

OEl Kang, Eric Personal {EA 20,897,310 1 0.193%

=M Corporate A7) 4,332,779,008 ? 39.994%

Joint F[A 117,952,078 8 1.089%

Family &% 3,630,000 4 0.034%

CHANG Li Hsien, Leslie Personal & A 30,000,000 *° 0.277%

RAUE Joint [ 10,000,000 © 0.092%

CHUNG Wai Sum, Patrick Personal & A 13,600,000 7 0.126%
EER

FAN Yan Hok, Philip Personal & A 3,630,000 & 0.034%
BICES

CHUNG Cho Yee, Mico Personal & A 3,630,000 °© 0.034%

CHENG Yuk Wo Personal & A 3,630,000 *° 0.034%
£gRn

Albert Thomas DA ROSA, Junior Personal & A 3,630,000 0.034%
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Directors’ Interests in Securities (Continued) EENES2ER(E)

(i) Long positions in the shares and underlying shares (i) RAZAQBAEBEERR 0 R AERER
of associated corporation of the Company: MREFE

Approximate
percentage of
the existing issued

Number of Shares
and underlying

shares of share capital of the
Name of associated Nature of the associated associated
corporation Name of Directors interest corporation corporation
HEEE {hAEEEE
2RI K RECBITRA
HESEE S BEHE EmME HERERMNEE BABEDHE
China Renewable Energy ~ OEIl Kang, Eric Corporate /A &) 1,783,092,776 12 75.671%
Investment Limited (“CRE”) =il Personal & A 2,175,086 13 0.092%
HEBARRIREBRAA Joint A 24,724,353 14 1.049%
([FEBAEER]D
CRE CHANG Li Hsien, Leslie  Personal f& A 5,000,000 18 0.212%
PRI AR RAUE Joint #£[F] 570,000 6 0.024%
CRE CHUNG Wai Sum, Patrick Personal {E A 205,200 7 0.009%
P AERER EER
Notes: Kia# -
1. The personal interest of Mr. OEl Kang, Eric represents an interest 1. EZW L EZ A #m 5.2 17,267,310

in 17,267,310 shares of the Company and an interest in 3,630,000
underlying shares in respect of options granted by the Company as
detailed in “Share Option Schemes” section above.

The corporate interest of Mr. OEl Kang, Eric represents an interest in
1,487,280,532 shares of the Company held by Creator Holdings Limited
(“Creator”) and an interest in 2,845,498,476 shares of the Company held
by Genesis Capital Group Limited (“Genesis”). Both Creator and Genesis
are wholly owned by Claudio Holdings Limited (“Claudio”), a company
owned as to 50% by Mr. OEl Kang, Eric and as to the remaining 50% by
his wife, Mrs. OEl Valonia Lau.

The joint interest of Mr. OEl Kang, Eric represents an interest in
117,952,078 shares of the Company jointly held with his wife, Mrs. OEIl
Valonia Lau.

The family interest of Mr. OEI Kang, Eric represents an interest in 3,630,000
underlying shares in respect of options granted by the Company to Mrs.
OEl Valonia Lau, wife of Mr. OEl Kang, Eric, as detailed in “Share Option
Schemes” section above.

ARER I ##Ez KA L ERETE ]
—BOPTEE AR R AR BRI 2
3,630,000fK 1682 17 # 7 °

HWEEZ 2 ] 15 BIiEE BB R A
al([BlIE | #4752 1,487,280,632/R K A &)
R ERREZEEEGRAE([EE]])
FFH,22,845,498,476/8 A L\ Gl (717 ©
Claudio Holdings Limited(/Claudio /)£ &
FEBBIZERER - Claudio 2 50% 25 1 #
Bt - Bppb0%E s %2 ZFE5
HLtHE -

EMIELZ KR IEh R AR E FEE
L+ HEFHFH.Z117,952,078/8 7K 2 Al e
72 o

ESE L2 KR 158 X Bk
2B ATAF M A A A E R ZTE
B2 AR LR B .2 3,630,000/% #H
Bk (7 1R -
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Directors’ Interests in Securities (Continued)

(i) Long positions in the shares and underlying
shares of associated corporation of the Company:

(Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

5.

10.

11.

The personal interest of Mr. CHANG Li Hsien, Leslie represents an interest
in 30,000,000 underlying shares in respect of options granted by the
Company as detailed in “Share Option Schemes” section above.

The joint interest of Mr. CHANG Li Hsien, Leslie represents an interest
in 10,000,000 shares of the Company jointly held with his wife, Ms. WU
Tung.

The personal interest of Mr. CHUNG Wai Sum, Patrick represents
an interest in 3,600,000 shares of the Company and an interest in
710,000,000 underlying shares in respect of options granted by the
Company as detailed in “Share Option Schemes” section above.

The personal interest of Mr. FAN Yan Hok, Philip represents an interest
in 3,630,000 underlying shares in respect of options granted by the
Company as detailed in “Share Option Schemes” section above.

The personal interest of Mr. CHUNG Cho Yee, Mico represents an
interest in 3,630,000 underlying shares in respect of options granted by
the Company as detailed in “Share Option Schemes” section above.

The personal interest of Mr. CHENG Yuk Wo represents an interest
in 3,630,000 underlying shares in respect of options granted by the
Company as detailed in “Share Option Schemes” section above.

The personal interest of Mr. Albert Thomas DA ROSA, Junior represents
an interest in 3,630,000 underlying shares in respect of options granted
by the Company as detailed in “Share Option Schemes” section above.
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Directors’ Interests in Securities (Continued)

(i) Long positions in the shares and underlying
shares of associated corporation of the Company:

(Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

12.

13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

Since as at 31 December 2011, the Company was held as to
approximately 39.99% by Claudio (via its wholly-owned subsidiaries,
Creator and Genesis), a company owned as to 50% by Mr. OEl Kang,
Eric and as to the remaining 50% by his wife, Mrs. OEl Valonia Lau, Mr.
OEl Kang, Eric is deemed to be interested in the same parcel of shares
of CRE in which the Company is interested. The corporate interest of Mr.
OEl Kang, Eric represents (i) an interest in 1,275,5640,924 shares held by
the Company in CRE; (i) an interest in 276,065,897 shares of CRE held
by Genesis; (iii) an interest in 149,358,990 shares of CRE held by Creator;
and (iv) an interest in a zero coupon convertible note issued by CRE to the
Company with a principal amount of RMB73,500,000 carrying rights to
convert into 82,126,965 ordinary shares in CRE at a conversion price of
HK$1.0113 per share, subject to adjustment.

The personal interest of Mr. OEl Kang, Eric represents an interest in
2,175,086 shares of CRE.

The joint interest of Mr. OEl Kang, Eric represents an interest in
24,724,353 shares of CRE jointly held with his wife, Mrs. OEI Valonia Lau.

The personal interest of M. CHANG Li Hsien, Leslie represents an interest
in 5,000,000 underlying shares in respect of options granted by CRE as
detailed in “Share Option Schemes” section above.

The joint interest of Mr. CHANG Li Hsien, Leslie represents an interest in

570,000 shares of CRE jointly held with his wife, Ms. WU Tung.

The personal interest of Mr. CHUNG Wai Sum, Patrick represents an
interest in 205,200 shares of CRE.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2011, none of the Directors
or chief executive of the Company had any interests or short positions in
any shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as
recorded in the register required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code contained in the Listing Rules.
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Directors’ Right to Acquire Shares or Debentures

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the Company or
any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement that enabled the Directors
or any of their spouses or children under the age of 18 to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any
other body corporate.

Directors’ and Controlling Shareholders’ Interests in
Contracts of Significance

Save as disclosed under the headings “Continuing Connected Transactions”
in this Report of Directors and “Related Party Transactions” in note 42 to the
consolidated financial statements, no contract of significance to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director had
a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
year or at any time during the year.

Directors’ Interests in Competing Businesses

Mr. OEl Tjie Goan is the chairman and a director of PT. Sinar Mas, a company
together with its subsidiaries, associates, including Asia Pulp & Paper
Company, Ltd., and its holding companies (if any) (the “Sinar Mas Group”) are
engaged in, among other things, general trading and property development
and investment. Save as disclosed above, Mr. OEl Tjie Goan is not interested
in any business which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the business of the Group. Mr. OEl Kang, Eric, a member of
the Oei Family and a son of Mr. OEl Tjie Goan, does not hold any directorship
in the Sinar Mas Group.

Mr. OEI Kang, Eric and Mr. CHANG Li Hsien, Leslie are the executive
directors of CRE whose principal business activities are alternative energy
business.

Mr. FAN Yan Hok, Philip is a non-executive director of China Everbright
International Limited, an independent non-executive director of Hysan
Development Company Limited and an independent director of Goodman
Group. Part of the business activities of China Everbright International Limited,
Hysan Development Company Limited and Goodman Group includes
alternative energy business, infrastructure, property investment, development
and management and construction and engineering.
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Directors’ Interests in Competing Businesses (Continued)

Having considered that the Company itself has its own management
supervising the daily operation and making financial and business decisions,
the Company can operate its business independently from the Sinar Mas
Group, CRE, China Everbright International Limited, Hysan Development
Company Limited and Goodman Group.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or their respective associate(s)
was interested in any business which competes or is likely to compete, either
directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group.

Substantial Shareholders’ Interests in Securities

At 31 December 2011, the following persons (other than a Director or chief
executive of the Company) had interests or short positions in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to be
kept under section 336 of the SFO:

Long positions in the shares and underlying shares of
the Company
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Approximate

Number of shares percentage of

and underlying

existing issued

shares of share capital of

Name of Shareholders Nature of interest the Company the Company

RRE EARNERE

gy BETRA

BRER BB ERME R ER BHABEDH

OEl Valonia Lau Personal & A 3,630,000 0.034%

= Corporate ‘A~ 7] 4,332,779,008 39.994%

Joint #£[A] 117,952,078 1.089%

Family ZX & 20,897,310 0.193%

Claudio Holdings Limited Beneficial owner Bz A A 4,332,779,008 39.994%

Genesis Capital Group Limited Beneficial owner Bz B A 2,845,498,476 26.266%
FERSEBRAR]

Creator Holdings Limited Beneficial owner Ez5 A A 1,487,280,532 13.728%
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Substantial Shareholders’ Interests in Securities

(Continued)

Long positions in the shares and underlying shares of

the Company (Continued)

FTERRNEZ 2B (E)

RARB R G REERD 2= ()

Nu

Approximate
percentage of
existing issued

mber of shares
and underlying

shares of share capital of

Name of Shareholders Nature of interest the Company the Company
ENAC EARQERE

IR K 2EITRA

BRRER,EB RERME HEROHE BRBEDL
Cerberus Institutional Associates, L.L.C. Corporate A 7] 1,565,348,316 @ 14.449%
Promontoria Europe Investments XII LDC Corporate A 7] 1,565,348,316 14.449%
Promontoria Holding Cooperatie U.A. Corporate A 7] 1,565,348,316 14.449%
Promontoria Holding XXI B.V. Beneficial owner Bz5#A A 1,565,348,316 14.449%
Stephen A. FEINBERG Corporate A 7] 1,565,348,316 14.449%
Penta Investment Advisers Limited Investment Manager 1% & &2 1,294,091,624 ¢ 11.945%

Notes:

1. The personal interest of Mrs. OEl Valonia Lau represents an interest in 3,630,000

underlying shares in respect of options granted by the Company to her.

The corporate interest of Mrs. OEl Valonia Lau represents an interest in
1,487,280,532 shares of HKC held by Creator (Holdings) Limited (“Creator”)
and an interest in 2,845,498,476 shares of HKC held by Genesis Capital Group
Limited (“Genesis”).

The joint interest of Mrs. OEl Valonia Lau represents an interest in 117,952,078
shares of HKC jointly held with her husband, Mr. OEl Kang, Eric.

The family interest of Mrs. OEI Valonia Lau represents an interest in 17,267,310
shares of HKC held by Mr. OEl Kang, Eric and an interest in 3,630,000
underlying shares in respect of options granted by HKC to Mr. OEl Kang, Eric as
detailed in “Share Option Schemes” section above.

HKC (Holdings) Limited ® Annual Report 2011

it -

BB L+ 2 NS IR AR T 15 BRI
B E5.2 3,630,0008% 18RIk 17 °

BBL LT RNAlEmIEHBEEEGRA A
([BIE |)## 5.2 1,487,280,632 /% & % i2 32 K 19
B RAEREEGRLA([EE])IFEZ
2,845,498,476/18 & EFEK R 17,2 #as ©

BYE L2 H A 15 R 2 K E M 5E £ £ A
FFH . 117,952,078/ B/ EZRK 172tz »

BB L+ T REHEDSIEAENELERFFL
17,267,310fR &8 &R R 172 #m + U REFX
[FEAR 1T &) | — B B a il & /5 3% 7 = ) 5E A AT
R HBRIEH [ 2 3,630,000 1EEG i 172 1 2s »




Substantial Shareholders’ Interests in Securities
(Continued)

Long positions in the shares and underlying shares of

the Company (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

5. The beneficial interest of Claudio Holdings Limited (“Claudio”) includes an interest
in 2,845,498,476 shares of HKC held by Genesis and an interest in 1,487,280,5632
shares of HKC held by Creator. Mr. OEl Kang, Eric and Mrs. OEl Valonia Lau are
directors of Claudio.

6. The beneficial interest of Genesis includes an interest in 2,845,498,476 shares of
HKC. Mr. OEl Kang, Eric and Mrs. OEIl Valonia Lau are directors of Genesis.

7. The beneficial interest of Creator includes an interest in 1,487,280,532 shares of
HKC. Mr. OEl Kang, Eric and Mrs. OEl Valonia Lau are directors of Creator.

8. An interest in 1,5665,348,316 shares held by certain funds affiliated with and
managed on a discretionary basis by Cerberus.

9. The investment manager interest of Penta Investment Advisers Limited includes
an interest in 1,294,091,624 shares held by certain funds of Penta which are
managed by Penta on a discretionary basis.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2011, the Company had not
been notified by any person, other than Directors and chief executive of the
Company, who had interests or short positions in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company which are required to be recorded in the register
required to be kept under section 336 of Part XV of the SFO.
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Continuing Connected Transactions

Details of the continuing connected transactions entered into by the Group
during the year are set out below:-

(i)

56

Yangpu Water Supply Agreement

On 12 January 2009, Yangpu Water Supply Company Limited (held
as to 65% indirectly by the Company) entered into a supplemental
agreement with Jinhai Paper Pulping Industrial Company Limited
(“Jinhai”) for, among others, extending the term of the water supply
agreement dated 13 January 2004 (which was amended and
supplemented on 23 November 2005 and 25 April 2006 respectively)
for a further period from 1 January 2009 to 31 December 2011. Jinhai
is an associate of a connected person of the Company by virtue of
being indirectly controlled by the Oei family (the family members of
Mr. OEl Tjie Goan, (the Chairman of the Company), including Mr. OEI
Kang, Eric (Executive Director)), which is in turn a connected person
of the Company. The provision of water supply services contemplated
under the water supply agreement and the supplemental agreement
constitute a non-exempt continuing connected transaction under
the Listing Rules and is subject to the reporting, announcement and
independent shareholders’ approval requirements under Rule 14A.35
of the Listing Rules. For the year ended 31 December 2011, the Group
received an annual revenue of HK$39.2 million for provision of the
water supply services to Jinhai.

On 8 December 2011, Yangpu Water Supply Company Limited entered
into another supplemental agreement with Jinhai for, among others,
extending the term of the water supply agreement dated 13 January
2004 for a further period of three years from 1 January 2012 to 31
December 2014.
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Continuing Connected Transactions (Continued)

()

Guarantees to CRE and its subsidiaries

The Company has provided, by itself directly or its wholly-owned
subsidiaries indirectly, guarantees in respect of project loan facilities
granted by banks to the relevant project companies, which are
subsidiaries of CRE (the “Guarantees”). The Company has also made
advance and granted standby facility for CRE and its subsidiaries (the
“Loan Facilities”). CRE is a subsidiary of the Company and Mr. OEIl
Kang, Eric (Executive Director) and his associates held approximately
19.2% direct interest in CRE as at 31 December 2011. The provision
of the Guarantees and the Loan Facilities is subject to reporting, annual
review and disclosure requirement under Rule 14A.41 of the Listing
Rules. Details of the Guarantees and the Loan Facilities were disclosed
in the announcement of the Company dated 30 September 2011.

a. The Guarantees
The salient particulars of the Guarantees are set out below:

(1)  Date : 28 August 2006

CBMENEE (HAI) BRA
7] (Asia Wind Power (Mudanjiang)
Company Limited), which is

Project company
(borrower)

currently a non-wholly owned
subsidiary of CRE.

Amount secured . The Guarantee provided for this
project company was given in
favour of the bank to secure
repayment of all monies due from
the operating company to the
lending bank under the loan facility,
including the principals, interests
accrued and other losses, damages
and monies payable under the loan
facility.
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Continuing Connected Transactions (Continued)
(i) Guarantees to CRE and its subsidiaries (Continued)

a. The Guarantees (Continued)

Repayment and
maturity dates of
loan facility

The loan in the sum of RMB200
million (approximately HK$246.8
million) was originally granted and
utilized. The loan was a term loan
and carried interest at such annual
rate as agreed with lending bank,
determined by reference to PBOC
Benchmark Rate for loans of the
same grade and tenure. The
interest rate will be adjusted
annually on each anniversary of the
related advancement (and, in
relation to an extended term agreed
by lending bank, on each
anniversary of the date falling
immediately after the original
maturity date) based on the PBOC
Benchmark Rate then in effect as
prescribed in the facility agreement.

As at 31 December 2011, the total
outstanding principal was RMB154
million (approximately HK$190.1
million) and the extent of the
Guarantee was for the same
amount.

. The loan is repayable by

installments scheduled over the
term of the loan as provided in the
facility agreement, with the final
maturity date falling on 30 August
2021.
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Continuing Connected Transactions (Continued)
(i) Guarantees to CRE and its subsidiaries (Continued)

a. The Guarantees (Continued)

(2) Date

Project company
(borrower)

Amount secured

. 3 March 2006

 BERANEE (B%) BRAA

(Hong Kong Wind Power (Muling)
Company Limited), which is
currently a non-wholly owned
subsidiary of CRE.

. The Guarantee provided for this

project company was given in
favour of the bank to secure
repayment of all monies due from
the operating company to the bank
under the loan facility, including the
principals, interests accrued and
losses, damages and other monies
payable under the loan facility.

The loan in the sum of RMB200
million (approximately HK$246.8
million) was originally granted and
utilized. The loan was a term loan
and carried interest, settled
quarterly, at such annual rate as
agreed with lending bank,
determined by reference to PBOC
Benchmark Rate for loans of the
same grade and tenure. The
interest rate will be adjusted
annually on each anniversary of the
date of related advancement (and,
in relation to an extended term
agreed by lending bank, on each
anniversary of the date falling
immediately after the original
maturity date) based on the PBOC
Benchmark Rate then in effect, as
prescribed in the facility agreement.
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Continuing Connected Transactions (Continued)
(i) Guarantees to CRE and its subsidiaries (Continued)

a. The Guarantees (Continued)

Repayment and
maturity dates of
loan facility

(8 Date

Project company
(borrower)

Amount secured

As at 31 December 2011, the total
outstanding principal was RMB154
million (approximately HK$190.1
million); and the extent of the
Guarantee was for the same
amount.

. The loan is repayable by

installments scheduled over the
term of the loan as provided in the
facility agreement over the term of
the loan, with the final maturity date
falling on 27 February 2021.

. 22 December 2008

D BEMTRERO T EHERARBER AR

(Hong Kong New Energy Si Zi
Wang Qi Wind Power Ltd.), which is
currently a wholly-owned subsidiary
of CRE.

. The Guarantee provided for this

project company was given in
favour of the bank to secure
repayment of all monies due from
the operating company to the bank
under the loan facility, including the
principals, interests accrued and
other losses, damages and monies
payable under the loan facility.
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Continuing Connected Transactions (Continued)

(i) Guarantees to CRE and its subsidiaries (Continued)

a. The Guarantees (Continued)

Repayment and
maturity dates of
loan facility

The loan in the sum of RMB300
million (approximately HK$370.3
million) was originally granted and
utilized. The loan was a term loan
and carried interest at such annual
rate as agreed with lending bank,
determined by reference to PBOC
Benchmark Rate for loans of the
same grade and tenure. The
interest rate will be adjusted
annually on each anniversary of the
date of related advancement based
on the PBOC Benchmark Rate then
in effect, as prescribed in the facility
agreement.

As at 31 December 2011, the total
outstanding principal was RMB250
million (approximately HK$308.6
million); and the extent of the
Guarantee was for the same
amount.

. The loan is repayable by

installments scheduled over the
term of the loan as provided in the
facility agreement over the term of
the loan, with the final maturity date
falling on 22 December 2021.
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Continuing Connected Transactions (Continued) HERERS (&)
(i) Guarantees to CRE and its subsidiaries (Continued) (i) EHFEIBEERRHENE QTR

HIgR(48)
b. Loan Facilities b. BiEE

The salient particulars of the Loan Facilities are set out below:

(1) Inter-company advance

Date

Borrower (project

. 13 December 2010

P BARNEE (B%) BRAF

EFEE 2 ERFEEHIWT -
(1) AFREZHK

B P CE-EF

fE7RE BERANEE(BE)

company) (Hong Kong Wind Power (Muling) ) BRAR  BATHE
Company Limited), which is BAERRZIEZER
currently a non wholly-owned BRw]
subsidiary of CRE.

Amount : A sum of RMB14 million G i CRRRZREME
(approximately HK$16.6 million) RAREBEAR
was advanced by a wholly-owned #14,000,000 7T (£
subsidiary of the Company to 16,600,000/ 7T ) Z
directly repay the outstanding bank B3 ARERER
borrowings then due from the EERFEEEER L
project company. WAEERRITEE -
As at 31 December 2011, the inter- RZE——F+_H
company advance was fully repaid. =+—8: RARHER

HELHER -

Terms : The indebtedness recorded on HiR : RARIERE it

inter-company account is
unsecured, interest free and without
fixed repayment date.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)
EEEREE(E)

BERERS (8)
ﬂ*lﬁ’f"ﬁﬁ&ﬁl‘ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ

Continuing Connected Transactions (Continued)
(i) Guarantees to CRE and its subsidiaries (Continued) (i)

HIER (8
b. Loan Facilities (Continued) b. B t”fﬁi‘? (&)
(2)  Standby term loan facility @ (ERATHETFRE
Date : 8 July 2008 and renewed on B T ZEENFLA
8 December 2009 NB(RZZZNEF
+-ANREE)
Borrower : CRE f&h C FEBERR
Amount . A standby facility of up to HK$200 o] T ARERMAFEB
million was granted by the FHERRERS
Company to CRE for carrying out 200,000,000 % 7T 2
the alternative energy business HRRME  ENE
where external financing is ETNRHREERZ
insufficient or not obtained. BN TRRETER
BRETS
Availability . The facility is available from 8 July A CRERZETNFL
2009 to 31 December 2009 and ANBEZZTNE
from 1 January 2010 to 31 +-R=1+—H(E
December 2011 after renewal. HEAR=_T—TF
—A—HE-T—
F+ZA=+—81)
AIEENA o
Repayment . On demand within 7 days’ written BE CARATAAREEE
notice by the Company to CRE, BERBE7TEZEER
provided no demand shall be made MESIER - HEPAR
in the first year of drawdown. ROESE—FRN
Where external borrowings are IMT’FH:I'ETMIIZ%
obtained by CRE in substitution for o (iR BB AR
the facility, CRE shall forthwith Z%?%%%M%EWHM
repay the Company a sum BE - AREEER
equivalent to the borrowings RBEBEARLNF -2
together with interest accrued RENBENEESHE
thereon. ERERME 2K
I8 °
Security : Nil g DB
Interest . Interest will accrue at annual rate of k)  ERBITRERRE
2% above the prevailing prime MEFE2[EE B
lending rate and payable monthly in WG A BB -
arrears.
Expiry . The facility expired on 31 December & CTRER-E——F
2011, +ZA=+—-H
JE
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Report of the Directors (Continued)
EEEREEE)

Opinion from the Independent Non-executive Directors
on the continuing connected transactions

In accordance with rule 14A.37 of the Listing Rules, the Independent Non-
executive Directors of the Company have reviewed and approved the
continuing connected transactions described in () and (i) above (“Continuing
Connected Transactions”) and confirmed that the Continuing Connected
Transactions were carried out in accordance with the following principles:

(@  inthe ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(o)  on normal commercial terms no less favourable than terms available to
(or from) independent third parties;

(c) inaccordance with the terms of the relevant agreements governing the
Continuing Connected Transactions; and

(d)  on a fair and reasonable basis and in the interest of the Company and
its shareholders as a whole.

Report from the auditor on the continuing connected
transactions

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s continuing
connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on
Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits
or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice
Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under
the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. The auditor has issued his unqualified letter containing
his findings and conclusions in respect of the abovementioned continuing
connected transactions disclosed by the Group in accordance with the Main
Board Listing Rule 14A.38. A copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided
by the Company to The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
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Management Contract

Apart from those disclosed under the heading “Related Party Transactions” in
note 42 to the consolidated financial statements, no contracts concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Company were entered into or existed during the year.

Major Customers and Suppliers

The percentages of the Group’s purchases and sales for the year attributable
to its major suppliers and customers are as follows:

Purchases

The largest supplier 10.9%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate 38.6%
Sales

The largest customer 15.5%
Five largest customers in aggregate 35.8%

None of the Directors, any of their associates, or shareholders of the
Company (which to the knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the
Company’s issued share capital) had any interest in the Group’s five largest
suppliers or customers noted above.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)
EEEREEE)

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the Company’s Listed
Securities

During the year ended 31 December 2011, neither the Company nor its
subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities.

Corporate Governance

The Company’s corporate governance practices are set out in the Corporate
Governance Report on pages 14 to 25.

Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its own code of conduct
regarding Directors’ securities transactions. Specified employees who are
likely to be in possession of unpublished price-sensitive information of the
Group are also subject to compliance with guidelines on no less exacting
terms than the Model Code. A Code for Securities Dealings by Employees
has also been adopted in this regard.

Retirement Benefits Schemes

Information on the Group’s retirement benefits schemes is set out in note 11a
to the consolidated financial statements.

Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this report, there is sufficient
public float of more than 25% of the Company’s issued shares as required
under the Listing Rules.

Review of the Audited Financial Statements by Audit
Committee

The audit committee of the Company comprises four independent non-
executive directors with written terms of reference in accordance with the
requirements of the Listing Rules, and reports to the Board. The audit
committee has reviewed the audited consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2011.
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Auditor

The consolidated financial statements for the year have been audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers who retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for
reappointment. A resolution for the reappointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers as
auditor of the Company is to be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

Update on Directors’ Information

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, changes in the information of
the Directors since the date of the 2011 Interim Report are set out below:

Mr. FAN Yan Hok, Philip (Independent Non-executive
Director)

On 1 December, 2011, Mr. FAN was appointed as an independent director of
Goodman Group, which is listed on the Australian Securities Exchange.

Mr. CHUNG Cho Yee, Mico (Independent Non-
executive Director)

Mr. CHUNG was appointed as a non-executive director of HKT Limited and
HKT Management Limited (in its capacity as the trustee — manager of the
HKT Trust) on 11 November 2011. Mr. CHUNG resigned as a non-executive
director of PCCW Limited, a company listed on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange on 29 November 2011.

By Order of the Board

HKC (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

CHANG Li Hsien, Leslie

Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 22 March 2012
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B 2 AR S

R

pwec

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF HKC (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of HKC (Holdings)
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) set out
on pages 70 to 192, which comprise the consolidated and company balance
sheets as at 31 December 2011, and the consolidated income statement,
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow statement for
the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and
other explanatory information.

Directors’ responsibility for the consolidated financial
statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

22/F Prince’s Building, Central, Hong Kong
Tel: +852 2289 8888 Fax : +852 2810 9888
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Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements based on our audit and to report our opinion solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 31 December
2011, and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been

properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 22 March 2012
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Consolidated Income Statement
ll‘/-.r\ % <$

For the year ended 31 December 2011
BE_ZT——F+-_A=+—HLEE

2011 2010
—E——F —E—FF
Note HK$ Million HK$ Million
FfaE BEBET BESAT
Revenue Wz 5 695.5 499.1
Cost of sales SHE A (380.3) (347.3)
Gross profit EF 315.2 151.8
Other income E A 6 666.6 54.7
Fair value adjustments on investment LEYE
properties NEEFHE 16 (142.0) (98.9)
Provision for impairment losses on assets B EREEERE 7 (26.0) (38.0)
Selling and distribution costs $HEE &2 2 $HBCA (34.6) 9.7)
Administrative expenses 1TEEHR (279.0) (258.3)
Other and general expenses B R—mRER (120.2) (83.9)
Operating profit/(loss) KRR (ER) 8 380.0 (282.3)
Finance income R LN 9 29.0 18.9
Finance costs BE KA (192.4) (225.6)
Finance costs — net BE B AN ERE (163.4) (206.7)
Share of profits less losses of FE(GEE A T
associated companies i ) e s 18 22 111.2 89.9
Share of profits less losses of JEEE & AT
jointly controlled entities St A RUE 18 23 (17.6) (14.9)
Profit/(loss) before income tax Fris®ianER (B5R) 310.2 (414.0)
Income tax (expense)/credit FTs Rt (i), % 12 (120.4) 17.8
Profit/(loss) for the year REERF(EE) 189.8 (396.2)
Attributable to: LU FEA
Equity holders of the Company RARRERREA 13 241.3 (293.8)
Non-controlling interests Eealiig (51.5) (102.4)
189.8 (896.2)
Earnings/(loss) per share for profit/(loss) AATRRRERIFEA
attributable to equity holders FEAEER (B518) 2
of the Company, expressed in FREBA,(&E)
HK cents per share SR BALTIR 14
Basic HAR 2.3 (2.8)
Diluted e 2.1 2.9)
Special cash dividends SRR ERE
(before distribution in kind) (RAEY 2 IKAT) 15
First, paid BX - B 108.3 =
Second, proposed FTIR - BORT 108.3 -
216.6 =
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
SMEEHEERRK

For the year ended 31 December 2011
HE_Z——F+_A=1+—HILLFE

2011 2010
—_=2——F —E—FF
HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEBT BEAT
Profit/(loss) for the year REERAN(EE) 189.8 (396.2)
Other comprehensive income HibZ2EUA
Fair value gains on available-for-sale financial assets A ESREE N T E R 1.0 3.2
Currency translation differences FERE =8 478.5 519.1
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax ANFEEHMEEUWA @ HIKRFE 479.5 522.3
Total comprehensive income for the year ANEEEHW AL 669.3 126.1
Total comprehensive income/(loss) attributable to: DUR 2T (B518) 4858 -
Equity holders of the Company RRFRREREEA 681.8 178.8
Non-controlling interests el (12.5) (52.7)
669.3 126.1
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

meBEEAER

As at 31 December 2011
R=F——F+-A=+-8

31 December 31 December
2011 2010
—E——-F —E-TF
+=A=+—HB +=A=+—A~
Note HK$ Million HK$ Million
i3 BEBT BEBT
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets FraEE
Investment properties REME 16 5,966.3 6,187.0
Prepaid land lease payments B LA ER 17 3,370.0 3,283.6
Property, plant and equipment I - R AR
— Other property, plant and equipment —HtE - R REE 18 1,370.2 912.9
- Construction in progress —EETRE 18 47.9 496.3
Intangible assets BREE 19 1,206.1 1,163.6
Properties under development Ry 20 917.1 456.3
Interests in associated companies NN 22 1,118.6 1,583.6
Interests in jointly controlled entities RN £ 23 2,069.1 1,916.5
Derivative financial instrument TESRBTIA 24 - 5.0
Available-for-sale financial assets AHEEMERE 25 31.8 31.3
Non-current receivable FERENFE LR 30 295.6 -
Total non-current assets FRBEELRE 16,392.7 16,036.1
Current assets REEE
Inventories "E 27 10.4 12.7
Properties held for sale EHERBZ ME 28 157.6 370.8
Financial assets at fair value through BAFEEBERIIEZ
profit or loss CRIEE 29 14.0 13.6
Trade and other receivables JRE M R 50 % L i R LR 30 425.8 385.1
Restricted cash XREIRE 32 273.5 320.6
Cash and cash equivalents HERELZEY 33 3,115.0 1,903.3
3,996.3 3,006.1
Assets of disposal group classified as held FEFENREANEE
for sale 44 - 1,022.8
Total current assets RBIEEHSEE 3,996.3 4,028.9
Total assets BEEHAR 20,389.0 20,065.0
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As at 31 December 2011
R—F—F+=-_A=+—8H

31 December 31 December
2011 2010
—E2——F —T-FF
+=H=+—-H +=A=1+—H
Note HK$ Million HK$ Million
B aE BEBT BEBT
EQUITY Em
Capital and reserves attributable to equity RATRRBEEZE AR,
holders of the Company BERRRE
Share capital AR AR 34 108.3 103.8
Reserves (E= 69 12,271.4 12,398.5
Proposed special dividend BRERIRE S 15 108.3 -
Equity attributable to equity holders of RAFRRERSE AELER
the Company 12,488.0 12,502.3
Non-controlling interests JEE R R 1,792.4 1,142.6
Total equity EmEss 14,280.4 13,644.9
LIABILITIES g8
Non-current liabilities FRBERE
Borrowings e 36 2,990.9 2,942.6
Other non-current payables HibIERBNER TR 19.5 323.9
Deferred income tax liabilities EEFEHEaR 38 1,116.0 1,117.8
Total non-current liabilities FREEERLE 4,126.4 4,384.3
Current liabilities TEEE
Trade and other payables JEASH AR IR e Lt FE 515K 37 1,130.6 902.0
Borrowings CEN 36 740.0 739.8
Derivative liability PTETHEAE 39 9.4 75.5
Current income tax liabilities BIEFEHAaE 102.2 32.9
1,982.2 1,750.2
Liabilities of disposal group classified as held BEFENEEENERE
for sale 44 - 285.6
Total current liabilities REAEHELEE 1,982.2 2,035.8
Total liabilities BEE5E 6,108.6 6,420.1
Total equity and liabilities ERREEEE 20,389.0 20,065.0
Net current assets BB EFE 2,014.1 1,993.1
Total assets less current liabilities ERAERTBEE 18,406.8 18,029.2
OEI Kang, Eric =]
CHANG Li Hsien, Leslie RV
Directors 5%
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Balance Sheet
EE8E

As at 31 December 2011
R=F——F+-A=+-8

2011 2010
— —T-TF
Note HK$ Million HK$ Million
MisE BEET BEAT
ASSETS BiE
Non-current asset FREEE
Investments in subsidiaries RSB AR ZI%E 21 166.9 168.0
Current assets RBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries AN NG E e 21 9,478.7 10,162.1
Financial assets at fair value through BEATEEEERYEZ
profit or loss CRUEE 29 - 0.3
Other receivables HAb fEUGR 30 1.1 1.7
Cash and cash equivalents R MRS EEY 33 409.6 4.9
Total current assets MENVEEHRE 9,889.4 10,169.0
Total assets BEEAE 10,056.3 10,337.0
EQUITY FEm
Capital and reserves attributable to equity <A TR RERIFE AEMN
holders of the Company EARK G
Share capital R 34 108.3 1083.8
Reserves Hf 35 9,825.6 10,222.9
Proposed special dividend R EFRIAR S 15 108.3 =
Total equity FERAAZE 10,042.2 10,326.7
Current liability mEIEE
Other payables H A FE IR 37 141 10.3
Total liability BEHEEE 141 10.3
Total equity and liability EnkEaE85E 10,056.3 10,337.0
OEI Kang, Eric =
CHANG Li Hsien, Leslie RV
Directors =
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

SRRBEE

For the year ended 31 December 2011
HE_Z——F+_A=1+—HILLFE

an\

Attributable
to equity Non-
holders of controlling Total
the Company interests equity
RAF
R R
BEAENL TR 4%
Note HK$ Million HK$ Million HK$ Million
BiEE BEST BEAT BESAT
Balance at 1 January 2010 R-ZT—ZF
—B—H#&k 12,429.5 974.4 13,403.9
Comprehensive income ZHEBA
Loss for the year AN E51E (293.8) (102.4) (396.2)
Other comprehensive income Hih 2w A
Fair value gains on available-for-sale  AJftHE LRI EE
financial assets A ERE 35 3.2 - 3.2
Currency translation differences [E R B =58 35 469.4 49.7 519.1
Total comprehensive income/(loss) ZREE2EURA
for the year (B518) 4258 178.8 (62.7) 126.1
Transactions with owners BEREEAZRS
Employee share option benefits & B EARAERE A 35 6.4) 1.6 (4.8)
Exercise of bonus warrants TR AL R AR FE7E 34, 35 15.3 - 15.3
Repurchase of shares AT 34, 35 (1.3) = (1.9
Release of reserve upon liquidation of FA—FE: & A TS AR
an associated company BRI (0.1) = ©.1)
Changes in ownership interests in AT REA BB
subsidiaries that do not result in a NEIZ FEERE
loss of control arising from the {BREB LK
following factors
— issue of preference shares by a —AEE—FHHBA
subsidiary of the Group to Al A FEIEAR AR ER
non-controlling shareholders EITIE SRR - 103.6 103.6
— exercise of a listed subsidiary’s — I AEEDR—
bonus warrants, distributed by il _E b/ A Bl
the Group 2 AT R R R (1.4) 3.7 2.3
— distribution of certain shares of a —DIERASKEFTIFE
subsidiary held by the Group —FRBARZ
HTRG (39.3) 39.3 =
— disposal of alternative energy —HEBENRELIRER
business to a non-wholly TS E—REFE
owned subsidiary of the Group 2EMBRA 35 8.1 (8.1) -
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For the year ended 31 December 2011

E-_T——&F+-A=+—HItEE
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Attributable
to equity Non-
holders of controlling Total
the Company interests equity
RAF
R R
A AENL TR ey oG]
Note HK$ Million HK$ Million HK$ Million
BiEE BEATT BEAT BEAT
Proposed distribution of proceeds ke — B IEIERR AR R
from sale of equity interest of a FERHE—FEHEA
subsidiary to a non-controlling AR AR = TS UE
shareholder 35 (80.9) 80.9 -
Dividends paid to non-controlling B IR AR R AR S
shareholders - (2.4) (2.4)
Decrease in amounts due from a FEUL— & FEFEAR AR R
non-controlling shareholder FIE R - 2.3 2.3
Total transactions with owners BEEEAZR ZB5E (106.0) 220.9 114.9
Balance at 31 December 2010 NoE—ZF
TZA=+—H%8 12,502.3 1,142.6 13,644.9
Balance at 1 January 2011 R-E——F
— B —B#5% 12,502.3 1,142.6 13,644.9
Comprehensive income Z2HEBA
Profit/(loss) for the year NEHEF, (EE) 241.3 (51.5) 189.8
Other comprehensive income =g ON
Fair value gains on available-for-sale  AJftHE LRI EE
financial assets A ERE 35 1.0 - 1.0
Currency translation differences [E R B =58 35 439.5 39.0 478.5
Total comprehensive income/ KEEZEBA
(loss) for the year (E518) 5 681.8 (12.5) 669.3
Transactions with owners HEBAZRS
Employee share option benefits & B BB AR #EE1E T 35 3.1 1.6 4.7
Exercise of bonus warrants TR AL TR A RS 34,35 160.8 - 160.8
Release of reserves BRER G
— upon disposal of subsidiaries — HEHB A Al (202.7) (2.1) (204.8)
— upon disposal of an associated — & —fEE &
company NGl (129.5) - (129.5)




For the year ended 31 December 2011
HE_Z——F+_A=1+—HILLFE

Attributable
to equity Non-
holders of controlling Total
the Company interests equity
RAF
IR ER
BEAENL TR ey oG]
Note HK$ Million HK$ Million HK$ Million
BiEE BEATT BEATT BEAT
Changes in ownership interests in AT RA BB
subsidiaries that do not result in a NCIWE 2o S
loss of control arising from the BARBBUR AT
following factors
— exercise of a listed subsidiary’s —ITEREE D IR—
bonus warrants, distributed by BN EPNG
the Group 2 AT R R (31.0) 81.1 50.1
— conversion of convertible —ERAREEMES
preference shares and —FfBARZ
distribution of certain shares of AJHRRR B e A% B
a subsidiary held by the Group AikE TG 35 (382.6) 382.6 -
2011 special cash dividend paid —T——FE
FRRERE (108.3) - (108.3)
Contribution from a non-controling K& —REIHI B AR 2
shareholder in a subsidiary — BRI E - 196.9 196.9
Distribution of proceeds from sale of  [A—44 FEIZ=RR AR B iR
equity interest of a subsidiary to a HE—fEHT B AR
non-controlling shareholder IR A HE 2= P15 5K IR 35 (5.9) 5.9 -
Dividends paid to non-controlling B TR RS
shareholders - (6.1) (6.1)
Decrease in amounts due from a JEUR — 2 FEFE AR AR R
non-controlling shareholder FIE R - 2.4 2.4
Total transactions with owners BHEBAZR S5 (696.1) 662.3 (33.8)
Balance at 31 December 2011 N_E——F
TZA=t+—H#8R 12,488.0 1,792.4 14,280.4
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

n‘/-.r\/\Iﬁ'ﬁlﬂlJE%

For the year ended 31 December 2011
BE_ZT——F+-_A=+—HLEE

2011 2010
—=——F —T—TF
Note HK$ Million HK$ Million
FfaE BEBT BEAT
Cash flows used in operating activities AR THERE
Cash used in operations CETAES 43(a) (122.8) (98.0)
Income tax paid, net B FEEFRE (83.5) (2.9)
Net cash used in operating activities RS H TR T FIR £ F 5 (206.3) (100.5)
Cash flows from investing activities RETE 2 EERE
Interest received RGPS 29.0 18.9
Dividend received EH&ZH&% 26.1 76.3
Construction costs paid for investment ENERTEEYEZ
properties under development FREERK AN 47.1) (9.9)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEYEE MBI NRE (67.6) (1.5)
Purchase of intangible assets BEEFEE (1.4) -
Proceeds from the disposal of HEFB IR
— Prepaid land lease payments — B L EE R 33.7
— Property, plant and equipment —WnE - W N ERAE 71 1.1
— Financial assets at fair value through — IR A T EEEZERIIEY
profit and loss FRIEE - 58.7
— Available for sale financial assets — At ESREE 1.4 -
— Subsidiaries —MB AR 43(c) 950.5 -
— Associated companies /N 577.1 =
Increase in net advances to jointly controlled  [A]& & /A B & R E8 N
entities 91.7) (1.7)
Increase in net advances to associated Bl NG -
companies (0.5) -
Net cash generated from investing activities KEEHTEIRE F5E 1,382.9 175.6
Cash flows from financing activities RETEH2RERE
Proceeds from exercise of share warrants 1T{E R 2 TS 20A 210.9 17.3
Payment for repurchase of ordinary shares AR AN e - (1.3)
Repayment of bank borrowings and other loans &35 87718 7% &2 Eqth B 5% (587.6) (542.5)
Decrease/(increase) in restricted cash SRR SR (38 ) 471 (11.6)
Increase in bank borrowings and other loans #8478 7 R Eofth B 3K 3 0 512.2 511.2
Decrease in amount due to a shareholder e —Z IR R IE R - (362.1)
Contribution from a non-controlling shareholder 2k & — &I B A 7l 2 — & FEZR%
in a subsidiary BFFE 196.9 195.0
Dividends paid to Company’s shareholders BENARARKREREE (108.3) -
Dividends paid to non-controlling shareholders 215 JE42 A% A% 5A% &, (88.9) (2.4)
Interest paid EFLE (212.8) (249.7)
Net cash used in financing activities BB RSB FTRIR S R (30.5) (446.1)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash RERIBESZEBYREM,CHL)
equivalents REE 1,146.1 (871.0)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January R—A—RBAZHRERASEED 1,903.3 2,210.0
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes EREE) 2 65.6 75.6
3,115.0 1,914.6
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December R+-—A=+—H2ZHE 2 NEL
ZEW 3,115.0 1,903.3
Cash and cash equivalents of disposal group HFEFRENREANFEE NIEE
classified as held for sale FEY - 1.3
3,115.0 1,914.6
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

General information

HKC (Holdings) Limited (the “Company” or “HKC”) is a limited liability
company incorporated in Bermuda. The address of its registered office
is Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda.

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) are
principally engaged in the business of property development and
investment, alternative energy investment and operation, infrastructure
and construction. The investments of the Group are mainly located in
the Mainland China.

The shares of the Company are listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

These consolidated financial statements are presented in million of units
of Hong Kong dollars (HK$ Million), unless otherwise stated. These
consolidated financial statements were approved for issue by the Board
of Directors on 22 March 2012.

Summary of significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies
have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless
otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of HKC (Holdings) Limited
have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (‘HKFRS”). They have been prepared under
the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation
of investment properties, available-for-sale financial assets,
and financial assets and financial liabilities (including derivative
financial instrument) at fair value through profit or loss.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRS
requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also
requires management to exercise its judgement in the process
of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving
a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated
financial statements, are disclosed in Note 4.

e IR R AR M R

— R
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continveq)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)
Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

@

(b)

80

New and amended standards adopted by the Group

HKAS 24 (Revised) Related party disclosures

HKFRSs Third improvement project in
2010

The above new and amended standards and interpretation,
which are mandatory for the first time for the financial year
beginning 1 January 2011, do not have material impact on
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2011.

New and amended standards, and interpretations
mandatory for the first time for the financial year beginning
1 January 2011 but not currently relevant to the Group
(although they may affect the accounting for future
transactions and events)

HKAS 32 (Amendment) Classification of rights issues

HKFRS1 (Amendment)  Limited exemption from
comparative HKFRS 7

disclosures for first-time

adopters
HK(IFRIC) — Int 14 Prepayments of a minimum
(Amendment) funding requirement
HK(FRIC) — Int 19 Extinguishing financial liabilities

with equity instruments

HKC (Holdings) Limited ® Annual Report 2011
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continves) 2
2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

Changes in accounting policy and disclosures BT BRRIEE ()
(Continued)
(c) New standards, amendments and interpretations have © RZFE——F—HA—HAFHEZ

BB F B B AR 1A 15 K 2B
A RE B e PR Z T E
Al BETA Rt FE

NTRERMBABAEE T
——F—RB—BHaAERRZ
AEE S HEEREHER
HIER - EAKEYL ER R

been issued but are not effective for the financial year
beginning 1 January 2011 and have not been early
adopted

The following standards and amendments to existing
standards have been published and are mandatory for
the Group’s accounting periods beginning on or after 1

January 2012 or later periods, but the Group has not early

adopted them: N2 R R EIR A 2RI 2 87T ¢
Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after
RTH Bz %
Bt 2 ST HIR £
HKFRS 9 Financial instruments 1 January 2015
BB REERFE 5 SRIA “T-hF—HA—H
HKFRS 10 Consolidated financial statements 1 January 2013
BB B EERIE105% e BRE —Z—=F—-R—H
HKFRS 11 Joint arrangements 1 January 2013
BB B EERE115% BaRHE —E2—=F—H—H
HKFRS 12 Disclosure of interests in other entities 1 January 2013
BBUTERELERIFE125% BRENEMER B —E—=%5—-H—H
HKFRS 13 Fair value measurement 1 January 2013
BBMTERELERIFE135% NTHERE —2—=%5—HF—H
HKFRS 1 (Amendment) Severe hyperinflation and removal of 1 July 2011

fixed dates for first-time adopters

BEUTEHELERIFE1HRERTAR) BEARREIGRERKAENEE B —2—F+HA—-H
HKFRS 7 (Amendment) Disclosures — transfers of financial assets 1 July 2011
BBUEHELERNET R (ERTA) R - RO REE —T—F+H-H

HKFRS 7 (Amendment)

Financial instruments: disclosures —
offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities

1 January 2013

BB HREERETHR(EFTA) SRIE: BE-—AHeREERSHARE —E2—=%—H—H
HKFRS 7 and HKFRS 9 (Amendments) Mandatory effective date and transition disclosures 1 January 2015
BBUTSIMELERNE T R EBUT sE AR H Y & —Z2-hF—HA—H
WEERIFR (BRI A) RGHE

HKAS 27 (Revised 2011) Separate financial statements 1 January 2013
BB ERE27HR BB Bk —T—=F—R—H

(Z2——FE&E3D)
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continves) 2
2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

Changes in accounting policy and disclosures BT BRRIEE ()
(Continued)
(c) New standards, amendments and interpretations have © RZFE——F—HA—HAFHEZ

BB F B B AR 1A 15 K 2B
A RE B e PR Z T E
A~ EFT AR FE ()

been issued but are not effective for the financial year
beginning 1 January 2011 and have not been early
adopted (Continued)

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after

W5 BEs 2%

Bz et BEEXN

HKAS 28 (Revised 2011) Investments in associates and joint ventures 1 January 2013
BB G4 285 REEE R B RAERAIRRE —Z—=%—H—-H

(ZZ 5B
HKAS 1 (Amendment) Presentation of items of other comprehensive 1 July 2012
income

BB ETTEE1REATAR) Hip2EEIER 251 T+ A—H
HKAS 12 (Amendment) Deferred tax: recovery of underlying assets 1 January 2012
BAGTERE125R(BFTA) EERIE : WA EE —Z2——_F—H—H
HKAS 19 (Amendment) Employee benefits 1 January 2013
BEREGTERE195 (BFTA) e & 787 i =

HKAS 32 (Amendment)

BRGTERERK(EFTA)

HK(FRIC) - Int 20

&5 (BB HRERERZES)
—REFE20%

Financial instruments: presentation
- offsetting financial assets and
financial liabilities
SRIE : 25 -HEenEERSHARE
Stripping costs in the production phase of
a surface mine

BRES L EREBAORIBRAAR

1 January 2014

—T—NFE—H—H
1 January 2013

—T-=%—-A—-H

ZER B3 R R R R B R AR B
R-F——F—A—-BRKZ
S IR 6 R i R AR R A
HEAZEFT R2E - AEE
EEFHAERTE - HERE
BHRARGEELESHARES
ABEEVBEER 25177 A&
RAEFERES -

The Group has not early adopted the new standards,
amendments to standards and interpretations, which have
been issued but are not effective for the financial year
beginning 1 January 2011. The Group has commenced
an assessment of the related impact but is not yet in
a position to state whether any substantial changes to
the Group’s accounting policies and presentation of the
financial information will be resulted.
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2  Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.2 Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and all its subsidiaries made up to
31 December.

@)

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including special purpose
entities) over which the Group has the power to govern the
financial and operating policies generally accompanying
a shareholding of more than one half of the voting rights.
The existence and effect of potential voting rights that
are currently exercisable or convertible are considered
when assessing whether the Group controls another
entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date
on which control is transferred to the Group. They are
de-consolidated from the date that control ceases.

The Group uses the acquisition method of accounting to
account for business combinations. The consideration
transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair
values of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred to
the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests
issued by the Group. The consideration transferred
includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting
from a contingent consideration arrangement. Acquisition-
related costs are expensed as incurred. |dentifiable assets
acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed
in a business combination are measured initially at their
fair values at the acquisition date. On an acquisition-by-
acquisition basis, the Group recognises any non-controlling
interest in the acquiree either at fair value or at the non-
controlling interest’s proportionate share of the recognised
amounts of acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount
of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the
acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in
the acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable net assets
acquired is recorded as goodwill. If this is less than the fair
value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired in the
case of a bargain purchase, the difference is recognised
directly in the statement of comprehensive income.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continveq)

84

2.2 Consolidation (continued)

@

Subsidiaries (Continued)

In the Company’s balance sheet, investments in
subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment.
Cost is adjusted to reflect changes in consideration arising
from contingent consideration amendments. The results
of subsidiaries are accounted for by the company on the
basis of dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving dividends from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income
of the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or
if the carrying amount of the investment in the separate
financial statements exceeds the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements of the investee’s net
assets including goodwiill.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains
on transactions between group companies are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated. Accounting policies
of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary
to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the
Group.

When the Group ceases to have control, any retained
interest in the entity re-measured to its fair value at the
date when control is lost, with the change in carrying
amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair value is the
initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently
accounting for the retained interest as an associated
company, jointly controlled entity or financial asset. In
addition, any amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in respect of that entity are
accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income are
reclassified to profit or loss.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continveq)
2.2 Consolidation (continued)

(b)

()

Transactions with non-controlling interests

The Group treats transactions with non-controlling
interests as transactions with equity owners of the
Group. For purchases from non-controlling interests,
the difference between any consideration paid and the
relevant share acquired of the carrying value of net assets
of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on
disposals to non-controlling interests are also recorded in
equity.

When the Group ceases to have control or significant
influence, any retained interest in the entity is remeasured
to its fair value at the date when control is lost, with the
change in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. The
fair value is the initial carrying amount for the purposes of
subsequently accounting for the retained interest as an
associate, joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in respect of that entity are accounted for as if
the Group had directly disposed of the related assets
or liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified
to profit or loss.

If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but
significant influence is retained, only a proportionate
share of the amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss
where appropriate.

Associated companies

Associated companies are all entities over which the
Group has significant influence but not control, generally
accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and 50% of
the voting rights. Under the equity method of accounting,
the investment is initially recognised at cost, and the
carrying amount is increased or decreased to recognise
the investor’s share of the profit or loss of the investee
after the date of acquisition. The Group’s investment
in associated companies includes goodwill (net of any
accumulated impairment loss) identified on acquisition.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continveq)
2.2 Consolidation (continued)

86

()

(@

Associated companies (Continued)

The Group’s share of its associated companies’
post-acquisition profits or losses is recognised in the
consolidated income statement, and its share of post-
acquisition movements in other comprehensive income
is recognised in other comprehensive income. The
cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted
against the carrying amount of the investment. When
the Group’s share of losses in an associated company
equals or exceeds its interest in the associated company,
including any other unsecured receivables, the Group does
not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred legal or
constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of
the associated company.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and
its associated companies are eliminated to the extent of the
Group’s interest in the associated companies. Unrealised
losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Accounting policies of associated companies have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.

Dilution gains and losses arising in investments in
associated companies are recognised in consolidated
income statement.

In the Company’s balance sheet the investments in
associated companies are stated at cost less provision for
impairment losses. The results of associated companies
are accounted for by the Company on the basis of
dividend received and receivable.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and
are recognised within other income or other and general
expenses in the consolidated income statement.

Jointly controlled entities

A jointly controlled entity is a contractual arrangement
whereby the Group and other parties undertake an
economic activity which is subject to joint control and none
of the participating parties has unilateral control over the
economic activity.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continveq)
2.2 Consolidation (continued)

(e}

Jointly controlled entities (Continued)

Investments in jointly controlled entities are accounted for
by the equity method of accounting. The consolidated
income statement includes the Group’s share of the
results of jointly controlled entities for the year, and the
consolidated balance sheet includes the Group’s share of
the net assets of the jointly controlled entities and goodwill
(net of any accumulated impairment loss) on acquisition.

In the Company’s balance sheet, the investments in
jointly controlled entities are stated at cost less provision
for impairment losses. The results of jointly controlled
entities are accounted for by the Company on the basis of
dividends received and receivables.

2.3 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with
the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-
maker (“CODM”). The CODM, who is responsible for allocating
resources and assessing performance of the operating
segments, has been identified as the Group’s most senior
executive management that makes strategic decisions.

2.4

Foreign currency translation

@

(®)

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each of the
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates
(the “functional currency”). The Company’s functional
currency is Renminbi and the Group’s presentation
currency is Hong Kong dollars to facilitate analysis of the
financial information of the Group, which is listed in Hong
Kong.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of the transactions or valuation where items
are remeasured. Foreign exchange gains and losses
resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from
the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
recognised in the consolidated income statement.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continveq)
2.4 Foreign currency translation continued)

88

(b)

()

Transactions and balances (Continued)

Changes in the fair value of monetary securities
denominated in foreign currency classified as available-
for-sale are analysed between translation differences
resulting from changes in the amortised cost of the
security, and other changes in the carrying amount of the
security. Translation differences related to changes in the
amortised cost are recognised in profit or loss, and other
changes in the carrying amount are recognised in other
comprehensive income.

Translation differences on non-monetary financial assets
and liabilities such as equities held at fair value through
profit or loss are recognised in profit or loss as part of
the fair value gain or loss. Translation difference on non-
monetary financial assets such as equities classified as
available for sale are included in other comprehensive
income.

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the group entities
(none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary
economy) that have a functional currency different from the
presentation currency are translated into the presentation
currency as follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each balance sheet
presented are translated at the closing rate at the
date of that balance sheet;

(ii) income and expenses for each consolidated income
statement are translated at average exchange
rates (unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates
prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case
income and expenses are translated at the dates of
the transactions); and

@iy all resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continveq)

2.4 Foreign currency translation continued)

(©

@

Group companies (Continued)

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of the net investment in foreign operations are
taken to other comprehensive income. When a foreign
operation is partially disposed of or sold, exchange
differences that were recorded in equity are recognised in
the income statement as part of the gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing
rate. Exchange differences are recognised in equity.

Disposal of foreign operation and partial disposal
On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal
of the group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a
disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation, a disposal involving loss of
joint control over a jointly controlled entity that includes a
foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of significant
influence over an associate that includes a foreign
operation), all of the exchange differences accumulated in
equity in respect of that operation attributable to the equity
holders of the company are reclassified to profit or loss.

In the case of a partial disposal that does not result in
the Group losing control over a subsidiary that includes a
foreign operation, the proportionate share of accumulated
exchange differences are re-attributed to non-controlling
interests and are not recognised in profit or loss. For all
other partial disposals (that is, reductions in the Group’s
ownership interest in associates or jointly controlled entities
that do not result in the Group losing significant influence
or joint control) the proportionate share of the accumulated
exchange difference is reclassified to profit or loss.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

90

2.5 Property, plant and equipment

Properties are interests in land and buildings other than
investment properties. Leasehold land classified as finance lease,
buildings, water utility plant and equipment, electric utility plant
and equipment, other plant and equipment, comprising plant
and machineries, motor vehicles and furniture and fixtures are
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is
directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

No depreciation is provided on properties under development.

Leasehold land classified as finance lease commences
amortisation from the time when the land interest becomes
available for its intended use. Amortisation on leasehold land
classified as finance lease and depreciation on other assets is
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their cost to
their residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Leasehold land classified
as finance lease

shorter of remaining lease
term or useful life

Buildings 50 years
Water utility plant and equipment 15 years
Electric utility plant and equipment 20 years

Other plant and equipment 3to 15 years
The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date.

All direct and indirect costs relating to the construction of
property, plant and equipment, including borrowing costs during
the construction period are capitalised as the costs of the assets,
which are classified as construction in progress. No depreciation
is provided on construction in progress until such times as the
relevant assets are completed and available for intended use.

Subsequent costs are included in the carrying amount of the
asset or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only
when it is probable that future economic benefits associated
with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of item can be
measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged in
the consolidated income statement during the financial period in
which they are incurred.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.5

2.6

Property, plant and equipment Continued)

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than
its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the
proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised within
other income or other and general expenses in the consolidated
income statement.

Investment properties

Investment property, principally comprising leasehold land and
buildings, is held for long-term rental yields and is not occupied
by the Group. Land held under operating leases are accounted
for as investment properties when the rest of the definition of an
investment property is met. In such cases, the operating leases
concerned are accounted for as if they were finance leases.

Property that is being constructed or developed as investment
property is carried at fair value. Where fair value is not
determinable, such investment property under construction
is measured at cost until either its fair value becomes reliably
determinable or construction is completed (whichever is earlier).

Investment property is initially measured at cost, including related
transaction costs. After initial recognition at cost investment
properties are carried at fair value, representing open market
value determined at each reporting date by external valuers. Fair
value is based on active market prices, adjusted, if necessary,
for any difference in the nature, location or condition of the
specific asset. If the information is not available, the group uses
alternative valuation methods such as recent prices on less active
markets or discounted cash flow projections. These valuations
are reviewed annually by Knight Frank Petty Limited (“Knight
Frank”), an independent professional valuer.

The fair value of investment property reflects, among other
things, rental income from current leases and assumptions about
rental income from future leases in the light of current market
conditions.

The fair value also reflects, on a similar basis, any cash outflows
that could be expected in respect of the property. Some of those
outflows are recognised as a liability, including finance lease
liabilities in respect of land classified as investment property,
others, including contingent rent payments, are not recognised in
the financial statements.
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2  Summary of significant accounting policies (continveq)

92

2.6

2.7

2.8

Investment properties (continued)

Subsequently expenditure is included in the asset’s carrying
amount only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the asset will flow to the Group and the cost
of the asset can be measured reliably. All other repairs and
maintenance costs are expensed in the consolidated income
statement during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Changes in fair values are recorded as part of a valuation gain
or loss in fair value adjustments on investment properties in
consolidated income statement.

Prepaid land lease payments

Prepaid land lease payments represent prepayments for
leasehold land held under operating leases, which are stated at
cost and subsequently are amortised in the consolidated income
statement on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease
or when there is impairment, the impairment is expensed in the
consolidated income statement. Upon obtaining the land use
right certificates, the costs paid for land use rights are transferred
to prepaid land lease payments. During the course of the
properties development, the amortisation is included as part of
the costs of the properties under development.

Completed properties held for sale

Properties held for sale are initially measured at the carrying
amount of the property at the date of reclassification from
properties under development. Properties remaining unsold
at the end of the year are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value.

Cost comprises development costs attributable to the unsold
properties.

Net realisable value represents the management’s estimated
selling price based on prevailing market conditions less costs to
be incurred in selling the property.

The Company transfers a property from investment property to
inventories/properties held for sale when and only when there is
a change in use, evidenced by commencement of development
with a view to sale. The deemed cost of the properties held for
sale transferred from investment property is the fair value of the
property at the date of change in use.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies contives) 2
2.9 Properties under development

Properties under development including the properties developed
for self use or resale comprises development cost of properties
and the costs paid to acquire land use rights which are stated at
the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Net realisable value takes into account the price ultimately
expected to be realised, less applicable variable selling expenses
and the anticipated costs to completion.

Development cost of properties comprises construction costs,
borrowing costs and professional fees incurred during the
development period. On completion, the properties under
development are transferred to completed properties held for
sale.

2.10 Construction in progress

All direct and indirect costs relating to the construction of
property, plant and equipment including borrowing costs during
the construction period are capitalised as the costs of the assets,
which are classified as construction in progress. On completion,
the construction in progress is transferred to property, plant
and equipment at cost less accumulated impairment losses. No
depreciation is provided on construction in progress.

211 Intangible assets

(@ Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition
over the fair value of the Group’s share in net fair value
of net identifiable assets of the acquired subsidiary at the
date of acquisition. Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries
is included in intangible assets. Separately recognised
goodwill is tested for impairment at every reporting period
end and carried at cost less accumulated impairment
losses. Impairment losses on goodwill are not reversed.
Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the
carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the
purpose of impairment testing. The allocation is made to
those cash-generating units or groups of cash-generating
units that are expected to benefit from the business
combination in which the goodwill arose.
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2  Summary of significant accounting policies (continveq)
2.11 Intangible assets (continued)

94

(b)

()

Concession rights

The costs incurred for the construction or upgrade
work or the acquisition of the toll road under the service
concession arrangements of the Group with relevant local
governments are accounted for an intangible asset if the
Group receives a right to charge users of the toll road.

These expenditures are amortised on an units-of-usage
basis, making reference to the proportion of actual traffic
volume achieved for a particular period over the total
projected traffic volume throughout the periods within
which the Group is granted the rights to operate the
toll road. The total projected volume of the respective
concession right is reviewed regularly with reference to
both internal and external sources of information and
appropriate adjustments are made should there be a
material change.

Land use rights acquired in conjunction with the service
concession arrangement which the Group has no
discretion or latitude to deploy for other services other than
the use in the service concession are treated as intangible
assets.

Other intangible assets

Other intangible assets acquired in a business combination
are recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Other
intangible assets have a finite useful life and are carried
at cost less accumulated impairment and amortisation.
Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method
over their estimated useful lives of five years.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies continvesy 2 FEESFTBERBME 2)

2.12 Impairment of investments in subsidiaries,

associated companies, jointly controlled
entities and non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life or intangible assets
not ready to use are not subject to amortisation and are tested
annually for impairment. Assets which are subject to amortisation
are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount
by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair
value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of
assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for
which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating
units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an
impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment
at each reporting date.

2.13 Non-current assets (or disposal groups) held

for sale

Non-current assets (or disposal groups) are classified as assets
held for sale when their carrying amount is to be recovered
principally through a sale transaction and a sale is considered
highly probable. They are stated at the lower of carrying amount
and fair value less costs to sell.

2.14 Construction contracts

Contract costs are recognised as an expense by reference to
the stage of completion of the contract activity at the end of the
reporting period. When the outcome of a construction contract
cannot be estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognised
only to the extent of contract costs incurred that are likely to be
recoverable. When the outcome of a construction contract can
be estimated reliably and it is probable that the contract will be
profitable, contract revenue is recognised over the period of
the contract by reference to the stage of completion. When it
is probable that total contract costs will exceed total contract
revenue, the expected loss is recognised as an expense
immediately.

Variations in contract work, claims and incentive payments are
included in contract revenue to the extent that may have been
agreed with the customer and are capable of being reliably
measured.
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2  Summary of significant accounting policies (continveq)

96

2.14 Construction contracts (Continued)

The Group uses the “percentage of completion method” to
determine the appropriate amount to recognise in a given period.
The stage of completion is measured by reference to contract
costs incurred up to the balance sheet date as a percentage of
total estimated costs for each contract. Costs incurred in the
year in connection with future activity on a contract are excluded
from contract costs in determining the stage of completion.
They are presented as inventories, prepayments or other assets,
depending on their nature.

The Group presents the net contract position for each contract
as an asset the gross amount due from customers for contract
work for all contracts in progress for which costs incurred plus
recognised profits (less recognised losses) exceed progress
billings. Progress billings not yet paid by customers and
retentions are included within trade and other receivables.

The Group presents the net contract position for each contract as
a liability when the gross amount due to customers for contract
work for all contracts in progress for which progress billings
exceed costs incurred plus recognised profits (less recognised
losses).

2.15 Financial assets

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following
categories: financial assets at fair value through profit or loss,
loans and receivable and available-for-sale. The classification
depends on the purpose for which the financial assets were
acquired. Management determines the classification of its
financial assets at initial recognition.

(@) Financial assets at fair value through profit or

loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
financial assets held for trading. A financial asset is
classified in this category if acquired principally for the
purpose of selling in the short term. Derivatives are
classified as held for trading unless they are designated as
hedges. Assets in this category are classified as current
assets.
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2  Summary of significant accounting policies continves) 2
2.15 Financial assets (continued)

(b) Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted
in an active market. They are included in current assets,
except for maturities greater than twelve months after the
balance sheet date. These are classified as non-current
assets. The Group’s loans and receivables comprise “trade

and other receivables”, “cash and cash equivalents” and
“restricted cash” in the balance sheet.

(c) Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that
are either designated in this category or not classified
in any of the other categories. They are included in
non-current assets unless the investment matures or
management intends to dispose of the investment within
twelve months of the balance sheet date.

Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised
on the trade-date — the date on which the Group commits to
purchase or sell the asset. Investments are initially recognised at
fair value plus transaction costs for all financial assets not carried
at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets carried at fair
value through profit or loss are initially recognised at fair value,
and transaction costs are expensed in the consolidated income
statement. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to
receive cash flows from the investments have expired or have
been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially
all risks and rewards of ownership. Available-for-sale financial
assets and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
are subsequently carried at fair value. Loans and receivables
are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

Gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of the “financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss” category are presented
in the consolidated income statement within other income or
other and general expenses, in the period in which they arise.
Dividend income from financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss is recognised in the consolidated income statement as
part of other income when the Group’s right to receive payments
is established.
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2  Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

98

2.15 Financial assets (Continued)

Changes in the fair value of monetary securities denominated in a
foreign currency and classified as available-for-sale are analysed
between translation differences resulting from changes in
amortised cost of the security and other changes in the carrying
amount of the security. The translation differences on monetary
securities are recognised in the consolidated income statement;
translation differences on non-monetary securities are recognised
in equity. Changes in the fair value of monetary and non-
monetary securities classified as available for sale are recognised
in other comprehensive income.

When securities classified as available for sale are sold or
impaired, the accumulated fair value adjustments recognised
in equity are included in the consolidated income statement as
other income or other and general expenses.

Interest on available-for-sale securities calculated using the
effective interest method is recognised in the consolidated
income statement as part of other income. Dividends on
available-for-sale equity instruments are recognised in the
consolidated income statement as part of other income which
the Group’s right to receive payments is established.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount
reported in the balance sheet when there is a legally enforceable
right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention
to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

For the purposes of assessing the fair value of unlisted securities,
the Group established fair value by using valuation techniques.
These include the use of recent arm’s length transactions,
reference to other instruments that are substantially the same,
discounted cash flow analysis and option pricing models, making
maximum use of market inputs and relying as little as possible on
entity-specific inputs.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continved)
2.15 Financial assets (Continued)

The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there
is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial
assets is impaired. In the case of equity securities classified as
available for sale, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair
value of the security below its cost is considered as an indicator
that the securities are impaired. If any such evidence exists
for available-for-sale financial assets, the cumulative loss —
measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the
current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset
previously recognised in the consolidated income statement — is
removed from equity and recognised in the consolidated income
statement. Impairment losses recognised in the consolidated
income statement on equity instruments are not reversed through
the consolidated income statement.

2.16 Derivative financial instrument

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a
derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently re-
measured at their fair value at each balance sheet date. The
change in the fair value is recognised in the consolidated income
statement.

217 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out (FIFO)
method. The cost of finished goods comprises raw materials,
direct labour, other direct costs and related production
overheads (based on normal operating capacity). It excludes
borrowing costs. Net realisable value is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business, less applicable variable
selling expenses.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies contives) 2
2.18 Trade and other receivables

100

Trade and other receivables, including deposit paid for a property
development project, are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, less provision for impairment. A provision for
impairment of trade and other receivables is established when
there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able
to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of
the receivables. Significant financial difficulties of the debtor,
probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial
reorganisation, and default or delinquency in payments are
considered indicators that the trade receivable is impaired. The
amount of the provision is the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash
flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate. The
amount of the provision is recognised in the consolidated income
statement. When a trade receivable is uncollectible, it is written
off against other expenses in the consolidated income statement.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are
credited to other income in the consolidated income statement.

2.19 Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction
costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised
cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction
costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the consolidated
income statement over the period of the borrowings using the
effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as
transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable that
some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee
is deferred until the draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no
evidence that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity
services and amortised over the period of the facility to which it
relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group
has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at
least twelve months after the balance sheet date.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continved)
2.20 Borrowing costs

221

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which
are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to
get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of
those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready
for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets
is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Borrowing costs incurred for the construction of any qualifying
asset are capitalised during the period of time that is required
to complete and prepare the asset for its intended use. Other
borrowing costs are expensed.

Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated cash flow statement, cash and cash
equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at call with
banks, other short-term highly liquid investments with original
maturities of three months or less, and bank overdrafts. Bank
overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities on the
consolidated balance sheet.

222 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs
directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are
shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Where any group company purchases the company’s equity
share capital (treasury shares), the consideration paid, including
any directly attributable incremental costs (net of income taxes) is
deducted from equity attributable to owners of the company until
the shares are cancelled or reissued. Where such ordinary shares
are subsequently reissued, any consideration received, net of any
directly attributable incremental transaction costs and the related
income tax effects, is included in equity attributable to owners of
the company.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies continesy 2 FEESTBERE 2)

2.23 Trade payables 223 EfTERX

102

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

2.24 Financial liability at fair value through profit or

loss

Financial liability at fair value through profit or loss is financial
liability held for trading. A financial liability is classified in this
category as designated by the Group upon initial recognition.

Gain or losses arising from changes in the fair value of the
“financial liability at fair value through profit or loss” category are
presented in the consolidated income statement in the period in
which they arise.

225 Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred
tax. Tax is recognised in the consolidated income statement,
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax
is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity, respectively.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of
the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance
sheet date in the countries where the Group’s subsidiaries and
associated companies and jointly controlled entities operate and
generate taxable income. Management periodically evaluates
positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which
applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes
provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected
to be paid to the tax authorities.
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Summary of significant accounting policies (continved)
2.25 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred income tax is recognised using the liability method, on
temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated
financial statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill,
the deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a
business combination that at the time of the transaction affects
neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax
is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted
or substantially enacted by the balance sheet date and are
expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is
realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising
on investments in subsidiaries, associated companies and jointly
controlled entities, except for deferred income tax liability where
the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is controlled
by the Group and it is probable that the temporary difference will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes assets
and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either the taxable entity or different taxable entities
where there is an intention to settle the balances on a net basis.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies contives) 2
2.26 Employee benefits

104

(a) Employee leave entitlements @ EEERFEZET
Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service EEREZZFBERRARBK
leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A BRITNEEERZERER -
provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave AR EREREREHESEE
and long service leave as a result of services rendered AZRSFEMEECFRR
by employees up to the balance sheet date. Employee RERBAKRBZ A EETE
entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are not B - EEREZRBRERR
recognised until the time of leave. BB MBS SR °

(b) Defined contribution plans (b) EEELEEE

The Group uses a mandatory provident fund scheme AEEFZFAHMEAERFTE
(“MPF”) and employee pension schemes established by (%S ) kAP EAREM
municipal government in the People’s Republic of China Bl([HE])MBREKZZIEE
(“PRC”) for the eligible employees in Hong Kong and the BIREEE - DRESFERTF
PRC respectively. BlzaEREERHE -
The Group’s and the employees’ contributions to the MPF AEERESHIREBENE
comply with the related statutory requirements. The Group KIEH BB HR o WERKE
has no further payments obligations once the contributions i NREEBEE-THRE
have been paid. The Group’s contributions to the MPF are - AEEERES ZHFHR
expensed as incurred and are not reduced by contributions EAERTIERS - M0
forfeited by those employees who leave MPF prior to EEREHZHEKAITHL
vesting fully in the contributions. Prepaid contributions are ER 58 18 & M 2 W2 R o
recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or IR SR RIARRKREN
a reduction in the future payments is available. The assets o BRNEREERBEE ©
of MPF are held separately from those of the Group in BHEEC EERANEEEED
independently administered funds. - BAEIEECESEE -
The Group’s contribution to the employee pension AEEFPBHESRAKSFTE
schemes in the PRC is at a percentage in compliance with Z TR B AR T TR E
the requirements of respective municipal governments. ZBADLLmIEL °

(c) Termination benefits © BEEEF

Termination benefits are payable when employment is
terminated by the group before the normal retirement date,
or whenever an employee accepts voluntary redundancy
in exchange for these benefits. The group recognises
termination benefits when it is demonstrably committed
to a termination when the entity has a detailed formal
plan to terminate the employment of current employees
without possibility of withdrawal. In the case of an offer
made to encourage voluntary redundancy, the termination
benefits are measured based on the number of employees
expected to accept the offer. Benefits falling due more
than twelve months after the end of the reporting period
are discounted to their present value.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continved)
2.26 Employee benefits (continueq)

(@)

Share-based compensation

The Group operates an equity-settled, share-based
compensation plan in which the entity receives services
from employees as consideration for equity instruments of
the Group. The fair value of the employee services received
in exchange for the grant of the options is recognised
as an expense. The total amount to be expensed over
the vesting period is determined by reference to the fair
value of the options granted, excluding the impact of any
non-market vesting conditions (for example, profitability
and sales growth targets and remaining an employee of
the entity over a specified time period) and including the
impact of any non-vesting conditions (for example, the
requirement for employees to save).

Non-market vesting conditions are included in assumptions
about the number of options that are expected to become
exercisable. At each balance sheet date, the entity revises
its estimates of the number of options that are expected
to become exercisable based on the non-marketing
performance and service conditions. It recognises the
impact of the revision of original estimates, if any, in the
consolidated income statement, and a corresponding
adjustment to equity over the remaining vesting period.

The proceeds received net of any directly attributable
transaction costs are credited to share capital (nominal
value) and share premium when the options are exercised.

227 Provisions
Provisions for environmental restoration and the resurfacing and
maintenance cost are recognised when the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is
probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, and the amount has been reliably estimated. Where

the Group expects a provision to be reimbursed, for example
under an insurance contract, the reimbursement is recognised
as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually
certain.
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Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
2.27 Provisions (Continued)

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood
that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by
considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is
recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any
one item included in the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures
expected to be required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in
the provision due to passage of time is recognised as interest
expense.

2.28 Revenue recognition

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received
or receivable for the sale of goods, properties and services in the
ordinary course of the Group’s activities. Revenue is shown net
of business tax and after eliminating sales within the Group.

The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can
be reliably measured, it is probable that future economic benefits
will flow to the entity and specific criteria have been met for
each of the Group’s activities as described below. The amount
of revenue is not considered to be reliably measurable until all
contingencies relating to the sale have been resolved. The Group
bases its estimates on historical results, taking into consideration
the type of customer, the type of transaction and the specifics of
each arrangement.

(i) Revenues from infrastructure and alternative energy are
generated from water supply, electricity supply and the toll
road. They are recognised based on the following:

(@  Revenue arising from water supply is recognised
based on water supplied as recorded by meters
read during the year.

(b)  Revenue arising from electricity supply is recognised
when electricity is supplied to the provincial grid
companies.

(c)  Revenue arising from toll road is recognised when
services are rendered.
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Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
2.28 Revenue recognition (continued)

(i)

(i)

(V)

Rental income from investment properties is recognised on
a straight-line basis over the terms of the respective leases.

Revenue from individual construction contracts is
recognised under the percentage of completion method.

Sales of food and beverages are recognised in the income
statement at the point of sale to customer.

Revenue from sales of properties is recognised when
the risks and rewards of the properties are passed to
the purchasers. Deposits and instalments received on
properties sold prior to the date of revenue recognition are
included under current liabilities.

(vi)  Revenue from provision of software development services is
recognised when the services are rendered.

(vi)  Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive
payment is established.

(viii)  Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis
using the effective interest method.

(ix)  Property management fee income is recognised when the
services are rendered.

229 Leases
(@) Finance leases (leasee)

Leases that substantially transfer to the Group all the
risks and rewards of ownership of assets are classified
as finance leases. Finance leases are capitalised at the
lease’s commencement at the lower of the fair value of
the leased property and the present value of the minimum
lease payments. Each lease payment is allocated between
the liability and finance charges so as to achieve a
constant rate on the finance balance outstanding. The
corresponding rental obligations, net of finance charges,
are included in liabilities. The finance charges are charged
to the income statement over the lease periods so as
to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the
remaining balance of the liability for each period.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continveq)
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2.29 Leases (continued)

(b) Operating leases
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and
rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are
classified as operating leases. Payments made under
operating leases (net of any incentives received from the
lessor) are charged to the income statement on a straight-
line basis over the period of the lease.

2.30 Contingent liabilities

2.31

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from
past events and whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly
within the control of the Group. It can also be a present obligation
arising from past events that is not recognised because it is not
probable that outflow of economic resources will be required or
the amount of obligation cannot be measured reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised but is disclosed in the
notes to the consolidated financial statements. When a change
in the probability of an outflow occurs so that the outflow is
probable, it will then be recognised as a provision.

Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is
recognised as a liability in the Group’s and the Company’s
financial statements in the period in which the dividends are
approved.
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Financial risk management
3.1 Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: market risk (including foreign exchange risk, price risk,
commodity price risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and
liquidity risk. The Group’s major financial instruments include
trade and other receivables, cash and bank balances, derivative
financial instrument, financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss, available-for-sale financial assets, trade and other payables
and bank loans. Details of these financial instruments are
disclosed in the respective notes.

It is the policy of the Group not to enter into derivative
transactions for speculative purposes. The derivatives held are
not for speculative purpose and cannot be traded in the market.
They are part of an embedded investment rights to investment
assets and are not exposed to market risk (including commodity
price risk) since the gains and losses on the derivatives are offset
by the losses and gains on the underlying assets.

The Group’s Board of Directors focuses on the unpredictability of
financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects
on the Group’s financial performance. The Board of Directors
reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and
they are summarised below.

(@ Market risk
(i) Foreign exchange risk
The Group operates mainly in Hong Kong and
the Mainland China. Entities within the Group are
exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from future
commercial transactions and monetary assets and
liabilities that are denominated in a currency that is
not the entity’s functional currency.

The Group currently does not have any foreign
currency hedging activities. However, the
management of the Group monitors the foreign
exchange exposure closely and will consider
hedging significant foreign currency exposure should
the need arise.

If Renminbi had strengthened/weakened by 5%
against the Hong Kong dollars as at 31 December
2011 with all other variables held constant, the
Group’s profit before income tax would have been
HK$45.9 million lower/higher (2010: the Group’s loss
before income tax would have been HK$23.0 million
higher/lower).
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Financial risk management (continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

@

(®)

Market risk (Continued)

(i) Interest rate risk
The Group’s interest-rate risk arises from bank
borrowings. Borrowings issued at variable rates
expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk
due to fluctuation of the prevailing market interest
rate. The Group’s income and operating cash flows
are substantially dependent of changes in market
interest rates.

The Group does not use any derivative contracts to
hedge its exposure to interest rate risk. However,
management will consider hedging significant
interest rate exposures should the need arise.

As at 31 December 2011, if the interest rate had
increased/decreased 100 basis points with all other
variables held constant, the Group’s profit before
income tax would have decreased by HK$28.0
million or increased by HK$27.9 million (2010:
the Group’s loss before income tax would have
increased/decreased by HK$33.1 million).

(i) Price risk
The Group has minimal exposure to price risk in
2010 and 2011.

Credit risk
The Group is exposed to credit risk in its restricted
cash, cash and cash equivalents and trade and other
receivables.

The carrying amount of restricted cash, cash and cash
equivalents and trade and other receivables, represent the
Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to its
financial assets.

To manage the credit risk associated with restricted cash
and cash and cash equivalents, most of the deposits are
mainly placed with certain state-owned banks in the PRC
which are high-credit quality financial institutions and banks
with high credit rankings in Hong Kong.
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Financial risk management (continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b)

()

Credit risk (Continued)

To manage the credit risk associated with trade and other
receivables and deposits paid for a property development
project, the Group adopts risk control to assess the credit
quality of the customers and debtors, taking into account
their financial positions and past experience.

There is no concentration of credit risk with respect
to trade receivables from third party customers as the
customer bases are widely dispersed in different sectors
and industries.

In addition, the Group and the Company monitor the
exposure to credit risk in respect of the financial assistance
provided to subsidiaries, associated companies and jointly
controlled entities through exercising control and significant
influence over their financial and operating policy decisions
and reviewing their financial positions on a regular basis.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group is unable to meet its
current obligations when they fall due. The Group measures
and monitors its liquidity through the maintenance of
prudent ratios regarding the liquidity structure of the overall
assets, liabilities, loans and commitments of the Group.
The Group also maintains a conservative level of liquid
assets to ensure the availability of sufficient cash flows to
meet any unexpected and material cash requirements in
the course of ordinary business.

The table below analyses the Group’s and the Company’s
contractual maturity for their financial liabilities. The
amounts disclosed in the table have been drawn up with
reference to the undiscounted cash flows of the financial
liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group
and the Company can be required to pay.
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3 Financial risk management (continueq) 3 HBIEREREEw

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 BKEKEEEZ®)
(c) Liquidity risk (Continued) ) mEEZER )

Between  Between
Less than 1and 2and Over
1 year 2 years 5 years 5 years Total
-  -ZWE CZZEE HENE Fa
HK$ Milion  HK$ Milion ~ HK$ Milion ~ HKS$ Millon  HK$ Million
BEAT AEBT BEAT ABBT  BEATL

Group rEE
At 31 December 2011 RZE——#4+-A=+-H
Bank borrowings and other loans ~ $B{TE R R EMER 9152 6787 10374 15306 41709
Finance lease liabilties HEREaE 11.6 119 37.9 61.1 1225
Trade and other payables N E R 1,130.6 = = = 1,130.6
Other non-current payables Hib3ERE (TR 1.0 1.0 15.7 6.3 240
At 31 December 2010 RZE-Z&#4+-A=+-H
Bank borrowings with callable terms ~ EREREAER ER 2 BITER 206.1 - - - 206.1
Bank borrowings and other loans RITERREMER 740.0 4116 1,126.1 1,7640 40417
Finance lease liabilties BENERE 10.8 11.1 35.3 71.1 128.3
Trade and other payables FERTBRT R A PERFR 902.0 = = = 902.0
Other non-current payables Hib3EmE LT - 264.9 - 59.0 323.9
Liabilties of disposal group KERENREEANERE

classified as held for sale 295.6 - - - 295.6
Company NG|
At 31 December 2011 A—E——E+-A=1+-H
Other payables i FERH 14.1 = = - 141
At 31 December 2010 R-E-Z&+-F=1+-AH
Other payables HEAERR 10.3 - - - 10.3
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3 Financial risk management (continueq) 3 BIEEREE@)
3.2 Capital risk management EXREEERE
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard AEBERERAZ RE BREAEEH
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order FRREEEEB 2T  BRAKRRE
to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other TR 5] 3R R /5 EL fth 1 2 4R A 25 75 2R R
stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to o AR A ER B AR R
reduce the cost of capital. BEMA o
In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may RIRFFFABEEALERE - AEEHE
adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, raise new ARMABRREN ZRESRE - EEH
debt financing, issue new shares, share options and warrants or BEREE - FHTHRG - BRERR
conduct share buy-backs. AR sl 1 TR BB AR () o
The Group monitors its capital structure by reviewing its gearing AEBEF BN HAEEBGBEERR
ratio and cash flows requirements, taking into account its future DMEHR KEREERERE - Wk
financial obligations and commitments for this purpose. The GERERRPBEERESE - R"&E
Group defines gearing ratio as total debt divided by total equity. EHAEERLRATEABBERRER
Total debt is current and non-current borrowings as shown in the LAz 4R%E - BEBHEARE MR
consolidated financial statements and total equity is as shown in %Fﬁﬂ'méﬂ&é‘l@ué)ﬂ 3R o B AREE
the consolidated balance sheet. RiFEEERRRIIT
The gearing ratios at 31 December 2011 and 2010 were as RZE——FR T —ZFTF+_A
follows: == HZETE§$JZIZ$ZZDT -
Group
rEE
2011 2010
—E——F ZE-TF
HK$ Million HK$ Million
BBEBT BEBT
Current borrowings TRENME R 740.0 739.8
Non-current borrowings EEIL RN 2,990.9 2,942.6
Total borrowings Bk 4aza 3,730.9 3,682.4
Total equity Py ey itc] 14,280.4 13,644.9
Gearing ratio (total debt/total equity) ~ BEEALL R (A EREE e 26.1% 27.0%
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3 Financial risk management (continueq) 3 HBIEREREEw

3.3 Fair value estimation 3.3 A¥{EMAE

The table below analyses financial instruments carried at fair TRERABBEESERATES Rz

value, by valuation method. The different levels have been BT RAETHN - TRKRLAER

defined as follows: s 3

- Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical — BUBEHFNEENXBENRER
assets or liabilities (level 1). M5z HmE(REFHE) (FA

&) o

—  Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that —  REIRFTAZREAIN BB
are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that is, (BNEBER ) kM5 (BERE
as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level 2). BEAER)BEREEXBBEMS

BAIAR (F28) -

- Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on —  WIFRAEREMSER (A1 IE
observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs) BIRMBIRAER ) 2 EESE
(level 3). B ATER (8B34%) °
The following table presents the Group’s assets and liabilities that TREJIANEER=_Z—F+=A
are measured at fair value at 31 December 2011. =+ —HRAFEFECEERE
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
B FE28 B3R Fak]

HK$ Million HK$ Million ~ HKS$ Million ~ HK$ Million
BEBT BHEBT BEBET BEBT

Assets BE
Avalilable-for-sale financial assets Al HES B EE - 9.8 22.0 31.8
Financial assets at fair value BAFEEBERSER

through profit or loss ZEREE 0.2 - 13.8 14.0
Total assets EEHAE 0.2 9.8 35.8 45.8
Liabilities =L
Derivative liability TTETEARE - 9.4 - 9.4
Other non-current payables HAERENEN R - - 13.2 13.2
Financial liabilities at fair value BRATHEERRRIIE

through profit or loss ZEMmBRE - - 261.6 261.6
Total liabilities BEH%E - 9.4 274.8 284.2
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3

Financial risk management (continued) 3 BIEEREE@)
3.3 Fair value estimation (continued) 3.3 A EMAET @)
The following table presents the Group’s assets and liabilities that TREIWAEER=_Z—FF+=A
are measured at fair value at 31 December 2010. =+ —HERAFEFECEERE
f& °
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
FE1 Eo 534 Fak]
HK$ Million HK$ Million HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEBT BEAT BEBT BEBT
Assets &E
Available-for-sale financial assets At H &SR EE - 7.8 235 31.3
Financial assets at fair value BATEEBERIE
through profit or loss ZemaR 0.3 - 13.3 13.6
Total assets BEEHA 0.3 7.8 36.8 449
Liabilities =1
Derivative liability FTETEEE - 75.5 - 75.5
Financial liabilities at fair value BATHEERRRIIE
through profit or loss ZEmBaR - - 264.9 264.9
Total liabilities BEH%E - 753 264.9 340.4

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets
is based on quoted market prices at the balance sheet date.
A market is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and
regularly available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry
group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and those prices
represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions
on an arm’s length basis. The quoted market price used for
financial assets held by the Group is the current bid price. These
instruments are included in level 1. Instruments included in level
1 comprise primarily equity investments classified as trading
securities under financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an
active market is determined by using valuation techniques. These
valuation techniques maximise the use of observable market
data where it is available and rely as little as possible on entity
specific estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair value an
instrument are observable, the instrument is included in level 2.
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3 Financial risk management (continueq) 3 HBIEREREEw

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued) 3.3 A EMAET @)
If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable fied — & =k 2 & 85 K 8y A BRI FEAR 4%
market data, the instrument is included in level 3. AEEmSEETE BT ES:
A3 ©

Specific valuation techniques used to value financial instruments BARE R T AER{EEZ FEME

include: B e

. Quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar e HEUTAEFAMBRERIR
instruments. ZERE °

. The fair value of derivative liabilities is determined using e HAZHARABENMETR
Binominal model. BEZATE-

. Other techniques, such as discounted cash flow analysis, o  HMEIM  fInIFRBERE
are used to determine fair value for the remaining financial A AABE#R T&MIA
instruments. ZNTHE ©

There were no significant transfers of financial assets between NRIEFESRABEIRLEHRA

level 1 and level 2 fair value hierarchy classifications. TEE 2 A S KR o

The following table presents the changes in level 3 instruments TRFJBEZZT——FR=ZZT-F

for the year ended 31 December 2011 and 2010. F+_A=t—BIFEZFHEMFET

Financial Financial

Available- assets liabilities

for-sale at fair value at fair value

financial through through
assets profit or loss profit or loss Total

EAYE BRAYE

AfHE  EBERIER  EBRERIE
SREE ZERMEE ZEREE g
HK$ Milion HK$ Milion HK$ Million HKS Million
BEAT BEBT BB BEAT
At 1 January 2010 R-E-24-A—A 29 127 (266.3) (231.4)
Net gain recognised in equity TR W3 1.3 06 14 33
At 31 December 2010 RZE-Z%+-A=1+—H 235 13.3 (264.9) (228.1)
At 1 January 2011 R-E——%—f—H 2385 13.3 (264.9) (228.1)
Addition AE - - (13.2) (13.2)
Disposal HeE (1.4) - - (1.4)
Net gain recognised in equity R HER K F (©.1) 05 33 3.7
At 31 December 2011 R-E——%+-F=1—§ 220 138 (0748) (239.0)
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Critical accounting estimates and judgements

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on
historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future
events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.
The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal
the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed
below.

(@ Valuation of investment properties/recoverable
amount of prepaid land lease payments
The fair value of each investment property, and the recoverable
amount of prepaid land lease payments for which there
impairment indicators, are individually determined at each
balance sheet date by an independent valuer based on a market
value assessment. Knight Frank was engaged to carry out the
independent valuation of the Group’s investment property and
prepaid land lease payments portfolio as at 31 December 2011.
This valuation was carried out in accordance with the Valuation
Standards on Properties of the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors
which defines market value as “the estimated amount for which
a property should exchange on the date of valuation between a
willing buyer and a willing seller in an arm’s-length transaction
after proper marketing wherein the parties had each acted
knowledgeably, prudently and without compulsion”.

Knight Frank has derived the valuation of the Group’s property
portfolio by capitalising the rental income derived from existing
tenancies with due provision for reversionary income potential
and where appropriate, by reference to market comparable
transactions. The assumptions are based on market conditions
existing at the balance sheet date.
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4  Critical accounting estimates and judgements (continveq)

118

(@)

Valuation of investment properties/recoverable
amount of prepaid land lease payments
(Continued)

For the prepaid land lease payments, management determined
the recoverable amount based on the valuation report prepared
by Knight Frank. Knight Frank has valued the investment
properties under development/recoverable amount of prepaid
land lease payments on the basis that the properties will
be developed in accordance with the information provided
from management. It is assumed that approvals for the
development scheme will be obtained without any onerous
condition which would affect the value of investment properties
under development/recoverable amount of prepaid land lease
payments. In arriving the opinion of value, Knight Frank has made
reference to comparable transactions in the locality and has also
taken into account the construction costs that will be expended
to complete the development and the quality of the completed
development in the development scheme.

Management has reviewed the Knight Frank valuation and
compared it with its own assumptions, with reference to
comparable sales transaction data where such information is
available, and has concluded that the Knight Frank valuation
of the Group’s investment portfolio and prepaid land lease
payments is reasonable.

If the valuation of the investment properties (included investment
properties classified as assets held for sale) had been 10%
higher or lower than the value stated on the valuation report,
the fair value adjustment for the year arising from the Group’s
investment properties would have been increased or decreased
by HK$596.6 million (2010: HK$719.7 million).

If the recoverable amount of the prepaid land lease payments
had been 10% higher than the value stated on the valuation
report, assuming that the conditions of the reversal are met,
the reversal of provision for impairment loss for the year arising
from the Group’s prepaid land lease payments would have
been increased by HK$371.1million (2010: HK$159.2 million).
If the recoverable amount had been lower by 10%, provision
for impariment loss for the year would have been increased by
HK$1.5 million (2010: HK$290.6 million).
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4  Critical accounting estimates and judgements contieg 4 B AREFHEET R FHE @)

(b) Toll Road - Estimated impairment of (b)

concession right

The Group tests annually whether intangible assets have suffered
any impairment in accordance with the accounting policy. The
calculations use pre-tax cash flow projections based on financial
budgets approved by management.

The unit prices used for the analysis are determined by
management making reference to the agreements approved by
the government authorities. The weighted average growth rates
used are consistent with the forecasts expected in the industry.
The discount rates used are pre-tax and reflect specific risks
relating to the relevant segments.

If the discount rate used in the value-in-use calculation had
been 10% higher or lower than management’s estimates at 31
December 2011, the profit for the year arising from the Group’s
concession right (toll road) would have been decreased by
HK$101.1 million or increased by HK$224.8 million (2010: loss
for the year arising from the Group’s concession right (toll road)
would have been increased by HK$50.7 million or decreased by
HK$294.8 million).

The Group has performed impairment assessment by using the
discounted cash flow model with the assumptions that traffic
flow would increase by 11% every year on average, the tariff
rate would increase by 7.5% every five years and the discount
rate is 10.48%. According to the impairment assessment, the
recoverable amount of Guilin Tollroad is RMB1,012.8 million,
which is barely higher than the carrying value as at 31 December
2011. Considering the recoverable amount is approximate to
the carrying value, the Group has performed sensitivity test on
the discounted cash flow model. If all other assumptions remain
unchanged, each of the changes of the following assumptions
on a stand-alone basis would cause the recoverable amount of
Guilin Tollroad to reduce to its carrying amount:

- Average traffic flow decreases by 2.7%,

- Tariff growth rate decreases to 6.09% every five years,

- Discount rate increases to 10.8%.
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4  Critical accounting estimates and judgements (continveq)
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(©)

(d)

Estimated impairment of goodwill

The Group tests annually whether goodwill is subject to any
impairment losses, in accordance with the accounting policy.
The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units with goodwill
being allocated have been determined based on the higher of fair
value less cost to sell and value-in-use calculations.

Estimated impairment of plant and equipment
Plant and equipment are reviewed by management for
impairment losses whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. The
recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell
and value in use of the plant and equipment. Management
makes judgements on whether such events or changes
in circumstances have occurred, and makes estimates in
determining the recoverable amount. In the situation where
the value in use of plant and equipment cannot be assessed
due to the uncertainties of the operation model in the future,
management has assessed the respective recoverable amount
solely based on the fair value less costs to sell. Provision is made
when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amounts may not be recovered.

If the recoverable amount of the plant and equipment had been
10% higher or lower than management’s estimates, the profit
for the year arising from the Group’s plant and equipment would
have been increased by HK$54.7 million or remained unchanged
(2010: the loss for the year arising from the Group’s plant and
equipment would have been decreased by HK$59.5 million or
remained unchanged).

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in the Mainland China.
Significant judgement is required in determining the provision for
income taxes. There are many transactions and calculations for
which the ultimate tax determined is uncertain during the ordinary
course of business. The Group recognises liabilities for potential
tax exposures based on estimates of whether additional taxes will
be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different
from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences
will affect the income tax and deferred tax provision in the period
in which such determination is made.
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4  Critical accounting estimates and judgements (continveq)

(f

Fair value of derivatives, financial assets/
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
and other financial instruments

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an
active market is determined by using valuation techniques. The
Group uses its judgement to select a variety of methods and
make assumptions that are mainly based on market conditions
existing at each balance sheet date. The Group uses discounted
cash flow analysis for various available-for-sale financial assets
that were not traded in active markets.

Construction work

()  Revenue recognition
The Group uses the percentage-of-completion method
in accounting for its fixed-price contracts to deliver
construction services. The use of the percentage-of-
completion method requires the Group to estimate the
services performed to date as a proportion of the total
services to be performed.

(i)  Estimate over the cost provision
A considerable amount of judgement is required in
estimating the cost provision which may have impact on
profit or loss.

During the year, certain cost provision has been reversed
and reflected in other income.

Determination of fair value of share-based
compensation

The Group uses the Binomial Model to determine the fair value of
share options issued during the year. Under this model, the value
of the share options is subject to a number of assumptions such
as the risk-free interest rate, the expected life of the options and
historical volatility based on annualised volatility of the closing
price of the share. Therefore the value may be subjective and
would change should any of the assumptions change.
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Critical accounting estimates and judgements (continued)
()  Allowances for bad and doubtful debts

The policy for allowance for bad and doubtful debts of the Group
is based on the evaluation of collectability and ageing analysis
of receivables and management’s judgement. A considerable
amount of judgement is required in assessing the ultimate
realisation of these receivables, including the creditworthiness
and the past collection history of each customer.

() Fair value of financial and equity instruments
Where the fair value of equity instruments or financial assets
and financial liabilities recorded in the balance sheet cannot be
derived from active markets, they are determined using valuation
techniques including the use of recent arm’s length transactions,
reference to other instruments that are substantially the same,
discounted cash flow analysis, option pricing model and share
prices of the Company. The inputs to these models are taken
from observable markets where possible, but where this is not
feasible. A degree of judgment is required in establishing fair
values.

Segment information

Segment information disclosed in the annual report has been prepared
in @ manner consistent with the information used by the Group’s most
senior executive management for the purposes of assessing segment
performance and allocating resources between segments. In this
regard, the Group is organised into the following segments: Properties
development (for sale or lease upon completion of construction work),
Property investment and leasing, Infrastructure, Alternative energy,
Construction, Hotel and catering services and Other operations.

The Group’s most senior executive management assesses the
performance of the operating segments based on operating profit/(loss)
after interest income and expenses, taxation and share of profits/(losses)
of associated companies and jointly controlled entities. Corporate
expenses mainly include the employee expenses of the head office,
interest income and expenses arising from the holding companies and
other administrative expenses of the head office.
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5 Segment information continued) 5 DEBER@E)

The Group’s segment assets exclude financial assets at fair value REEZHMBEETBEAR RN ERR
through profit or loss, available-for-sale financial assets as well as NEEEERRIEZEMEE « AIHEDE
derivative financial instrument which are managed on a central basis. CRMEEARITESRTHE - tEIHE HE
These are part of the reconciliation to total balance sheet assets. BEBBREEBBZHBDAR - DEEE
Corporate assets mainly include the cash at bank, property, plant and FTERRERENSERFEZRTES W
equipment and other receivables held by the head office. The assets of ¥ B RBEUAREMERK - A2
each reportable segment comprise the inter-segment receivables. DE 2 BEBE D EHE 2 BYGK

Sales between segments are carried out on terms equivalent to those D EBESHE TR E A F R S iE A 2 FHEE
that prevail in arm’s length transactions. The revenue from external FETT - MBERERSRKBINATE 2 W=
parties reported to management is measured in a manner consistent TSR A BRRTAE B2 A2 -
with that in the consolidated income statement. Total segment revenue DR AN RAEE 2 2 %F -

also represents the Group’s turnover.

The segment information for the reportable segments for the years HE-ZT——FR-T—ZFTF+-_HA=1—
ended 31 December 2011 and 2010 is as follows: HIEFERI 2| F 2D EERAT
Properties development
NEER
Shanghai Property Hotel and Total
and investment Alternative catering Other  reportable
Zhejiang  Shenyang Tianjin ~ Otherarea  and leasing Infrastructure energy  Construction services  operations  segments
NERER EER CES

LSBT g X2 HHE il 2R HREE BE URERE  ApRE B8R
HKS Milion ~ HKSMilion ~ HKSMilion ~ HKSMilion ~ HKSMilion  HKSMilion  HKSMilion ~ HKSMilion ~ HKSMilion  HKS Milion  HKS Milion
FEEn  HEER  EEET  FEEn  EEER  BERT  HEER  BEER  BEBET  HEBR  BEER

Yearended 31 December 2011 BZ=2—-%

tZRZt-RLEE

Revenue from extemal customers —— RENFEE 2 2583 - - - 2019 859 89.9 17.0 4“1 08 6955
Inter-segment revenue: Dk - - - - 03 - - 7 - - 75.0
Total revenue e 268.3 - - - 202.2 85.9 89.9 917 “nr 08 7705
Operating profitoss) fLER/ (BB (1453) 286 (389) (10.0) 1827 158 (54) (16.0) 29 %9 302
Finance income BBHA 26 19 28 - 09 11 02 - 04 23 119
Finance costs BERA (109) - - - (394) (754) () - (18.1) - (1912
Share of profits less losses of EEBENTRTEER

associated companies - - - - 217 - 835 - - - 1.2
Share of profits less losses of ElEAZARRABEE

jointly controlled entities (17.6) - - - - - - - - - (17.6)
Profit/(loss) before income tax FremanaRl/ (§8) (111.2) 255 (36.1) (100) 179 (58.5) 309 (16.0) (20.2) 2.2 (85.5)
Income tax (sxpense/credit FiERiGt)/B% 100 (129) 51 - (17.2) (38 (1) - - 29 (26.8)
Profit/(loss) for the year REEEH/ (BB (161.2) 126 (31.0 (10.0 154.7 (62.3) 258 (16.0 (202 253 (82.3)
Depreciation i (1.2 (09) (02 (04) (06) (219 (65.8) (.7) 87) 3.0 (93.1)
Amortsation B 04 (149) (203 - 03) 93 05) = = (02 459)
Fair value adjustments on FEMEATERE

investment properties (218.5) 518 - - 47 - - - - - (142.0)
(Provision for)reversal of REBBE(ER)/BE

impaiment losses - - - - 04 (14.7) - 1.7 - (10.0) (26.0)

EEER(ZR)ERDF ¢ —T——FFR
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5 Segment information continued) 5 DEPEFRE
Properties development
ES
Shangha Property Hotel and Total
and investment Afterative catering Other ~ reportable
Zhejlang Shenyang Tenjn ~ Otherarea  andleasing  Infrastructure energy  Construction services  operations segments

NRRER BER PES

LR i X2 EHE i i HRER BE URRE  RMEE  H¥EE
HKSMion  HKSMilon  HKSMilon  HKSMilon  HKSMillon  HK§Mlion  HK§Milon  HKSMilon  HKSMilon  HKSMilion  HKS Milon
AEET  REET  AEAT  ABAT  BEAT  BEAT  BEAT  AEAR  AEER  AEET  AEAR

Year ended 31 December 2010 BzoB-B%
TZAZT-BLEE
Revenue from extemal customers - RESMFBE 2tis 60.1 - - - 212 686 510 184 376 62 4991
Inter-segment revenue: PEREkE - - - - 10 - - 24 - - 21
Total revenue WA 60.1 - - - 2582 68.6 51.0 405 376 6.2 5222
Operating profit/{loss) &2/ (58 (2188 (289 266) (6.9 2849 203 48 (624) (48.7) (315 (1132
Finance income BT 15 18 27 - 16 06 - - - 08 90
Finance costs HERA (173) - - - 487) ) (254) - (157) 82) (187.0)
Share of profts less losses of EEBEATRNRER
associated companies - - - - 61.6 - 282 - - 01 899
Share of profits less losses of AR ARRABER
Jointly controlled entties (16.0 - - - - - - - - 11 (149
Profit/(loss) before income tax ERATER/ (58) (250.6) (26.5) (239 6.9 2994 (50.8) 76 (624) (64.4) 87.1) (2162
Income tex (expense)/credit 1—'; R&ﬁ /8 564 12 49 - (493 - 04 g8 - 09 178
Profit{loss) for the year KEEEA/ (BB (1942) (259) (190) 69 2501 (508 80 (59.1) (644) 3%8) (198.4)
Depreciation it 23 (18 07 - {11 1) 221) (39) 83 (30) (634)
Amortsation £ 02 (142) (194) B1) = 79 04 = = (10) #6.4)
Fair value adjustments on FENELTERE
investment properties (225.4) 49 - - 131.4 - - - - - (989
(Provision for)reversal of REGB(ER)/BE
impairment losses - - - - 1.1 - - (05) (339 (48) (38.0
Properties development
NERE
Shanghai Property Hotel and Total
and investment Alterative catering Other  reportable
Zhejiang  Shenyang Tianjin ~ Otherarea  andleasing Infrastructure energy  Construction services  operations  segments
NERER EER 2§
LERAT 5 X2 EfHE il 2 ERER BE  HREE  EmEE  HRER
HKSMiion ~ HKSMiion ~ HKSMiion  HKSMiion  HKSMilon  HKSMillon  HKSMilon  HKSMilon  HKSMilon  HK$Millon  HKS Milion
BEdr BEEr BEAT  BEAT  REMn  FESkn  RAEEn  AEAT  BEEL  BEAL  BEAI
As at 31 December 2011 W=B--£+-B=1-R
Total assets 6,754.4 905.0 3518.6 2185 4,634.5 1,561.3 2,326.3 1,230.6 1241 319 21,365.2
Total assets include: EEEERE:
Interests in assoclated companies  REFS AT Z R - - - - 316.3 - 802.3 - - - 1,186
Interests injointly controlled enfites ~ RAS AT ZiE% 2,069.1 - - - - - - - - - 2,069.1
As at 31 December 2010 RZF-BF+2A=1-A
Total assets EELET 6,1432 14618 30206 2680 5556.5 14793 22118 1,976.4 7029 3.1 22,8%.6
Total assets include: ﬁEiﬁ BAE:
Interests in associated companies  REAAFZER = = = = 2886 = 7130 = 5836 (66) 15836
Interests in jointly controlled entities ~ RAZAFZER 19164 - - - - - - - - 0.1 19165
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5 Segment information (ontinveq) 5 DEHERE

A reconciliation of loss for the year of reportable segments to profit/(loss) A2 |MH I 2 FANEERERERFREF],
for the year of the Group is provided as follows: (BHR)EERAT
2011 2010
—E2——F —T-TF
HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEABT BEATT
Loss for the year of reportable segments A 23 o EBFRERE (82.3) (198.4)
Unallocated amounts: ROBLEEE
Corporate expenses hERZ (67.9) (88.9)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries, net of tax MFi e HEHBA R 2 W 201.1 -
Gain on disposal of an associated company, S35k qune=di /N Gy
net of tax 88.4 -
Intra group elimination £ B ELE 5 50.5 (108.9)
Profit/(loss) for the year of the Group RNEBFERGEF,(EE) 189.8 (396.2)
Reportable segments’ assets are reconciled to total assets as follows: AI2HHPEENE ELBHRNT ¢
2011 2010
—E——F —E-TF
HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEET BESAT
Total segment assets D el B EAAEE 21,365.2 22,895.6
Head office assets B E R A 1,672.9 1,151.8
Intra group elimination BN ERE I (2,694.9) (4,032.3)
Derivative financial instrument TESmTA - 5.0
Available-for-sale financial assets At HESREE 31.8 31.3
Financial assets at fair value through BAFEEBERIIEZ
profit or loss ERMEE 14.0 13.6
Total assets per consolidated balance sheet A BEBRBERIYEERE 20,389.0 20,065.0
Non-current assets other than derivative financial instrument and PTEeRITARAMBEHESHEENIN IE
available-for-sale financial assets are mainly located in the Mainland BN & B E A B KR o
China.
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Segment information (continueq) 3

Analysis of revenue by category:

2011 2010

—E——F —T—TF

HK$ Million HK$ Million

BEBT BEAT

Infrastructure Hiz 85.9 68.6
Alternative energy BReR 89.9 51.0
Rental income s N 94.1 100.4
Contract revenue YOl 17.0 18.4
Sales proceeds from properties held for sale &R ESSE YRS IA 366.1 216.9
Catering services RERH a.7 37.6
Others Hi 0.8 6.2
695.5 499.1

Revenue from external customers in the Mainland China for the year
ended 31 December 2011 are HK$677.7 million (2010: HK$475.3
million) and the total of revenue from external customers from other
areas is HK$17.8 million (2010: HK$23.8 million).

For the year ended 31 December 2011, revenue derived from a single
external customer exceeding 10% of total revenue of approximately
HK$107.8 million is attributable to sales of properties business (2010:
revenue derived from two external customers each exceeding 10% of
total revenue of approximately HK$65.0 million and HK$63.4 million).
In 2011, there was no revenue derived from a single external customer
exceeding 10% of total revenue attributable to the alternative energy
business (2010: HK$51.0 million from a single external customer).
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6 Other income HAu A
2011 2010
—E——F —E—FF
HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEET BESAT
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries (Note 43(b)) HEHE A Rz Uzt (Mi5E43(0) 280.1 =
Gain on disposal of an associated company HE — MR A 7] 2 s
(Note 22) (Bizr22) 103.0 -
Write back of costs provision BRI AN 2 st 180.8 6.9
Property management fee income MEERBIA 313 11.4
Net exchange gain P 5 U F 58 = 1.0
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEME - 38 MR ERE
equipment - 11.9
Fair value gain on financial assets at fair value 1R A FEEEBZRIIEZ S RIEE
through profit or loss and derivative liability ETETAEaEAFEKS —F5
—net 69.1 1185
Others Hi 20.3 10.0
666.6 54.7
7  Provision for impairment losses on assets BEREEERE
2011 2010
—E——F ZE-TF
HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEET AEAT
(Provision for)/reversal of impairment losses on  Jii{E &8 (Bf&) /B[]
— property, plant and equipment S E R B 0.1 (0.3
— intangible assets — B EE = (4.5)
— goodwill —EE = (33.8)
— other receivables — H R (26.5) ©.9)
— trade receivables — FEUAR TR 0.4 0.8
— other —Efth - 0.3
(26.0) (38.0)
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Operating profit/(loss) 8 #RERR,(E58E)
Operating profit/(loss) is arrived at after (charging)/crediting the following g R (R e (k) e T 58
items: g :
2011 2010
—EB——F —TEF
HK$ Million HK$ Million
BHEBT BEBT
Employee benefit expenses (Note 11) B B @FIFZ (FFE11) (157.0) (154.8)
Employee share option benefits, net (Note 11) & EBERRHERR A  JF58 (FTE11) @.7) 4.8
Amortisation By

— prepaid land lease payments (Note 17) —JEft L E R (HIEE17) (38.0) (40.8)

— intangible assets (Note 19) —EREE (MizE19) (8.1) (7.5)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  #72% « #28 I L& & (HI3E18)

(Note 18) (97.7) (70.9)
Cost of inventories FERA (13.9) (13.9)
Cost of properties sold EEWEKA (220.5) (163.9)
Direct operating expenses arising from AT S IRA 2

investment properties that generate WEMHEEEZ

rental income HELERY (38.1) 2.9
Auditor’s remuneration — audit service ZE NS — 2 EBRTS (6.5) 6.9)
Operating lease payments AR E FE (17.7) (12.8)
Net exchange (loss)/gain [EH (B518) W55 (20.2) 1.0
Research and development expense M RFHEER (12.2) -
Write down of inventories TFEMOR (2.9) -

Finance income and costs 9 BIEWARBERAR
2011 2010
—E——F —ETF
HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEBT BEAT
Interest expenses: FIEFAXE

Bank loans wholly repayable within 5 years RITER - ARAEFAZIEE (90.2) (82.4)
Bank loans not wholly repayable within 5 years ~ $R1TE R » BEARAFEANDIEE (113.5) (117.8)
Other loans wholly repayable within 5 years HMER - HERAFARE Méﬁ (3.1) (39.0)
Other loans not wholly repayable within 5 years ~ HA & - HEARAER D IHESR (6.0) (10.5)
212.8) (249.7)

Less: capitalised in construction-in-progress & : fEE LI2 &R
and properties under development LES-wN( =1 20.4 241
Finance costs BhE AR (192.4) (225.6)
Finance income 0 TN 29.0 18.9
Net finance costs BhE R AR (163.4) (206.7)

Note: The capitalisation rate applied to funds borrowed was between 5.79% —
6.14% (2010: 5.94% — 6.40%) per annum during the year ended 31

December 2011.

HKC (Holdings) Limited ® Annual Report 2011

i : H#E—T——&F+_-_A=1+—RHItEE
MATEMz ARz BREARAEEE
579% E6.14% ( — T —TF : 594% =
6.40%) °




10 Directors’ and senior management’s emoluments 10 EENRSHEEEMNS

(@) Directors’ emoluments @ =Z=EH#e
The remuneration of every director for the year ended 31 EEERBE_T——F+=A
December 2011 is set out below: =T—HIEFENBMenT :
Employer's
Salary contribution
andother  Discretionary ~ to pension Share-based
Name of director/ex-director E%/HiESns Fees benefits bonuses scheme  Sub-total compensation® Total
R Riréital

he  REEN  BRRL ZREIMR NE BitE0 4
HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKSO00  HKS000  HKS$'000
TR TR TRT TETL TR TR AT

QI Tjie Goan BoR - - - - - - -
LI Xueming 1) ZEH () 4 - - - 414 - 44
XU Zheng @ e 26.0 - - - 26.0 - 26.0
OE! Kang, Eric &l 175.0 7,931.0 1,723.5 240 9,853.5 124 9,865.9
CHANG Li Hsien, Lesli ® RUED 175.0 9,020.0 8,100.0 240 17,319.0 3,075.3 20,394.3
CHUNG Wai Sum, Patrick SRR 55.8 28475 1,487.5 70 43978 3.2 4,769.0
YEN Teresa BZH 100.0 - - - 100.0 - 100.0
WAN Ming Sun FHW 100.0 - - - 100.0 - 100.0
LIU Guolin ) e H4 - - - 44 - H4
FAN Yan Hok, Philip BB 2200 - - - 220.0 248 2448
CHUNG Cho Yeg, Mico Bz 220.0 - - - 220.0 248 2448
CHENG Yuk Wo g5 220.0 - - - 220.0 24.8 2448
Albert Thomas DA ROSA, Junior il 2200 - - - 220.0 24.8 2448

1,594.6 19,798.5 11,311.0 95.0 32,759.1 3,958.1 36,317.2
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10 Directors’ and senior management’s emoluments 10 EBRESREEEMNE 2

(Continued)
(@) Directors’ emoluments (Continued) @ =Z=EEMMemwm
The remuneration of every director for the year ended 31 SEEREE=E_ZE—ZTF+ A
December 2010 is set out below: =+—HLEFENMSIT :
Employer's
Salary contribution
andother  Discretionary to pension Share-hased
Name of director/ex-director FEATE £ Fees benefits bonuses scheme Sub-total - compensation Total
FER Bik23E
ik A MEFL  ZEXHR Nt RRED &%
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ThL Thr Th ThL Thr T ThL
OFI Tjie Goan i - - - - - - -
LI Xueming ZEm 100.0 - - - 100.0 - 100.0
XU Zheng @ i 100.0 - - - 100.0 - 100.0
OE! Kang, Eric &l 175.0 91750 1,560.0 240 10934.0 157.2 11,091.2
CHANG Li Hsien, Leslie ® RUED 58.3 2,800.0 5800.0 8.0 8,006.3 1,164.7 9,821.0
WAN Man Yee & RS 972 6,987.1 1,0000 - 8,084.3 - 8,084.3
TANG Sau Wai, Tom @ H7Ee 66.7 1,705.0 - 8.0 1,779.7 - 1,779.7
YEN Teresa [E3 1000 - - - 1000 - 1000
WAN Ming Sun FHW 1000 - - - 1000 - 1000
LIU Guolin 1) e 100.0 - - - 100.0 - 100.0
FAN Yan Hok, Php B8 2000 - - - 2000 3142 5142
CHUNG Cho Yee, Mico i 2000 - - - 2000 314.2 5142
CHENG Yuk Wo il 200.0 - - - 2000 314.2 5142
Albert Thomas DA ROSA, Junlor B 2000 - - - 2000 3142 5142
1,697.2 20,667.1 8,360.0 40.0 30,764.3 2,568.7 33,3330
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10 Directors’ and senior management’s emoluments
(Continued)

(a)

Directors’ emoluments (continued)

Notes:

1.

Mr. LI Xueming and Mr. LIU Guolin retired as non-executive
directors with effect from 1 June 2011.

Mr. XU Zheng resigned as an non-executive director with effect
from 6 April 2011.

Mr. CHANG Li Hsien, Leslie was appointed as an executive
director on 1 September 2010.

Mr. CHUNG Wai Sum, Patrick was appointed as an executive
director on 10 June 2011.

Mr. WAN Man Yee resigned as an executive director with effect
from 20 December 2010.

Mr. TANG Sau Wai, Tom resigned as an executive director with
effect from 1 September 2010.

The balance represented the estimated value of share options
granted to the directors under the share option schemes of the
Company and its subsidiary. The value of these share options is
measured according to the Group’s accounting policies for share-
based payment transactions and, in accordance with that policy,
includes adjustments to reverse amounts accrued in previous
years where grants of equity instruments are forfeited prior to
vesting.

During 2011 and 2010, Mr. OEl Tjie Goan voluntarily waived
annual director’s fee of HK$100,000.

Five

highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the
Group for the year include three (2010: three) directors whose
emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented above. The

emoluments payable to the remaining two (2010: two) individuals
during the year are as follows:

10 EZRSHREEEMNE »)

(@)

e

1.

= =)

& ()

FERALERIBEMREER-F
——FARNA-RABREEFATE
=

EEER T ——FMOANRARE
BHESERMITES -

RUBEENR-_Z-—ZTFNA—H
RERE/NTES -

BEREEN_T——F<ATH
RERE/NTES -

EXBRER-T—BF+ =7
—+ BRBHERTES -

BFREENR-_Z-—ZFALA—H
EEENTES -

ERIEREA DRI RENBARZ
PBEER B ER R M BRE (G
FHEE - ZEBEREZEEDRE
AEERBNNAR S 25T BEK
& MRBEZBK - EREER
188 [ 141 AT IR HH AN T RLR B3 J Al
Bz BEFERFMIEL 2
# o

RZE——FRZZT—ZFF  r 5FR

S B REREFE E E48£ 100,000

HBTT

hEMEZREAL
AEBRAREHALEES

FA

Z(—T-THF ZR)EF BF2
B&ER EX 252 HHRE - £
EGHTRA(—2—2F : B4)ME
RIALZBISIT :

2011 2010

—ZT——F —TTF

HK$ Million HK$ Million

BEBT BEAT

Salary and other benefits e REMEAR 4.9 4.0
Discretionary bonus BIBFEAL 0.8 1.2
Share-based compensation f&inwa(E 0.6 1.4
Charged to income statement EHEBERKNR 6.3 6.6

ERRRERERAR © —F—FFH
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10 Directors’ and senior management’s emoluments
(Continued)

11

132

(b)

Five highest paid individuals (continued)
The emoluments fell within the following bands:

10 EZRSHREEEMNE »)

b) AEMERES AL @)
MeERIFTAT :

No of individuals

AH
2011 2010
—E——F ZE-TF
Emoluments band (in HK dollar) & EH/(LAB TR
HK$2,000,001 — HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 7T — 2,500,000 7T = 1
HK$2,500,001 — HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 7T — 3,000,000/ 7T 1 -
HK$3,500,001 — HK$4,000,000 3,500,001 7T — 4,000,000/ 7T 1 -
HK$4,500,001 — HK$5,000,000 4,500,001 7T — 5,000,000/ 7T = 1
Employee benefit expenses 11 EERAEX
2011 2010
—E——F —E-TF
HK$ Million HK$ Million
BHEBT BEAT
Wages, salaries and other benefits TE - #FeREMER (154.6) (153.6)
Employee share option benefits, net EEEARERER - 55 4.7) 4.8
Pension costs — defined contribution plan RS KA — EEa M RETE
(Note a) (FffzEa) (2.5) (1.3
Write back of unused annual leave accrual ANEERAFRET R R 0.1 0.1
Charged to income statement, net EERmANGRFE (161.7) (150.0)

Notes:

(@)

HKC

The Group uses the MPF scheme under the Hong Kong Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees employed under the
jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF scheme
is a defined contribution retirement scheme administered by independent
trustees. Under the MPF scheme, the employer and its employees
are each required to make contributions to the scheme at 5% of the
employee’s relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income
of HK$20,000. Contributions to the scheme vest immediately. The
Group’s contribution to the employee pension schemes in the PRC is at
a percentage in compliance with the requirements of respective municipal
governments.

The outstanding contributions payable totalling under the MPF scheme at
31 December 2011 were HK$0.1 million (2010: HK$0.1 million).
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12 Income tax (expense)/credit

Hong Kong profits tax has not been provided as the Group has
sufficient tax losses brought forward to offset taxable profit for the
year (2010: Nil). Mainland China income tax has been provided on the
estimated assessable profits of subsidiaries operating in the Mainland
China at rates ranging from 12% to 25% (2010: 22% to 25%), and also
withholding tax has been provided at rates ranging from 5% to 10%
on income sourced from the Mainland China by the Group’s non-tax
resident enterprises, including profit on direct or indirect equity transfer
transactions, interest and dividend income received.

Mainland China land appreciation tax is provided at progressive rates
ranging from 30% to 60% on the appreciation of land value, being the
proceeds of sale of properties less deductible expenditures (including
costs of land use rights and property development expenditures).

12 Frissi(H) R

R AL E A B 5&ATH TEE1E AR 8 AR
FEREREEHN - M ERESHEEED
BE(ZZT—ZF : &) - REAMEHIEZ
BAEREANELHBA 721$a+ﬂ’éa%$ﬂ
BH BN TFA12%E2585% 2 MR (ZE—F
G 20%Z25%) fEH B ﬁ'ﬁﬁ?ﬂﬁfb&
ANEEEE RS T EAMHABRAN T
5%ZE10% 2 EEHEME - BREKEESK
MERAEER S 2imf  BWFLE RIS
WA o

o B At - S (B A Bt - 3 THE R T F-30%
E60% M2 REV TR - THTHERIHE
WIS FRR A A R S (B E
FARERN A R ) B R RS

2011 2010
=F——F —t o
HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEBT BEATT
Current income tax BNERFR1S R

Mainland China income tax R B N AT 1S (116.3) (10.7)
Mainland China land appreciation tax PR B A 3 £ S R (R A (83.9) (14.4)
(150.2) (25.1)

Deferred income tax (Note 38) IEIEFTS R (MI5ES8)
Credited to the income statement sFARIBZEER 29.8 42.9
(120.4) 17.8

Note:

The share of income tax expense of associated companies amounting to
HK$22.7 million (2010: HK$10.8 million) and the share of income tax credit of
jointly controlled entities amounting to HK$3.6 million (2010: HK$4.1 million) are
included in the Group’s share of profits less losses of associated companies and
share of profits less losses of jointly controlled entities respectively.

FE(G B & A B 2 A5 Fi X HH 822,700,000 7T
(ZZE—ZF 10800000,%7r>&ﬂ§f£A%é&
ETZFM%%%%E%%S 600,000/ 7T (= TF
4,100,000/ 7T) ° EUW\Z&‘EEZNS LR
AEFRE B R LA & A RS FREE
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12 Income tax (expense)/credit (contineq) 12 FiER(ZH) K&

The tax of the Group’s profit/(loss) before income tax differs from the ANEBATEHADEF], (Bi8) 2\ - HiE
theoretical amount that would arise using the weighted average tax rate BmEFAREmMBRREHEEEF,
applicable to profits/(losses) of the consolidated entities as follows: (E18) 2 Bmiiia » =R ¢
2011 2010
—E——F —E-FF
HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEBET AEAT
Profit/(loss) before income tax and share of FrERia=M (BRI R
results of associated companies and jointly FEILEEE A F &
controlled entities AENRFEE 216.6 (489.0)
Tax calculated at the domestic rates applicable ZERBER 2 O%F]),EiE
to (profits)/losses in the respective countries i@ BT R5t & 2 Fi1E (50.7) 117.5
Expenses not deductible for taxation purposes A%~ £ (48.9) (56.2)
Income not subject to tax BERBUA 85.6 20.4
Tax losses not recognised RER 2 FIEEE (72.5) (49.9)
Mainland China land appreciation tax R B R b £ I (B R (83.9) (14.4)
Tax (expense)/credit FIE(ZH) e (120.4) 17.8
The weighted average applicable tax rate was 23.4% (2010: 24.0%). MNEFEERTER234%(ZF—FF ¢
24.0%) °
13 Loss attributable to equity holders of the Company 13 AATRRERIFTE AEMLE
B
The loss attributable to equity holders of the Company is dealt with in ARAARRE=FBEAEGEIRE
the financial statements of the Company to the extent of HK$551.6 551,600,000 /& 7t ( = T — & &
million (2010: HK$410.1 million), including provision for impairment 410,100,000 7T ) 1A A8 X &) 81 75 $ 3% B2
losses on investment in subsidiaries and amounts due from subsidiaries Z - RERKB AR ZIRE REKRHE AR
amounting to HK$314.1 million (2010: HK$64.0 million). SIB R E B 18 # 5314,100,0008 L (=&

—Z4F : 64,000,000/ 7C) °
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14 Earnings/(loss) per share

(@)

Basic

Basic earnings/(loss) per share is calculated by dividing the
profit/(loss) attributable to equity holders of the Company by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the
year.

14 SRERN(EE)

(@)

2N
FREREF] (BER) HREARF]
BRI A ARG (FE)
BREFRE BT E AR 2 e T Bat
o

2011 2010
—E——F —E—TF
Profit/(loss) attributable to equity holders of AN A TIIR Rz A A
the Company (HK$ Million) R (B (BE8ET) 241.3 (298.8)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares & 317 & @M%~
in issue (Million) MEFHE(EE) 10,664.5 10,359.7
Basic earnings/(loss) per share BREAREF],
(HK cents per share) (&8 (FRRBL) 2.3 (2.8)

Diluted

Diluted earnings/(loss) per share is calculated by adjusting
the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding
to assume conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares
including the share options and bonus warrants. A calculation
is made in order to determine the number of shares that could
have been acquired at fair value (determined as the average
market share price of the Company’s shares during the year)
based on the monetary value of the subscription rights attached
to outstanding share options and bonus warrants. The number
of shares calculated as above is compared with the number of
shares that would have been issued assuming the exercise of the
share options and bonus warrants.

(b)

ERRRERERAR © —F—FFH

HE
BREERTN(B1R) VB BRER
TTEEE A2 M98 DARRRPR
B8 EEE L AR (BRBRERAD
MRREE )R B L EMEHE - B
RAET H TR (W R 1T (0 8 A I AT
FRBHEE M R S EEE
H AAEEREARTFE(EER
FARRA KD 2 FATIHRE) K
B2BRMNEE - EXETEZROE#E
TH B (R RO e AL PR B M R 1T
EMEHETZIRINEE (FLLE -
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14 Earnings/(loss) per share (contined) 14 SREFN(BE)w
(b) Diluted (continued) (b) #H@=)

2011 2010
—E——F —T—TF

Profit/(loss) attributable to equity holders of ~ ZAAA FIIR R E=FEA A

the Company (HK$ Million) FEfERA, (B8R (B8%T) 241.3 (293.8)
Effect of assumed conversion of convertible {58 5, #H — K B A 713817

preference shares issued by a subsidiary AR IR B SRR 2

(HK$ Million) FE(BESBT) (11.1) (3.3)
Effect of assumed conversion of bonus R LA KB ARET

warrants issued by a subsidiary A FRARIEE < &

(HK$ Million) (B8%T) (0.8) -
229.4 (297.1)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares B 21T @k 2 iELHE (B E)

in issue (Million) 10,664.5 10,359.7
Adjustment for bonus warrants (Million) AFREEEFEAZ(BE) 47.7 =
Weighted average number of ordinary shares s+ & GAkESE R F,/(E18) 2

for diluted earnings/(loss) per share (Million) E:@A% IN#EFIHE(FHE) 10,712.2 10,359.7
Diluted earnings/(loss) per share SREERT](&1E)

(HK cents per share) (FRAAL) 2.1 (2.9)
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Diluted earnings per share for the year ended 31 December
2011 did not assume the exercise of the share options of
the Company and the share options, convertible note and
subscription rights for convertible preference shares of its listed
subsidiary outstanding during the year since the exercise would
have an anti-dilutive effect. For the year ended 31 December
2010, diluted loss per share did not assume the exercise of the
share options and bonus warrants of the Company and the share
options, warrants, convertible note and subscription rights for
convertible preference shares of its listed subsidiary outstanding
during the year since the exercise would have an anti-dilutive
effect.
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15 Distribution

On 30 August 2011, the Board of Directors proposed to make
distributions out of contributed surplus of the Company in cash by
way of special cash dividend of HK1.0 cent per ordinary share of the
Company and in kind of 57 ordinary shares of China Renewable Energy
Investment Limited (“CRE”) for every 1,000 shares of the Company to
the qualifying shareholders. On the basis of a total of 10,833,587,875
HKC shares in issue as of 30 August 2011, the Company would be
distributing 617,514,508 CRE shares. By ordinary resolutions passed
on 13 October 2011, the special cash dividend and the distribution of
CRE shares were approved (see note (a) (i) and (b) below).

On 30 August 2011, the Board of Directors also proposed to implement
a share premium reduction to reduce the amount standing to the credit
of its share premium account by approximately HK$1,134.0 million.
The credit thus arising was transferred to the contributed surplus
account of the Company. The Company applied its contributed surplus
as enlarged to set-off and eliminate its entire accumulated losses and
to make the distributions contemplated under the special dividend and
the distribution. By a special resolution passed on 13 October 2011,
the share premium reduction became unconditional and effective.

On 22 March 2012, the Board of Directors proposed a special cash
dividend of HK1.0 cent per ordinary share payable in cash, with an
option to elect new and fully paid ordinary shares of the Company in
lieu of cash under the scrip dividend scheme. The new shares will, on
issue, rank pari passu in all other respects with the existing shares.
Shareholders who do not elect for scrip shares will be paid in cash.

15

2K
R=T——F\A=TH EEEREES
ARNEGBBT A BREFARL HIEA

A AT E B0 2 EF B & A B K BA
1,00088 A2 "R (9 5 k57 3% 7 B B3 A g
RICEBRAR ([FEBAERR]) LB
Bfp e ER=—T——F N\A=1+HABET
10,833,587,875& B R I (D AER - AR
B8 5K 617,514,508[% 7 Bl A5 A 82 R HO A%
e BRREEN_—_E——F+A+=P%
Wi SRR SR E R EB ARG 2
Ik B ERLAE (R T XX E(a) () R (b)) °

R=Z—FNA=1+A  EFSEHE
TR EEIR - WERGREZRESRE
BB 491,134,000,000/8 7T - AMEEZ &
HOEBEARNRBARBRIE - AQRIEE
ERAZ BARBARKHERMRE 23R
STEIE - WIREBERIRERDRIEH DR
R-ZT——F+A+=ARBZERRE
R RS EHIRK AEEGRER

MZZT——F=A—+_-H E=SEHREMA
WET BT REBA.0E 2 BHRIR S
B IREBURAK SR EIE R IZE AR AR
TR EBRABRES IS o BITHh ZHA
fEFE E b7 ma Y EIRE R HER o
REBIEUBRREZREBLIRS S -
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15 Distribution (continueq) 15 DikE)

(@) Special cash dividends (@) HrFEERE
2011 2010
—E——F —T—TF
HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEBT BEAT
First special cash dividend paid, of HK1.0 B EXAFRERSEE - B @K
cent (2010: Nil) per ordinary share 108 ZF—FF : &) 108.3 =
Second special cash dividend (with scrip  ##IE5 — /RIERIIR S A% 8
option) proposed, of HK1.0 cent (ATARRAR) - BEmAR1 .05
(2010: Nil) per ordinary share (ZZ—ZF : |&) 108.3 -
216.6 -
()  First special cash dividend was approved and the amounts () BRENRSKRBERE - Z
were accounted for as an appropriation of the contributed TR ARIEERE=ZT ——
surplus account for the year ended 31 December 2011. FH-A=+—HIEFEZH

ABERDEL °

(i)  Second special cash dividend of HK1.0 cent (with scrip @iy TEAEB.0BM (AT ARKE)
option) per ordinary share is proposed and the amounts 2B ZIRERIE &R B
are not accounted for until they are approved at the K- MEeBRAAR  BEER
forthcoming annual general meeting. The amounts will BREERITZRERFERSG
be reflected as an appropriation of contributed surplus ERER L - SRS RENE
account for the year ending 31 December 2012. EFE——F+=-A=+—H

I FEZBABRBDEA -

(b) Distribution in kind (b) BYIDIK

The distribution of CRE shares was approved by an ordinary DIRFRBERRROR =2 —F
resolution on 13 October 2011. TAT=BEiR EBRERE o

On 3 November 2011, 1,385,170,068 CRE shares were issued R—ZZE——F+—A=H%
upon full conversion of the 1,385,170,068 convertible preferred 1,385,170,068 % 7] # % 18 5t A% &
shares and the Company distributed 617,514,508 CRE shares to 2 H 1% - 1,385,170,068 A%
its shareholders, and the Company indirectly held 1,275,541,937 BAERRKMOEZET  MAR A
CRE shares, representing approximately 54.13% of the issued M £ i R 9 Rk 617,514,508 f% A
ordinary share capital of CRE at the same date. BERERERD  BEARABERS

1,275,541,937 i% & B B 4 g8 R %
% HERBBPEBEERKNE
BT L MARA4954.13% ©
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15 Distribution (Continued)

(c) Final dividend

15 2k®)
(c) RHIERE

The Board of Directors do not recommend the payment of EESTEEMBE_E—EFR=
dividend for the years ended 31 December 2010 and 2011. T——F+-A=+—HLFERS
AR o

16 Investment properties

16 REWE

Group
rEE

2011 2010

—E——F —T—TF

HK$ Million HK$ Million

BEET AESAT

At 1 January n—A—H 6,187.0 6,944.3

Currency translation differences R E R 255.8 288.6

Additions B 471 15.7

Disposals k= (396.7) -

Costs adjustments AR (6.7) -

Transfer to prepaid land lease payments SR LA ER (9.9) -

Transfer to property, plant and equipment B S - MES R 4.2) -

Transfer from properties under development BEBERYEEA 35.9 -
Transfer to assets of disposal group classified —#EH E R AFERE S AN

as held for sale (Note 44) B (Mta4) = (1,009.9)

Transfer to properties held for sale (Note a) I FEHERg 2 W% (iita) - (134.4)

Transfer from properties held for sale (Note b) B {ESHE ik 2 ¥ A (Kistb) - 181.6

Fair value adjustments, net N EFEFE (142.0) (98.9)

At 31 December W+=—A=+—H 5,966.3 6,187.0
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16 Investment properties (continve)

140

Notes:

(@)

Management changed its intention to sell the investment properties and
the change in use was evidenced by commencement of development.
The deemed cost of the properties held for sale transferred from
investment property is the fair value of the properties at the date of
change in use.

The reclassification from “properties held for sale” in 2010 was evidenced
by commencement of lease agreements.

The 2011 valuations were based on independent assessments made by
Knight Frank. The valuation techniques adopted are described in the Note
4 to the consolidated financial statements.

At 31 December 2011, investment properties in the Mainland China of
HK$1,761.3 million (2010: HK$1,594.8 million) were pledged as securities
for the Group’s borrowings (Note 36).

The Group’s interests in investment properties at their carrying values and
the lease terms are analysed as follows:

BREME 2

Bt

EEEREEER  FHHERAMER
HRASE A mAREREER - ARE
MEBAEHEREZMERZEMER
R E B2 R EERERA »

RENRRETRACR _Z—ZFEHD
BalEHEREYE] -

= FRETARG BT
B o FRRMEERT RN RS M BHRE
FiE4 -

R=ZT——F+=-A=+—8 " ' FER
(B {E1,761,300,000/8 T (Z B — T4 :
1,594,800,000/8 7T ) 2 EWZX - BEEA
NS B TS R 2 IR (M 5E36) ©

AEEREEYF 2 iz LR ERM
HoHTan T

2011 2010
=F——F —TFF
HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEBT BEBIT

In Mainland China, held on: RAPEBERMER
Leases of between 10 to 50 years NFA0RB0FEZFHE 5,746.2 6,187.0
Leases less than 10 years PI10EZ2HE 220.1 =
5,966.3 6,187.0
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17 Prepaid land lease payments 17 B HFHEER

The Group’s interest in leasehold land and land use rights representing REE AT E + 30 [ + b {6 A 2 5T
prepaid operating lease payments and their net carrying values is TSR - EREFESITHT :

analysed as follows:

Group

A EE
2011 2011 2010 2010
—F——F ¥ —F "F-TF _"T-2F

HK$ Million HK$ Million HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEET BERT BEET BEAT

At 1 January mn—H—H 3,283.6 3,324.5
Currency translation differences bE B = 138.2 137.6
Additions NE 2.9 1.5
Transfer from deposit paid BEMREEA - 1.9
Transfer to properties held for sale I E{ERERR 2 M
(Note 28) (FfzE28) = (79.4)
Transfer from / (to) investment BREMEEAN/
properties (\H) 9.9 -
Disposals HE - (32.8)
Amortisation i
— Capitalised in properties under —BERERTMEERE
development (26.6) (28.9)
— Charged to income statement —BRERRTR
(Note 8) (PizE8) (38.0) (64.6) (40.8) (69.7)
At 31 December R+=—A=+—H 3,370.0 3,283.6
In Mainland China, held on: RAEIAREA
Leases of over 50 years HBBS0F 2 HEH 1,334.5 1,299.9
Leases of between 10to 50 years 1M F10E504E 2 HEH] 2,035.5 1,983.7
3,370.0 3,283.6
Certain bank borrowings are secured by the Group’s prepaid land AREBERM(E1,133,400,0008 L (=2 —=
lease payments with carrying values of HK$1,133.4 million (2010: £ :1,113,900,00078 7T ) 2 TEA L b A E
HK$1,113.9 million) (Note 36). EEIRLARIS & FERITiE K (MHFE36) °
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18 Property, plant and equipment

142

18 W% - ekl

Group
S ]
Electric utility Water utiity Other
Construction in plant and plant and plant and Land and
progress equipment equipment equipment buildings Total
EEBR HkBR HfgER
fERIR & & & THRET a8
HKS$ Milion HKS Million HKS Milion HKS Milion HKS Milion HKS Million
BEAT BEAT BEAT BEAT BEBT BEBT
At1 January 2010 R=E-BF-f-A
Cost R 4823 661.9 269.5 288.2 3064 2,008.3
Accumulated depreciation and ZHMER
impairment HE - (152.9) (77.6) (285.9) (120.3) (585.9)
Net book amount REAE 4823 509.4 191.9 52.7 186.1 1422.4
Year ended 31 December 2010 H2-E2-EE
TZR=t-ALEE
Opening net book amount EREEE 482.3 509.4 1919 5.7 186.1 14224
Currency translation differences Eringzs 203 207 75 14 39 538
Additions AE 16.2 0.6 — 5.4 = 22.2
Cost adjustments RARER (22.5) - - - - (22.5)
Transfer from properties held forsale ~ B{ERERRZMEEA - - - - 183 183
Transfer to properties held for sl EHEERERR 2 E = = = = (118) (118)
Transfer to assets of disposal group B EREREHNREAN
classified as held for sale (Note 44)  B&(MizE44) - - - (08) - (08)
Disposals e - - - (1.0 - (1.0
Depreciation i - (19 (194) (205 03 1.4)
Impairment losses REEE = = = (03) = (03
Closing net book amount FRERFE 496.3 508.8 180.0 36.9 187.2 1,409.2
At 31 December 2010 W_E-BE+-f=1-H
Cost R 496.3 691.1 2815 2853 320.7 2,0749
Accumulated depreciation and ZHMER
impairment E = (182.3) (101.5) (248.4) (183.9) (665.7)
Net book amount REFE 496.3 508.8 180.0 36.9 187.2 1,409.2
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18 Property, plant and equipment (continveq) 18 W12 - HERFHE 2

Group
r5E
Electric utility ~ Water utility Other
Construction in plant and plant and plant and Land and
progress equipment equipment equipment buildings Total
BEMR kiR EMEER
EEIR #1E #1E wE 1HRET g

HKSMilion ~ HKSMilion ~ HK$Milion ~ HKSMilion ~ HKSMilion  HKS Million
BEET BEET BEET BEET BEET BEET

Year ended 31 December 2011 B2-E-—-F

TZA=T-HLEE
Opening net book amount ENREFE 496.3 5088 1800 369 187.2 1409.2
Currency translation differences EipEES 0.1 305 71 09 4.1 807
Additions NE 443 98 - 135 - 67.6
Transfer from investment properties ~ EREWEEA - - - - 42 42
Reclassiication Eipxs] (492.8) 4928 = = = =
Disposals e = = = (7.4 (05) 79
Depreciation & - (55.) (209 (125 0. 07,7
Closing net book amount FRERFE 479 986.7 166.8 314 185.3 14181
At 31 December 2011 W_E-—-£+-p=1-H

Cost R 479 1,229.3 294.2 285.6 3340 2,191.0
Accumulated depreciation and ZHMER

impairment BE = (242.6) (127.4) (254.2) (148.7) (772.9)
Net book amount FEFE 479 986.7 166.8 314 185.3 1,418.1
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18 Property, plant and equipment (continveq) 18 W12 - HERFHE 2

In 2010, depreciation expenses for property, plant and equipment of RZZT—ZF + 200,0008 70 2 W3 - 1
HK$0.2 million had been capitalised in properties under development REBENTERXERNERPYERTE
and included as part of the additions. Depreciation expenses of K ERARBEZ —HH  mMIrERIZH
HK$97.7 million (2010: HK$70.9 million) have been charged in 97,700,0007& 7T ( == —Z4F : 70,900,000
operating profit/(loss) (Note 8). BIT) BEAEAKEEF, (BB ) AR (K&
8) °
Certain bank borrowings are secured by certain of the Group’s A& ER®{E,077,300,0008 T (—E—=
properties, plant and equipment with carrying values of HK$1,077.3 £ :1,038,900,000/8 70 ) 2 & T -« #
million (2010: HK$1,038.9 million) (Note 36). 22 R R B E AR A ES & TRITER (M
36) °
The Group’s interests in land and buildings at their carrying values and REERZREE R T REF 2w
the lease terms are analysed as follows: LARFAERSHTLAT
2011 2010
—E——5F —E-TF
HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEET BEBTT
In Hong Kong, held on: RAER - A TFERFE
Leases of between 10 to 50 years LN F10E505F 86.3 88.9
In Mainland China, held on: R EA - RIA T FEREA
Leases of between 10 to 50 years LN F10E505F 43.6 98.3
Leases less than 10 years L DR105F 55.4 -
185.3 187.2
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19 Intangible assets 19 BFEE

Group
A%
Concession Other
rights - intangible
Goodwill toll road assets Total
Rt — Hity
g 6= B &R k]

HKS$ Milion ~ HK$ Milion ~ HK$ Milion  HKS$ Milion
BEAT BEAT BEBT BEBT

At 1 January 2010 RZZE—ZF—HA—H
Cost [B#N 409.5 1,6083.1 53.1 2,065.7
Accumulated amortisation and ZErEHERRE
impairment (375.7) (454.9) (43.5) (874.1)
Net book amount REFE 33.8 1,148.2 9.6 1,191.6
Year ended 31 December 2010 BE-ZE-TF
TZA=+—HLEE
Opening net book amount FANAREFE 33.8 1,148.2 9.6 1,191.6
Currency translation differences PE N ME =5 - 48.1 - 481
Costs adjustments AR = (30.3) - (30.3)
Amortisation (Note 8) a5 (MizEs) = (6.3 1.2 (7.5)
Impairment losses (Note 7) REEE (M) (33.8) - 4.5) (38.3)
Closing net book amount FREREFE - 1,159.7 3.9 1,163.6
At 31 December 2010 N-E—FF
+=HA=+—H
Cost B 409.5 1,640.1 53.1 2,102.7
Accumulated amortisation and ZErEHERRE
impairment (409.5) (480.4) (49.2) (939.1)
Net book amount fREDHE - 1,159.7 3.9 1,163.6
Year ended 31 December 2011 BE-E——&F
TZA=+—HLEE
Opening net book amount FANIREFE - 1,159.7 3.9 1,163.6
Currency translation differences PE N ME = - 49.2 - 49.2
Additions NE - 1.2 0.2 14
Amortisation (Note 8) #iE(MizEs) = (7.7) (0.4) (8.1)
Closing net book amount FIRIREFE - 1,202.4 3.7 1,206.1
At 31 December 2011 N—E——F
+=HA=t—-H
Cost B 409.5 1,711.2 541 2,174.8
Accumulated amortisation and ZErEHERRE
impairment (409.5) (508.8) (50.4) (968.7)
Net book amount HREHE - 1,202.4 & 1,206.1
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Intangible assets (contineq) 19 BEEE@®)
Impairment tests for goodwill B RERI
Goodwill is allocated to the Group’s cash-generating units identified B SREEFEBREB D BAEBRR SR
according to country of operation and business segment. For the EXREEZEHRBRSEEENM o FURER
purpose of impairment testing, the recoverable amount of the HAENME @ EFEM 2 AJRESEETIRE
business unit is determined based on value-in-use calculations. The FREBNEET - sIEEAEEMERE
key assumptions adopted for growth rates and discount rates used in RITBREFEN s T EREDBIEEERE 2 &
the value-in-use calculation is based on management best estimates. EEEEE - R —FF - ;HERAAN
In 2010, the calculation used pretax cash flow projections based on AR M E TR THAE R EFT#t iz T = F 5
financial budgets approved by management covering a 12-year period MHEE 2R enE /AEE - WRITHEN
cash flow and based on a discount rate of 5.75% to 10.04% taking into F5.75% £ 10.04% 51 A FEF5 B AL 2 [z 7K
account the risk level of the business unit. Growth rates with range from F o BRENTF3%E10% Ti5T R A &I
3% to 10% were determined by considering both internal and external HARETE °
factors.
Properties under development 20 BRPYIE
Group
rEH
2011 2010
—Z2——F —E-TF
HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEBT BEBT
Properties under development comprise: BRERAYEDSE
Construction costs and capitalised expenditure  E2EERC AN M & AR FSE 870.4 431.8
Amortisation of prepaid land lease payments  TEA + A SR 5 46.7 24.5
917.1 456.3

The properties under development are all located in the Mainland
China.

At 31 December 2011, properties under development with carrying
value of HK$490.0 million (2010: HK$211.8 million) was pledged as
securities for the Group’s borrowings (Note 36).
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Investments in subsidiaries and amounts due from

21 RBABZIREREWHE

subsidiaries NGIE S

2011 2010

—ZT——F —TTF

HKS$ Millon ~ HKS$ Million

BEBT BEBT

Unlisted shares, at cost FEETIARD - KA 224.6 215.4
Provision for impairment losses REEEEE (57.7) (47.4)
166.9 168.0

Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUR KT A FIFRIA 9,836.4 10,214.1
Provision for impairment losses BB IR B (857.7) (52.0)
9,478.7 10,162.1

9,645.6 10,330.1

Amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest free, and
repayable within the next twelve months. Their carrying amounts
approximate their fair values. The balances are mainly denominated in
Hong Kong dollars. The same was noted in 2010.

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are set out on pages 184 to
190.

Interests in associated companies

R A AR ARG - 2.8
F+—EARME - BREEERR
B - KA BB TAE - Lt
—E-FFHER -

FEMBLAF ZFIBHNE184E1908 ©

22 MEFE LT zED

]}l]]

2011 2010

=F——F —FFF

HK$ Million HK$ Million

BERBT BEAT

Group’s share of net assets REBELEEFE 1,028.4 904.7
Amounts due from associated companies, net & UYiB: < A 7] A IEF 58 90.2 678.9
1,118.6 1,5683.6

Amounts due from associated companies are unsecured, interest
free and not repayable within the next twelve months. Their carrying
amounts approximate their fair values. The balances are mainly
denominated in Hong Kong dollars. The same was noted in 2010,
except for the balances were mainly denominated in Renminbi.

& JBsE ' /) R RIRNE AR - 28 M BA
RA+—{E A N,al@ BHEREEREAF
BERE - ﬁﬁ%%ﬁiﬁb{%mm%ﬁ o BREFEEE
EUARBESES - DiEBR T —FF
GENCI

< %
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Interests in associated companies (continueq)

The following financial information, after making adjustments to conform
to the Group’s significant accounting policies, represents the Group’s
aggregate share of assets, liabilities, revenue and results of associated
companies, all of which are unlisted, and is summarised as below:

22

REEE N T 2w (e

THBANDEBEUH AT EEEEE
SHEE - RRAEEAS REEREAT(2
HEAFLHAT) 2 EE - AfE - K8
SERAMT

2011 2010

—E2——F —T-TF

HK$ Million HK$ Million

BEET AEBT

Assets BE 3,153.0 3,999.3
Liabilities afE (2,124.6) (3,094.6)
Net assets AEFE 1,028.4 904.7
Revenue WS 320.5 150.4
Profit before income tax P15 %5 Az A 133.9 100.7
Income tax expense (Note 12) Frisiisz i (f9aE12) (22.7) (10.8)
Profit for the year IR A 111.2 89.9

Details of principal associated companies are set out on page 191.

In September 2011, the Group entered into a sale and purchase
agreement to dispose of its entire 45% equity interest in and, also the
loan owing by such associated company to the Group. The associated
company’s principal asset is its 76.6% interest in a PRC company
which owns a hotel in Beijing. The total amount of consideration is
HK$578.0 million.

HKC (Holdings) Limited ® Annual Report 2011
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23 Interests in jointly controlled entities 23 REE TZER

2011 2010

—E——F —E—EF

HK$ Million HK$ Million

BEBT BEATT

Group’s share of net assets REFRGEEFE 1,916.3 1,855.4
Amounts due from jointly controlled entities FEW A Z AR RIE 152.8 61.1
2,069.1 1,916.5

The following financial information, after making adjustments to conform
to the Group’s significant accounting policies, represents the Group’s
aggregate share of assets, liabilities and results of the jointly controlled

THFBER KA AEETES
AR - RRAKEAHBEERERRZE
ZE - AEREERROT

entities and is summarised as below:

2011 2010
—=——%F —T-TF
HK$ Million HK$ Million
BHEBT BEBT

Assets BE
Non-current assets JEMBNE E 2,598.9 2,371.3
Current assets MENEE 4.0 5.9
2,602.9 2,377.2

Liabilities =NE
Non-current liabilities EREAaE (480.1) (293.8)
Current liabilities nEBE (206.5) (228.0)
(686.6) (521.8)
Net assets BEFE 1,916.3 1,855.4
Loss before income tax FrfS#i R B8 (21.2) (19.0)

Income tax credit (Note 12) PSR e (FIE12) 3.6 4.1

Loss for the year ANF [ E51E (17.6) (14.9)

Notes: it

(@)  Balances with jointly controlled entities are unsecured, interest free (@ HEEEARMZARITERE 2 RE
and not repayable within the next 12 months. Their carrying amounts ARARTZEAAANER - BERmMEHR
approximate their fair values. The balances are mainly denominated in HEATERS - HBBEFEUARKLEE -

Renminbi.

(b) There are no material contingent liabilities relating to the Group’s interest
in the jointly controlled entities and no contingent liabilities within the

respective entities.

(c) Details of the principal jointly controlled entities are set out on page 192.

(o)  IWEBRAEE T

HZRBE - MEASER

REME -

BEAAERIEN
A% B B ER

€ EERERRZFHBHNE192E -
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24 Derivative financial instrument 24 PTESRIE

Group
rEE
2011 2010
—=E=——F —ZT-TF
HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEBT BEAT
Put option Roh HRkE - 5.0
The balance represents a put option right to sell the Group’s 45% BREEIE S AL B R — & 2 alHong
interest in Hong Kong Construction Kam Lung Limited, an associated Kong Construction Kam Lung Limited 45%
company, and was fair valued at 31 December 2010. The option right a2 RnHE  ERZE—ZTF+H
was disposed of in 2011. =+—HBERATESR - ZREHEE R
T——FHE -
25 Available-for-sale financial assets 25 AHHEERERE
Group
rEH
2011 2010
—E2——F —ETF
HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEET BESAT
At 1 January R—H—H 31.3 27.2
Currency translation differences R IRE =5 0.9 0.9
Disposal k= (1.4) -
Net gains recognised in equity (Note 35) RS 2 Waas F 58 (Fi5E35) 1.0 3.2
At 31 December ®n+—-—A=+—8H 31.8 31.3
Available-for-sale financial assets include the ~ AItHE SR EEBIE TFISIE :
following:
Unlisted securities IE L THRE S
Equity securities — PRC MR E S — 22.0 23.5
Club debentures GRS 9.8 7.8
31.8 8.8
Available-for-sale financial assets are denominated in the following A E SR EEN N E%EHE
currencies:
2011 2010
—E——F —E-TF
HKS$ Million HK$ Million
BEBT BEAT
Hong Kong dollars PSTT 9.3 7.4
Renminbi AR 22,5 23.9
31.8 S8
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26 Financial instruments by category 26 ZERIpzERmIA

Group
rEE
Assets at fair Derivative
Loansand  value through financial Available-
receivables profit or loss instrument for-sale Total
BAVEE
BERIER
ERRER ZEE  {TEERIA e o]

HK$ Million HKS Milion HK$ Million HK$ Milion HK$ Milion
BEAT BEAT BEAT BEAT BEAT

Assets as per consolidated balance  GAEEREREE

sheet
At 31 December 2010 RZE-Z4+-A=+-H
Available-for-sale financial assets AHESR

(Note 25) B (fifk25) - = - 313 313
Financial assets at fair value BRATEERERIIEZ

through profit or loss (Note 29) SREE(MF29) = 13.6 = - 136
Derivative financial instrument e

(Note 24) TA(M24) - = 50 - 50
Amounts due from associated iGN

companies, net (Note 22) FEFE(Hzk22) 678.9 = = - 678.9
Amounts due from jointly controlled EREEATH

entities (Note 23) B (MFE23) 61.1 = = = 611
Trade and other receivables FEMR TR R At

(Note 30) FEWR (3230 385.1 - - - 385.1
Restricted cash (Note 32) ZRHE S (H:E32) 320.6 = = - 3206
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 33) B4 R4S B (Fizi33) 1,903.3 = = - 1,908.3
Total a5 3,349.0 13.6 5.0 31.3 3,398.9
At 31 December 2011 RZE—F+-A=+-H
Available-for-sale financial assets fthESH

(Note 25) B (HiE2s5) = = = 31.8 318
Financial assets at fair value BATEEEERIIRL

through profit or loss (Note 29) SREE(MH) - 140 - - 140
Amounts due from associated NG|

companies, net (Note 22) FE - FE(E22) 90.2 - - - 90.2
Amounts due from jointly controlled F@qﬁlé VN

entities (Note 23) A (fitEo3) 152.8 - - - 152.8
Non-current receivable (Note 30) FEmE R (Fi7E30) 295.6 - - - 295.6
Trade and other receivables FEMERT R L At

(Note 30) PR (FiEE30) 4258 = = - 4258
Restricted cash (Note 32) SRR HHE S (H7E32) 2135 = = = 2135
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 33) B2 B2 SEN(HH33) 3,115.0 = = = 3,115.0
Total pks] 4,352.9 14.0 - 31.8 4,398.7
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26 Financial instruments by category (continved)

152

26 ZERED2ERmMITEm)

Group
REE
Liabilities at Other
fair value financial
through profit liabilities at
orloss amortised cost Total
BOYE bed
TERERIIER BAGtE
ZBfE zHMEHERE Fak]
HK$ Million HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEAT BEAT BEATL
Liabilities as per consolidated REEEERER
balance sheet ZEafE
At 31 December 2010 RZE-ZF+-A=+—H
Borrowings (Note 36) fE R (F:E36) = 3,682.4 3,682.4
Derivative liability (Note 39) PTETABE(HTEE]9) 75.5 = 75.5
Trade and other payables (Note 37) P A58 BR R e LA A 3R (B 3E37) - 902.0 902.0
Other non-current payables HAh IEMEN IR 264.9 59.0 323.9
Total k] 340.4 4,643.4 4,983.8
At 31 December 2011 RN—_ZE—F+=-A=+—8”
Borrowings (Note 36) &R (FizE36) - 3,730.9 3,730.9
Derivative liability (Note 39) TETABE(HTFE39) 9.4 - 9.4
Trade and other payables (Note 37) JE AT R 3R I LA FE AT 3R (B 2E37) 261.6 869.0 1,130.6
Other non-current payables HAIERENFETR - 19.5 19.5
Total ek 271.0 4,619.4 4,890.4
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26 Financial instruments by category (continued) 26 RERED2ERMITA
Company
AAT
Assets at fair
Loans and value through
receivables profit or loss Total
N
BRR FERRRIIE
e ZEE k)
HK$ Million HK$ Million HKS$ Million
HEBTL B BEBT
Assets as per balance sheet EEABRZEE
At 31 December 2010 R-F-—FF+-_A=1+—A
Amounts due from subsidiaries, Bk RERERHEARZ
net of provision (Note 21) FIE (fEE21) 10,162.1 - 10,162.1
Financial assets at fair value BAFEEERRIIEZ
through profit or loss (Note 29) SEEE (Fii7F29) = 0.3 0.3
Other receivables (Note 30) Hofth R (FEE30) 1.7 - 1.7
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 33) Be KREFEY(FFE33) 4.9 = 4.9
Total Fak] 10,168.7 0.3 10,169.0
At 31 December 2011 R+ A=t
Amounts due from subsidiaries, E?Dl%a—ﬁéﬁférﬁ' A )ENE] Z
net of provision (Note 21) I (fEE21) 9,478.7 = 9,478.7
Other receivables (Note 30) H ok (MiEE30) 1.1 = 1.1
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 33) R kEeEEW(HEESS) 409.6 - 409.6
Total 4A%E 9,889.4 - 9,889.4
Company
RAT
Other financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
R R AT E
ZHthEwmE RS
HK$ Million
AEAT
Liabilities as per balance sheet EEBERzEE
At 31 December 2010 RZE—ZFE+_A=+—H
Other payables (Note 37) E At A R (HI7E37) 10.3
At 31 December 2011 RZE——F+_A=+—H
Other payables (Note 37) H At S R (HI7E37) 141
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Inventories 21 FE
Group
REE
2011 2010
—=——fF —E—FF
HK$ Million HKS$ Million
BEBT BEBT
Raw materials R - 2.8
Consumables and others JHE G R E At 10.4 9.9
104 12.7
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. FE ThiAK AN ] BIR R E Z SR B HIER o
Inventories amounting to HK$2.9 million (2010: Nil) were written down HE-ZE——F1+-A=1T—HIEEFE &
for the year ended 31 December 2011. 202,900,000 TT(=E—FF : ®)2FE
RO,
Properties held for sale 28 {ESHERZE 2

At 31 December 2011, properties held for sale that are carried at
net realisable value amounted to HK$157.6 million (2010: HK$370.8
million). In 2010, a write back of provision for impairment losses of
HK$0.3 million was credited to the consolidated income statement.

At 31 December 2011, no properties held for sale (2010: HK$115.8
million) was pledged as securities for the Group’s borrowings (Note 36).
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29 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 29 §Q¥{EEE§%€§UEEZ$E$

BE
Group Company
AEE ARF
2011 2010 2011 2010

—$ & | “T-TF | & F _“T-ITF
HK$ Million ~ HK$ Milion ~ HKS$ Million ~ HK$ Million
HEBL BEAT BEBT AEATL

Equity securities: MRAFEF
— Listed in Hong Kong — &L
at market value ZRHE 0.2 0.3 - 0.3
— Unlisted —JE LT 13.8 13.3 - -
14.0 13.6 - 0.3
Changes in fair values of financial assets at fair value through profit or RAFEEERKRIEZSHEEATEE
loss are recorded in other income in the consolidated income statement B - sTAGEBIRRAEMUA (FF5ES) °
(Note 6).
The fair value of equity securities is based on the current bid price AT S 2 AFETIRIENEE B TSR
quoted in the market at the balance sheet date. EREABE -
30 Trade and other receivables 30 FEUNBRER HfbpEU =k
Group Company
rEE PN
2011 2010 2011 2010
—E——fF —E-TF —E——fF —E-TF
HKS$ Million HK$ Million HK$ Million HKS$ Million
BEBT BEBT BEBT BEBT
Trade receivables TEUBRE TN 142.4 91.5 - -
Less: provision for impairment of R EIER
receivables BERHE (11.6) (19.0) - -
Trade receivables — net FEW R ROFFE 130.8 72.5 - =
Bills receivable FEWEE 17.2 26.0 - -
Retention receivables FEUWIREE X ER 30.3 29.3 - -
Other receivables and deposits, H b iR W GR K
net of provisions E& (B HBREE) 231.9 244.0 1.1 1.7
Gross amounts due from customers EIWEFE & X T2
for contract works (Note 31) FIBAERE (MI7E31) 9.0 10.0 - =
Amounts due from related FE U FEH A F)
companies (Note b) A (D) 6.6 33 = -

425.8 385.1 1.1 1.7
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30 Trade and other receivables (continved)

156

Notes:

(@)

HKC

30

FEUR 8RR 2 EL AL R W

The ageing analysis of trade receivables at year end, net of provision for @ RFEAB  BEHRRERERERERZ
impairment, was as follows: BREROATINT :
Group
AEE
2011 2010
—E——F —ET-TF
HK$ Million HK$ Million
BAEET AEET
0 to less than 2 months TEPR2(EA 70.9 45.0
2 to less than 6 months 2&=LR6fE A 17.1 2.3
6 to less than 12 months 6Z L1218 A 31.3 15.9
12 months and more 12{E A RIA £ 11.5 9.3
130.8 72.5

The Group’s credit terms for the contracting business are negotiated with
and entered into under normal commercial terms with its trade customers.
Various group companies have different credit policies depending on the
requirements of their markets and the businesses which they operate.
Retention money receivables in respect of contracting services are settled
in accordance with the terms of respective contracts.

There is no concentration of credit risk with respect to trade receivables, as
the Group has a large number of customers.

Amounts due from related companies are unsecured, interest free and
have no fixed terms of repayment. The balances are mainly denominated
in Renminbi.

Depending on the line of business, trade receivables that are less than 12
months past due are not considered impaired. As at 31 December 2011,
trade receivables of HK$11.5 million (2010: HK$9.3 million) were past due
but not impaired. These relate to a number of independent customers for
whom there is no recent history of default. No other receivables were past
due or impaired.

As at 31 December 2011, trade receivables of HK$11.6 million (2010:
HK$19.0 million) were impaired. A total provision of HK$11.6 million (2010:
HK$19.0 million) was made against the receivables at the year end date.
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30 Trade and other receivables (continued) 30 FEWERFI R EMmEWT =

Notes: (Continued) MiE  (48)

(d) The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade and other receivables are

d) AKEZERIRREEMERZ REE

denominated in the following currencies: TSI EMEHE -
2011 2010
—E——-F —T-TF
HK$ Million HK$ Million
ABET ABEAT
Hong Kong dollars BT 43.6 61.0
Renminbi AR 382.2 323.4
US dollars ES - 0.7
425.8 385.1
(e)  There is a bank borrowing secured by certain of the Group’s trade () ASKEIRMEE44,100,0008T(ZFE—=F
receivables with carrying values of HK$44.1 million (2010: HK$26.4 4 : 26,400,000 7T) 2 & TREKERREE
million) (Note 36). FRABIS — I IR1TE R (M 5E36)
() Movements on the provision for impairment of trade receivables are as G} FEMER S 2 B R EZ BN T -
follows:
2011 2010
—E——fF —T-TF
HK$ Million HK$ Million
BAEET BEBT
At 1 January n—H—H 19.0 19.9
Currency translation differences FENRE 25 0.4 1.5
Reclassification from provision for other receivables B E fb fEU R B B E T H 48 0.4 -
Reclassification to assets held for sale BN REEHERABRZEE = (1.2)
Write back of provision for impairment losses B TR B s e (0.4) 0.8)
Trade receivables written off during the year as F NS AT IRE 2
uncollectible FEHRR R (7.8) (0.4)
At 31 December W+=—A=+—H 11.6 19.0
(@  The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying (@ RIEAHPzESEERKRAE LMSHERE
value of each class of receivable mentioned above. The Group does not Wk 2 BREIE » AN B &% A T
hold any collateral as security. IEFER ©
(h) Non-current receivable is secured, receivable within 14 months counting (h) ERFENZT EEIRE « RELB#EE14
from the balance sheet date, with the rate of interest ranging from 6%-20% & A RUER B EFEN F6% E20% % o
per annum. The balance is denominated in Hong Kong dollars. HETEUBIITESE -
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31 Construction contracts in progress 31 ERIRESY

Group
REE
2011 2010
—E——F —EEF
HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEBT BEBT
Contract costs incurred plus attributable profits & Z95 ZS i 2 FE R e S R
recognised less provision for foreseeable losses A 78 B 518 #4& 1,568.1 1,908.9
Progress payments received and receivable B U R FE W S SR (1,559.1) (1,898.9)
9.0 10.0
Representing: Rk :
Gross amounts due from customers for contract 5+ A JEURBR 3 &% B A B 3k 2
works included in trade and other receivables JEREFE&H TIEHKIE
(Note 30) ##E (M15E30) 9.0 10.0
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32 Restricted cash 32 FRFIRE
Group
REE
2011 2010
—E——F —EEF
HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEABT AEAT
Restricted cash represents: ZREIIREIE
Deposits placed with banks FEHRRERIRITZFR
— for securing banking facilities granted to —RAEEETYHEER
certain buyers of properties of the Group FEFERITREE 5.1 4.9
— for securing performance bonds — EISBAIRZ 1.1 1.1
— for securing certain bank loans —BREUS A TIRITER 155.1 1585.0
Deposits placed with a bank FERR—MBRITZER
— for the split of land title certificate in —MEEB RS
respect of property project THIFT A R - 82.9
— with the account jointly held with a third party in =~ — gt —IBE& R ELRIER
respect of an alternative energy project HE=HERFEERR 1.0 0.9
Escrow accounts relating to pre-sale deposits held $E& 8RB % & —1B1%
for a property resettlement scheme mBAEIZTEERT S 69.0 75.8
Escrow accounts relating to deposits held for AERE SN ZIEYE
property development projects ZREI 2T 42.2 =
273.5 320.6

BRRR(ZRARAT © —T—F5H
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33 Cash and cash equivalents 33 RERAESZEEY
Group Company
rEE AT
2011 2010 2011 2010
—E2——fF —E-TF —E——-F —E-TF
HK$ Million HK$ Million HK$ Million HKS$ Million
BEBT BEBT BEBT BEBT
Cash and cash equivalents B RBEZEY
comprises the following: BEATEE :
Cash at bank and on hand RITRFERES 2,339.2 1,274.3 6.6 4.9
Short-term bank deposits EHIRITIER 1,049.3 949.6 403.0 -
3,388.5 2,223.9 409.6 4.9
Less: Restricted cash (Note 32)  J& : R HIZR % (FI5E32) (273.5) (320.6) - -
3,115.0 1,9083.3 409.6 4.9
Group Company
rEH NG
2011 2010 2011 2010
—E——F —E-TF —EB——-F —E-TF
HK$ Million HK$ Million HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEBT BEBT BEBT BEBT
Cash and cash equivalents and RekREEENR
restricted cash XBHIRE
(@) Placed in banks in the PRC: (@) MPEEHRITFE
— denominated in Renminbi — AR & 1,468.3 1,279.7 - =
— denominated in —BTLEE
Hong Kong dollars 832.5 384.8 - -
— denominated in US dollars —UETEE 320.6 22.8 - =
(b) Placed in banksin Hong Kong: (b) MEBEHETES :
— denominated in Renminbi —NARKERZE 438.2 - 376.9 -
— denominated in —ABTTHEE
Hong Kong dollars 326.4 476.2 32.1 4.9
— denominated in US dollars —AETEE 25 60.4 0.6 -
3,388.5 2,223.9 409.6 4.9
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33 Cash and cash equivalents (continved) 33

The effective interest rates at the balance sheet date were as follows:

HERREEEY &
WEEH A Y EEHEMT -

2011 2010
—F——F —T-TF
HK$ uUSs$ RMB HKS$ Us$ RMB
BT EY AR¥ BT xETT AR
0.01%- 0.50%-  0.01%- 0.36%-
Short-term bank deposits ~ EEIIRITIFR 2.68% - 310% 1.07% 1.00% 1.98%

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the
carrying value of the cash and bank balances stated above.

The short-term bank deposits of the Group and the Company have
original maturities of three months or less.

RS BHES 2 KRR EERR LA
ZRE MIRITRAMRIREE °

AEBEARREBRRTERZRIBAR
=MEAZLAT »

34 Share capital 34 RA
Number of Ordinary
shares shares
RDEE Tk
Note (Million) HKS$ Million
fi=E (B8) BEAT
Authorised EE
At 1 January and RZE—ZF—A—HK
31 December 2010, +—A=T—HURK
1 January and —T—F—f—Hk
31 December 2011 +=-—A=+—H 30,000.0 300.0
Issued and fully paid ERTRAR
At 1 January 2010 R-Z—Z5—A—8 9,395.7 939
Exercise of bonus warrants “407” 1AL M SRR RERE 407 | (@) 43.1 05
Exercise of bonus warrants “492” TR AT FIGR AR B 492 () 0.4 0.1
Issue of bonus shares BATAL IR (© 9425 9.4
Repurchase during the year FAHED (d) (2.0) (0.1)
At 31 December 2010 RZE—ZTFE+-A=+—H 10,379.7 103.8
At 1 January 2011 R=—ZE—%—HF—H 10,379.7 103.8
Exercise of bonus warrants “407” TTIEAT N R AR HERE 407 | (a) 353.5 35
Exercise of bonus warrants “492” TP AT IR AR REE[ 492 (b) 100.4 1.0
At 31 December 2011 R_Z—F+-_A=+—H 10,833.6 108.3
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34 Share capital (continueq)

162

Notes:

(@)

On 22 May 2009, the Company issued 825,481,451 warrants (Warrant
Code: 407) on the basis of 1 warrant for every 10 existing shares of the
Company held by the shareholders (“bonus warrants “407””). The holders
of bonus warrants “407” are entitled to subscribe at any time during 22
May 2009 to 21 May 2011 for fully paid shares at a subscription price of
HK$0.40 per share (subject to adjustment).

On 30 October 2009, the subscription price of bonus warrants “407” was
adjusted to HK$0.36 per share as a result of the issue of bonus shares.

On 30 April 2010, the subscription price of bonus warrants “407” was
further adjusted to HK$0.313 per share as a result of the issue of bonus
shares.

43,072,732 new ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each were issued upon the
exercise of 43,072,732 units of bonus warrants “407” for the year ended
31 December 2010. As at 31 December 2010, 491,317,391 units of
bonus warrants “407” remained outstanding.

353,512,034 new ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each were issued upon the
exercise of 353,512,034 units of bonus warrants “407” for the period from
1 January 2011 to 21 May 2011 and the outstanding bonus warrants “407”
expired on 21 May 2011.

On 9 June 2010, the Company issued 942,466,221 warrants (Warrant
Code: 492) on the basis of 1 warrant for every 10 existing shares of the
Company held by the shareholders (“bonus warrants “492"”). The holders
of bonus warrants “492” are entitled to subscribe at any time during 9
June 2010 to 8 June 2011 for fully paid shares at a subscription price of
HK$0.50 per share (subject to adjustment).

482,240 new ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each were issued upon the
exercise of 482,240 units of bonus warrants “492” for the year ended 31
December 2010. As at 31 December 2010, 941,983,981 units of bonus
warrants “492” remained outstanding.
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34 Share capital (continueq)

Notes: (Continued)

(®)

(Continued)

100,390,086 new ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each were issued upon the
exercise of 100,390,086 units of bonus warrants “492” for the period from
1 January 2011 to 8 June 2011 and the outstanding bonus warrants “492”
expired on 8 June 2011.

On 9 June 2010, the Company approved the issue of 942,466,221
bonus shares on the basis of 1 bonus share for every 10 ordinary shares
held. The bonus shares are issued and credited as fully paid upon issue
and rank pari passu in all respects with the existing shares with effect
from the date of issue. The issue of bonus shares was funded by way of
capitalisation of certain amounts standing to the credit of the Company’s
contributed surplus account.

For the year ended 31 December 2010, the Company repurchased a total
of 2,000,000 of its own shares on the Stock Exchange, all of which have
been cancelled as follows:—

34 BRA®)
i : (%)

(®)

Number of shares

(&)
R-ZE——&—fF—HB&E-Z——FXA
J\BHARE » 100,390,0860% & I {E0.0175
TT 2 3 58 B 100,390,086 17 4T F| 52 %
PR 492 | EITER 31T - RITEZALF
RRREBT492 [N =T ——FXB/\BH
PR JE i ©

RZZ—ZFANA  ARRREH
E10M L BAR o] 21 ARAT IR 2 R AEBE T
942,466,221 R AT A% AT AR 21T RF 51 VE K
BRI ERETEPRERGE
RAE#m - ARFITEBBARBAAR
BIERE THERESEERAMZ A HAEE -

HE_Z—TF+-_A=+—HItFEE
AN E B R FTRE Bl B A +£2,000,0008% 8%
17 ZERMHEHDEWES @ FBOT -

Total Purchase price per share

Month/year repurchased purchase price Highest and lowest
BREEE

F/R BE RO E BIBEE B R&E
HK$ Million HK$

BEBTT BT

January 2010 —T—ZTF—H 2,000,000 1.3 0.63
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34 Share capital (continueq) 34 R

Notes: (Continued) MiE  (48)

(e)  Share options are granted to employees, senior executives or officers, ) AARMAEEETEMKEARHIEZE
managers, directors or consultants of any members of the Group or any EREE  SafRITHRABREEAS -
Invested Entity. 12 - EELEMR L ERE -

The exercise price must be at least the higher of TEBEASLAUTREE
i) the closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s (i) BRI B B R Fr g B 3R (B
daily quotations sheet on the date of grant; RATSIRTE
(ii) the average closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock (ii) BHhEEREBHAAELEBEE
Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five business days B2 ATEERERAITFHET
immediately preceding the date of grant; and & &
(i)  the nominal value of a share. (ii) ARDEE °
An option must be exercised within ten years from the date on which BREENF L AR T ERESEH
it is granted or such shorter period as the Board may specify at the REPAE I R R 4R BA 2 B BRI M TT(E o 1R
time of grant. An offer of the grant of an option shall remain open for ERHZERETEIRE B R T-EE
acceptance for a period of ten business days from the date of offer and a XA MRRNEEARER  ERRESH
consideration of HK$1 must be paid upon acceptance. 1ABTTHRIE o
Movements in the number of share options outstanding and their related AT Z BREZSE R ERINEFEETT
weighted average exercise prices are as follows: FESFNT :
Average
exercise price
in HK dollar Number of
per share options
FREH
BITITEE fERRESE
At 1 January 2010 RZZE—ZF—H—H 1.465 235,840,000
Granted before the issue of bonus shares BITHRAE T 0.630 30,000,000
Lapsed before the issue of bonus shares FATALIRAIE K3 1.431 (63,350,000)
Issue of bonus shares BEITALRE - 21,249,000
Granted after the issue of bonus shares BT REE RS 0.488 30,000,000
Lapsed after the issue of bonus shares AT PRIE B R 1.227 (6,655,000)
At 31 December 2010 RZZE—ZF+-_A=+—H 1.145 257,084,000
At 1 January 2011 Rn=-—T—F—H—H 1.145 257,084,000
Granted & 0.360 10,000,000
Lapsed KK 0.997 (82,005,000)
At 31 December 2011 RZT——F+=-A=+—H 1.168 185,079,000
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34 Share capital (continueq)

34 BRA®)

Notes: (Continued) Mt (48)
(e)  (Continued) e (&)
Number of outstanding share options at 31 December 2011 and 2010 RZE——FRZT—ZTF+_A=1—
are as follows: H rﬁﬂiﬁﬁz,ﬁﬁﬂﬂgﬁﬁﬂ—l— :
Exercise price At At
per share 31 December 31 December
Date of grant Exercise period (adjusted) 2011 2010
BRITHEE N=Z——F R=Z—ZF
b =b g (&#AB) +=BA=+—H +=A=t-—-H
(HK$)
(%7T)
15 December 2006 15 December 2007 to14 December 2016 1.174 7,774,250 14,792,250
ZETRFTZATRAE  ZETHET-ATRAREZ—AFT-ATHNA
15 December 2006 15 December 2008 to 14 December 2016 1174 13,582,250 25,077,250
ZEEXE+ZA+TAR  ZEE/\F+-ATRRE-ZT—F+-A+HEA
15 December 2006 15 December 2009 to 14 December 2016 1.174 14,822,500 17,847,500
ZTRFTZA+TREE  ZEEAFTZA+RBE-Z—AF+-A+EH
3 July 2007 15 December 2007 to 2 July 201 7 1.901 6,050,000 6,050,000
—TTHELA=R ZETtF+-ATRRAE-T—tFtA=H
3 July 2007 15 December 2008 to 2 July 2017 1.901 3,025,000 3,025,000
—ZET+E+ A=A —EEN\E+A+ABREZT—tFtHA=H
3 July 2007 15 December 2009 to 2 July 2017 1.901 3,025,000 3,025,000
—TTHELA=H “ETNF+ZATRABE-T—tFtA=H
1 February 2008 1 February 2009 to 31 January 2018 1.368 19,360,000 24,853,400
—ZTN\FE-A—H —ETNF-A—BE=FT-\F—A=1+—H
1 February 2008 1 February 2010 to 31 January 2018 1.368 29,040,000 37,280,100
—ZEN\E=-A—H —E-TE-A-AE2-F—-/\F—HA=1+—H
1 February 2008 1 February 2011 to 31 January 2018 1.368 48,400,000 62,133,500
—TTN\FZA—H —T——%-A-HEZT-/\§—A=1+—H
20 January 2010 20 January 2011 to 19 January 2013 0.573 - 6,600,000
—T-TF—A=+H —T——F-A-+HE=Z—=5—A+NA
20 January 2010 20 January 2012 to 19 January 2014 0.573 - 9,900,000
i = = T —F-A-t+HE=Z-NE—A+AA
20 January 2010 20 January 2013 to 19 January 2015 0.573 - 16,500,000
—T-TF—A=+H —T-=F—RA-ftRZE-ZT-RF—ATNA
1 September 2010 1 September 2011 to 31 August 2013 0.488 6,000,000 6,000,000
—T-TFENA—R —E——FNA—BE=F—=F/\A=1+—H
1 September 2010 1 September 2012 to 31 August 2014 0.488 9,000,000 9,000,000
—Z-ZFENA-H —E-——HFNA-BEZZT-WFNR=1+—H
1 September 2010 1 September 2013 to 31 August 2015 0.488 15,000,000 15,000,000
—T-TFNA—H —T-=FNA—BE-_T—RFENA=1+—H
10 June 2011 10 June 2012 to 9 June 2014 0.360 2,000,000 -
—T——%5xA+H T —FXATAEZZ-MERANA
10 June 2011 10 June 2013 to 9 June 2015 0.360 3,000,000 =
—Z——%7A+H —E-=F5ATHEEZZ-RFANA
10 June 2011 10 June 2014 to 9 June 2016 0.360 5,000,000 -
—ZT——%FXA+H —ZE-MESATEEZZ—RENANA
Total &5t 185,079,000 257,084,000
Number of options exercisable A]{T{E 8& ikiEENH 151,079,000 131,950,500
Other details of the share option schemes are set out in the Report of R ZI B SN ESeREE o

the Directors.
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35 Reserves 35 f#E

Group EE
Capital Capital Employee Available- Retained
Share reduction  redemption Contributed QOther  share-based for-sale eamings/
premium reserve reserve Capital surplus reserve  compensation Exchange  investments ~ (Accumulated
(Note q) (Notec) (Note b) reserve (Note d) (Note g) reserve reserve reserve losses) Total
RivaE RAdlERE AARORG SARR  EfRE  URHRE AfLE  REER)/

(M) (M) (M) A2RR (Mkd)  (Wie) ERMERE  EXBE  BRBE  (246R) 8
HKGMiion  HKSMilon  HKSMiion  HKSMiion  HKSMiln  HKSMiion  HKSMiion  HKSMiion  HKSMiion  HK§Miion  HKS Milon
BEERT  AEER  EBEET  AEBAT  HEER  BEET  AEMT  BEET  BERT  REER BEER

Balanoe at 1 January 2010 RZZ-S5-F-B&H 101724 504.1 146 147.4 1163 - 94 10729 (32 1217 123%6
Fair value gain on avallable-for-sale ~ AILHESREE 7

financial assets DFEkE - - - - - - - - 32 - 32
Curency translation diferences EHAEZE - - - - - - - 4695 01 - 4694
Employes share aption benefits EEBRERA = = = = = = (64 = = = (64)
Transfer between resenves FhERER (350) - - - 3500 - - - - - -
Issue of bonus shares LTS - - - - (04 - - - - - 94
Exercise of bonus warrants IR ER 147 = = - - - = - - = 147
Repurchase of shares BEORA (12 - - - - - - - - - (1.9
Release of reserves BIREE
- upon liuidation of an associated  — R —TBFE AT

company 5 - - - 04) - - - - - - 04)
- upon apsg of share options -RERERIE = = - - - - (128 = = 128 =

Changes inownership nterestsin-~—~ E F5IRE
subsidiaries that donotresttng  EBHBAT L
loss of controlarising from the REERZHA
folowing factors REHRAIEGIE

~ exercise of alisted subsidiary’s bonus — T AEEA R
warants, distributed by the Group~ — Tl LRI AT

AT ER - - = - (14 = = - - - (14
- distioution of certanshares ofa  —HIEAEEEE
subsidary held by the Group —-HNBARZETRE - - - = (393) = - - - - (393
- disposal of altermative energy ~HEERERERT
business to a non-wholly owned 1EE-f
subsicfary of the Group F2ENBAR - = = = - 81 - - - - 81

Proposed distrbution of proceeds K~ ZEERRRAE
from sal of equity nterest of & RiE-FHHEAR
subsidiary to a non-controling IR iER A G (3 §)

shareholder (Note f) - - - (80.9) - - - - = = (809
Loss forthe year FERFR - - - - - - - - - (2938) (2938
Balance at HZZ-5F

31 December 2010 toA=t-BER 98%.9 5041 146 664 4162 81 742 15424 04) (1638 123985
Retained by: TINRE :

Company and subsidiaries AT RHERR 9839 504.1 146 664 4162 81 742 13080 01 (6908 114216
Associated companies NG - - - - - - - 453 - 590 1043
Jointly controlled enites AR - - - - - - - 1941 - 6785 8726
98359 5041 146 664 462 8.1 72 15404 01) (1633 123985
Representing: ik
Reserves at 31 December 2010 W=Z-E5+-A=1-H
2 123985
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35 Reserves (continued) 35 fEE@=
Group (Continued) REE (#
Capital Capital Employee Available- Retained
Share reduction  redemption Contributed Other share-based for-sale earnings/
premium reserve reserve Capital surplus reseve  compensation Exchange investments  (Accumulated
(Note g) (Notec) (Note b) reserve (Note d) (Noteg) reserve reserve reserve losses) Total
RiEE BAHERE ERERERE HARR ik WA TittE  RERH/
(Kita) (Kfzkc) (Kizko) BAGE (Kikd) (Mife)  EEMERR EiffE RERE  (ZiER) ]
HKSMilion ~ HKSMilion ~ HKSMilion ~ HKSMilion ~ HKSMilion  HKS Milion HKSMilion ~ HKSMilion ~ HKSMilion  HKS Million  HKS Million
L L BE#T BE#T BE#T BE#T LR L L BERT BERT
Balance at 1 Janvary 2011 WZ5-——E-A-AEH 98%.9 5041 146 864 4162 81 742 15424 04) (1533) 12,3985
Fairvalle gan on avaleblefor-sde W AEHESBEAR Y
financil assets ATEkE - - - - - - - - 10 - 10
Cunency transation cifrences EAEER - - - - - - - 4307 02 - 4305
Employee share option benefts ESERERT = = = - - - 31 - _ _ 31
Transfer between reserves RiEfeEs (1,1340) = = = 11340 - - - = = =
Everciss of bonus warants IR HTRESR 1963 - - = = = = = = - 1563
Release of reserves Bhih
- upon disposal of subsicaries - HEHBARR - - - - - - - 2027) - - [2027)
- upon disposel o an associaed ~HE-fH
company NG - - - (133) - - - (1162) - - (1295)
- Upon apse of share options ~HERER - - - = = = (189) = = 139 =
Changesinowneripinteresisn A TFIRR
subsiciaries that do not resultin a EHHBAFZ
loss ofcontrol aisig from the ERERRER
following factors RERRAE
- evercise o alsted subsidiary'sbonus - ~{TEAEB AR L7
warants, dstibuedby e Gop  HERFZAFIRRES - - - - (310) - - - - - (310)
- conversion of convertble preference.  —~EAKEERIEE
shares and distbution of certan —HHBRAZ
shares of a subsicary held by ERETRR K
the Group EThi = = = = (382.6) - - - - - (382.6)
2011 specal cash chvidend paid “Z—ERRRARSRE = = = = (1083) - - - - - (1083)
Distrbution of proceeds fiom the H-EERERAR
sae ofequiy inerest of asubsidlay A E—TAHEBAR
toa non-controling sharehalder RAiERA{E5R - - - (9 - - - - - - (9
Profit for the year REEER = = = = o o = - - 213 %13
Balance at W5
31 December 2011 tZA=1-B&S 88562 5041 148 412 10283 81 634 16632 07 1019 123797
Retaied by: FURE :
Company and subsidares ARARKELR 88502 5041 146 i 10283 8 634 18125 07 [y 1219
Associated companies N - - - - - - - 781 - 1623 2304
Jointy controled entfies A%AA - - - - - - - 2126 - 6608 9334
8,868.2 504.1 146 412 1,083 8.1 634 1,6632 07 1019 12,3797
Representing: &
Resenves at 31 December 2011 R=5—F+-A=1-H
W1 ] 122114
2011 proposed specid cashdidend  ~E——ERTFERIBARE 1083
12,3797
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35 Reserves (continued) 35 FE#

Company 2NN
Employee
Share  Contributed  share-based
premium surplus  compensation Exchange  Accumulated
(Note g) (Note d) reserve reserve losses Total
BPHE agABE  MROLIH
(Mizta) (Hid) (EEMSEE B A Ey &5

HKSMilon  HK$Milion ~ HKSMilion  HK§Milon  HK$Milion  HKS Milion
BEAT BEAT BEAT BEAT BEAT BEAT

Balance at 1 January 2010 RZT-ZF-f—R&H 10,172.4 90.4 934 - (62.7) 10,2035
Currency translation differences ERBEES - - - 4305 - 4305
Employee share option benefits EERRERT = = (6.4) = = (6.4)
Transfer between reserves RS (350.0) 350.0 - - - -
Release of reserves upon the B

lapse of share options iR - - (12.8) - 12.8 -
Exercise of bonus warrants TEALRIR R 147 - - - - 14.7

Distribution of bonus wanrantsand ~ IEAAR LT BAR]
certain shares issued by the listed ~ Z{7 2 AL R MRS

subsidiary of the Company & TR - (88.7) - - - (88.7)
Issue of bonus shares BITAR - (9.4 - - - 9.4
Repurchase of shares BRIk (1.2) - - - - 1.2)
Loss for the year AEEER - - - - 410.1) (410.1)
Balance at RZZ-2F

31 December 2010 +ZR=t—-R&% 9,8356.9 3423 742 4305 (460.0) 10,222.9
Representing: R&:

Reserves at 31 December 2010 R-Z-2F+-A=+-H

A 10,2229
Balance at 1 January 2011 R-_E——F—-A—-A&H% 9,835.9 3423 74.2 430.5 (460.0) 10,222.9
Currency translation differences ERMEZEE - - - 4215 - 4215
Employee share option benefits EERERERR o = 3.1 - - 3.1
Transfer between reserves Fl e (1,134.0) 1,134.0 - - - -
Release of reserves upon the BEREL N

lapse of share options G - - (13.9) - 139 -
Exercise of bonus warrants TR AR AR 156.3 - - - - 156.3
Distribution of certain shares of PEAAR—HERBARZ

a subsidiary of the Company ETRM - (210.0) - - - (210.0)
2011 special cash dvidend paid ~ —E——4B(EFIBLRE - (108.3) - - - (108.3)
Loss for the year TEEEE - - - - (551.6) (551.6)
Balance at RZT——F

31 December 2011 +-A=+—-R&H 8,858.2 1,158.0 63.4 852.0 (997.7) 9,933.9
Representing; R
Reserves at 31 December 2011 R-E—&+-A=+—H

LB 9,825.6
2011 proposed special cash dividend —Z——FERFAA &R S 108.3
9,933.9
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35 Reserves (continued)

Notes:

(@)

The application of the share premium account is governed by the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended).

The application of the capital redemption reserve account is governed by
section 49H of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

On 30 September 2005, by virtue of special resolutions of the Company
with the sanction of an order of the High Court of the Hong Kong SAR,
the nominal value of all the issued and paid up capital was reduced from
HK$1.00 to HK$0.01 each, thereby reducing the issued and paid up
capital of the Company by HK$2,305.1 million and such amount was
transferred to the Capital Reduction Reserve Account.

By a special resolution passed on 13 October 2011, the share premium
account was reduced by HK$1,134.0 million. The credit thus arising
was transferred to the contributed surplus account of the Company.
The Company applied its contributed surplus as enlarged to set-off and
eliminate its entire accumulated losses.

By a special resolution passed on 1 June 2010, the share premium
account was reduced by HK$350.0 million and the reduced amount was
credited to the contributed surplus account.

On 12 May 2010, the Group’s wholly-owned subsidiary entered into
sales and purchase agreement (“S&P”) with the Group’s non-wholly-
owned subsidiary to dispose of the alternative energy business (“Target
Business”). Based on the S&P, the purchase consideration is settled by
way of issuing and allotting 1,385,170,068 convertible preference shares
by such non-wholly-owned subsidiary. The fair value of which, on the
S&P date, was HK$1,018.1 million. On 31 August 2010, the acquisition
was completed and the fair value of the respective convertible preference
shares changed to HK$853.8 million. As the Target Business remains
as the Group’s subsidiary upon the disposal, such disposal transaction
is considered as a transaction with non-controlling shareholders. As a
result, the Group has recognised a decrease in non-controlling interests
of HK$8.1 million and an increase in other reserve in equity of the same
amount.

On 19 October 2010 and 31 December 2010, the Group has entered
a Memorandum of Understanding (“MoU”) and a Supplementary MoU
with a non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary respectively. The
supplementary MoU has set out the principles on the distribution of
proceeds arising from the disposal as in note 44. The Group recognised
an increase in non-controlling interests of HK$80.9 million and a decrease
in capital reserve of the same amount.

u

fE @

B aEERBEZARE-NN\—2QF
SAERIAFTESE

EAREOFERZ AEZ BB ARIEAE
AOHIRFTEEE -

R-ZZRENA=1H  BEKESE
E = EERESHEZARNRRIRFRIRE
R AR TRESRAZEERSR
1.008 TR ZE0.018 7T » itk » KARE
BT KRB R RR AR 4 2,305,100,00078 7T
BRASEERERAYRHER -

BER—ET——F+A+=ARBZE7
RER - RHRERE R 1,134,000,000
B AMEAZ SHEEEREARARAZ
BAEBIR - NAGBEDBAZHBAR
SRR S R M E 2 20 RETEHE ©

EBR—T—TFA—BRBZERIR
FEE 0 R0 E R E R 4350,000,0007%
T MERDZ B AREHARSE -

R-Z—ZTERA+—R AEBEZEW
BAREASEFEZENBRARILES
mE((EEHE])  HEBRERER
(TBZXK] - REEEHZ - BENRE
M3k 2 & I B A 7] fic 3% 1,385,170,068 %
ARREERZARIN - REEHE
B BEREARQFEAE1,018,100,000/8
TeRZTE—ZTFNA=1+—8 " KE
SERK - AR R ELERZ AFEA
853,800,000/ 7T - B B EEBREE
BINATEBZHBAR  RAEBHEER
SWEBEFERBRR RS - At * &
& B 2 7R FE 12 A 4 &1 R 24> 8,100,000
T MAERSHR 2 E bR AR S5 o

R_E—ZFE+ATNABER_ZE—FF
+=ZA=+—08 A5EE—HKBA
Al — B IEE IR AR B 5 Bl 5T 3L 57 R 5 = 8%
(=R ]) R E S - HABSEEE
BRM M A S EMELRIEZ D
KR Bl o 7S 58 B B AE R I 122 AR 4 25 4 N
80,900,000/ 7T R A AR HERERE
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36 Borrowings — Group

36 EAR—AEEH

2011 2010
—E——5F ZE—TF
HK$ Million HK$ Million
BBEBT BEBT

Non-current JETRED
Bank borrowings HRITER 2,455.8 2,463.3
Other loans HE R 54.2 72.0
Finance lease liabilities MEHREARE 84.3 86.4
Loans from non-controlling shareholders FEERAR R E R 396.6 320.9
2,990.9 2,942.6

Current TRE
Bank borrowings HRITIE 684.8 672.1
Other loans HbER 39.9 62.8
Finance lease liabilities BEHSEAE 5.8 4.9
Loans from non-controlling shareholders FEPERR AR R B X 9.5 -
740.0 739.8
Total borrowings [EEe ko 3,730.9 3,682.4
In 2011, the Group's bank borrowings are secured by the investment R-Z——F  AEEZRITERAAEE

ZIEYE B TAER  Y%E - Has
REfE - WEARIRA - EFRPYE - B
AR AR B A7 SV E AR (PR 5E16 ~ 17 - 18
1920 - 30%32) ' EFRETIHIEAAR]
HEITE R R 2 D EERBIEEA -

properties, prepaid land lease payments, properties, plant and
equipment, toll road income, properties under development, trade
receivables and pledged deposits of the Group (Notes 16, 17, 18, 19,
20, 30 and 32), certain of which are also secured by the corporate
guarantee provided by the Company or its subsidiary.

In 2010, in additional to the securities mentioned above, the Group’s R-Z—FF R EXRROERDI - K
bank borrowings were also secured by properties held for sale (Note SEZRITIERTNHIEHE R 2 WEER
28). R (FzE28) °
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36 Borrowings — Group (continued) 36 BER—AEE®

(@) At 31 December 2011, the Group’s bank borrowings and other @ ®W=E——F+=—A=+—H &%
loans were repayable as follows: B2 RITER R EME R 2 BN
T
Secured bank borrowings Unsecured other loans Total
BRARTER ERAEMET fam
2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010
- 2% —F--F -Z-TF C"FT--F _T-ZF

HKSMilion  HKSMilon ~ HKSMilion  HKSMilon ~ HKSMilion  HKS Milion
BEET BEAT BEAT BEAT BERR BEAT

Within one year —&R 684.8 672.1* 39.9 62.8 724.7 734.9

In the second year E_F 505.7 276.1 208 20.0 526.5 296.1

In the third to fifth year F-RERF 672.6 746.3 26.6 405 699.2 786.8

After the fifth year bkt 1,217.5 1,440.9 6.8 1.5 1,284.3 1,452.4

3,140.6 3,135.4 941 134.8 3,234.7 3,270.2

* Included in the balance was an amount of HK$192.5 million * %%E%@%@QZE@P,OQO%Z—E:
which was classified as short term liability (irrespective of its Eﬁ%ﬁfﬁ%g%?iﬁ%ﬂt@%ﬂ
repayment schedules stipulated in the loan agreements), as the Eﬁé’fiﬂfﬁig Eﬂ@fﬁ@? iﬁz\’%
loan agreements include a repayment on demand clause. This is to %EE;W\Z“"T‘ : Et;[i*'ﬁ = %ﬁﬁ#
comply with Hong Kong Interpretation 5 “Presentation of financial %555['@‘7}?%#&%‘3@\35?&_15 mj\ﬁ
LS BEERRRBAMEREKRZEHE

statements — classification by the borrower of a term loan that > SE | Bk o

contains a repayment on demand clause”.

Bank borrowings Other loans Total
BATHEH AftiEH a8
2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010

% C"T-%F S —F C"T-TF S -fF C_T-TF
HKS Millon  HK<SMilon ~ HKSMillion  HKS Milion ~ HKS Million  HKS Miion
BEET BEAT AEET BEAT BEET BEAT

Wholly repayable within five years ZERRAERZEHEE 936.3 877.1 - 428 936.3 9199
Wholly repayable after five years ERREEZEEER 2,204.3 2,268.3 94.1 920 2,298.4 2,350.3
3,140.6 3,135.4 94.1 134.8 3,234.7 3,270.2
(o)  The exposure of the Group’s borrowings to interest rate changes b)) AEREEFNBREFRIFEEHR
and the contractual repricing dates at the end of the reporting SREMEBRBRAT

year are as follows:

2011 2010

—E——F —T—TF

HK$ Million HK$ Million

BEET AEBT

6 months or less 61E A AT 3,221.1 3,146.0
6-12 months 62 121E A 509.8 536.4
3,730.9 3,682.4
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36 Borrowings — Group (continued)

(¢)  The Group has finance lease liabilities at the balance sheet date as ©

follows:

36 EAR—AEEH®

T

172

2011 2010
—EB——F —EEF
HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEABT BEATT
Gross finance lease liabilities MEHESERTE
— minimum lease payments — IR E R
Within one year —FR 11.6 10.8
In the second year FF 11.9 111
In the third to fifth year FE=Z=FAF 37.9 35.3
After the fifth year AFE 61.1 71.1
122.5 128.3
Future finance charges on finance leases BMEME 2 RREEE A (32.4) (37.0)
Present value of finance lease liabilities Ft&EHESAB2HE 90.1 91.3
The present value of finance lease liabilities BEHERBEZIRENT :
is as follows:
Within one year —FR 5.8 4.9
In the second year F4F 6.6 5.6
In the third to fifth year F=EFRF 24.9 21.3
After the fifth year AFE 52.8 59.5
90.1 91.3

(d)  The loans from non-controlling shareholders are unsecured and
interest free. The loans that are not expected to be repayable
within twelve months are classified as non-current liabilities. The

balance is mainly denominated in Renminbi.

(e)  The effective interest rates at the balance sheet date were as

() BFERERZERREEMER
B o BES A ENRAK+ @A RE
BeETRDBRIERBDAE - 475
TEUARKAE -

(€) RAEHFAZERMNEMT

follows:
2011 2010
—=E=——F —T-TF
HK$ RMB HKS RMB
BT NG BT AR
Bank borrowings RITIEX 0.9%-3.33% 5.94%-8.65% 0.9% 5.31%-6.53%
Other loans HEER - - - 3.05%-5.00%
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36 Borrowings — Group (continued)

36 EAR—AEEH®

()  The carrying amounts of the borrowings are denominated in the ) ERZEEERTSEEE

following currencies:

2011 2010
—E2——F —T-TF
HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEBT BEBT
Hong Kong dollars BT 253.4 56.6
Renminbi AR 3,477.5 3,625.8
3,730.9 3,682.4
(@  The Group has the following undrawn borrowing facilities: @ AKEBTIARBAEREER:
2011 2010
—E——F —ET—TF
HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEBT BEAT
Floating rate SFENFR
— expiring within one year —R—FRE|H - 200.0
— expiring beyond one year —R—FEEE 300.6 413.5
300.6 613.5
The carrying amounts and fair value of the non-current borrowings are ERBERZ REESEATERE
approximately the same.
37 Trade and other payables 37 BEAERMREAELK
Group Company
rEH RAF]
2011 2010 2011 2010
—E——F —=E-TF —F—-—-F —Z=-ITF
HK$ Million  HK$ Milion = HKS Million  HK$ Million
BEET BEBT BEBT BEAT
Trade payables FETBRTR 25.7 41.4 = =
Retention payables FEHR 60.9 27.4 - -
Other payables and accruals HEEN R IERTE A 1,044.0 833.2 141 10.3
1,130.6 902.0 141 10.3
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37 Trade and other payables (contineq) 37 BHERIREMENSR®

(@) At 31 December 2011, retention payables for contracts in @ MRZE—F+=ZA=+—H0 &E
progress amounting to HK$66.7 million (2010: HK$32.9 million) TEE %2 FERREE 5/ F66,700,000
were included in non-current payables and current other /%E( Z=—Z 4 : 32,900,000/ 7T)
payables, depending on their expected date of payment. DRETEBAFA - 5 AR

JffghL &ﬁMUILEFE'fTTA °

(o)  The ageing analysis of trade payables at year end was as follows: b)) MNEHEH - BRREBRZKZERI A
T
Group
REE
2011 2010
—E——F —E—EF
HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEET AEAT
0 to less than 2 months Z&DR2(E A 6.2 5.7
2 to less than 6 months 22 L6fEA 7.2 3.0
6 to less than 12 months 6= V12 A 2.2 0.8
12 months and more 1218 A KA £ 10.1 31.9
25.7 41.4
(©)  The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade and other payables (€ AREREMEAREMENT KR
are denominated in the following currencies: ERATEEIIE
2011 2010
—E——F —E—TF
HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEET BAESAT
Hong Kong dollars BIT 69.6 148.6
Renminbi ARHE 799.4 753.4
US dollars e 261.6 -
1,130.6 902.0
(d)  As of 31 December 2011, the fair value of financial liabilities at fair d R=ZE—F+ZA=+—H" E&Q
value through profit or loss is HK$261.6 million (2010: HK$264.9 TEEEERIE ERBEZAT
million). {8 74261,600,0008 L (—F—F4F :

264,900,000/ 7T) °
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38 Deferred income tax liabilities

38

The deferred income tax liabilities recognised and movements are as

follows:

EEFSHAE

ERRZECHESHARLRAEESNT

Group
rEE
Fair value  Adjustments
adjustments on prepaid
on investment land lease
properties payments  Other items Total
FEfR i
wEMZE HER
ANEEFAE QAFERAE HAb1g g ek
HK$ Million HK$ Million HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEAT BEAT BEATT BEATT
At 1 January 2010 R —TF—HF—H 675.6 431.2 3.4 1,110.2
Currency translation differences & i & =48 39.9 17.9 0.1 57.9
Net of amortisation capitalised in  REEERYEE BN L2
properties under development B = (7.4) = (7.4)
Credited to income statement RiEERFTA(FIEE12)
(Note 12) (37.1) 4.8) (1.0) (42.9)
At 31 December 2010 R-TE—TF
+=-—A=+—H 678.4 436.9 2.5 1,117.8
At 1 January 2011 R-ZE—F—HF—H 678.4 436.9 2.5 1,117.8
Currency translation differences & 4 & =58 40.1 18.5 - 58.6
Transfer out for disposal of a S B A RE
subsidiary (Note 43(b)) (FF5E43(0)) (24.6) - - (24.6)
Net of amortisation capitalised in  REEREDE R (L2
properties under development  #E85FIBR - (6.0) = (6.0)
(Credited)/charged to income Mgz (GTA), kR
statement (Note 12) (MisE12) (26.1) (5.1) 1.4 (29.8)
At 31 December 2011 R-E——4F
+=ZA=+—H~H 667.8 444.3 3.9 1,116.0

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax losses carried
forward to the extent that the realisation of the related tax benefits
through the future taxable profits is probable. The Group did not
recognise deferred income tax assets of HK$358.9 million (2010:
HK$345.5 million) in respect of tax losses of HK$1,704.1 million (2010:
HK$1,664.7 million) to carry forward against future taxable income.
These tax losses have no expiry dates except for the tax losses of
HK$914.8 million (2010: HK$875.5 million) which will expire at various
dates up to and including 2016 (2010: 2015).

MBI B BARERD A EEEZ
MBEMZSE  AlexdEE o BEBS
BREEMIBEE - NEBWERTIE
/&5 8 1,704,100,000 B T (=& —F F :
1,664,700,000 7% 7T ) HE 38 5 & AT 15 5 18
& FE 358,900,000 L (= F — T fF ¢
345,500,000 7T ) A fEA5 8 - A A K88
A& EREIUA o 3255118 & 180 & 5 58
B 914,800,000 L (=T —FF :
875,500,000/ 7T ) ~ TR IHE ISR E = =
E—RE(ZE-—TF: —T—1F) L&

HEAZIE
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39

40

Derivative liability 39

A subsidiary of the Group allotted and issued 300,000,000 convertible
preference shares at HK$0.65 each on 23 November 2010 to
STAR Butterfly Energy Ltd (“STAR”), a subsidiary of TPG. STAR
may at any time during 4 years following the completion of the initial
investment require the subsidiary to issue to them up to a maximum of
260,000,000 additional preference shares at a price of HK$0.75 per
each preference share. Derivative liability represented the subscription
right granted to STAR, and was fair valued at 31 December 2011 and
2010.

Commitments — Group 40

(@) Capital commitments
Capital expenditure at the balance sheet date but not yet
incurred is as follows:

PTTAETEERE

AEE—HEBRARIR=ZZE—ZF+—A
—+=BHUEK0.65BTTATPGH B A &
STAR Butterfly Energy Ltd([ STAR ) &2 2% &
#%17300,000,000 /% A 2 f% & L i% - STAR
AR SER VIR & % 4F NBER 2K Z B
A AFR B0 758 T 2 B mHE TR
% 260,000,000 FEIMB SRR - STET A B
BRI FSTARZ R - WR =T ——4F
F—E—TE+ - A=+—HitEAFE -

g - AEH

(a) BAEIE
R BB AR R EE S AR
SR UNNE

Group
rEH
2011 2010
—EB——F —EFF
HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEET BEAT
(i) Capital commitments undertaken () =B EFAE
by the Group
(@) Property, plant and equipment (@ "% - SRR
— Contracted but not provided for — BRI ABEREE 99.0 73.2
— Authorised but not contracted for —BEEERITA 229.7 322.3
(o) Property development projects (b) MEERIEE
— Contracted but not provided for — BT ABREE 1,737.8 364.5
— Authorised but not contracted for —ERREERETL = 5.2
2,066.5 765.2
(ii) Capital commitments undertaken (i) & &R B2 BEAELE
by the jointly controlled entities
Property development projects Y RIAE
Contracted but not provided for BRI ERFAEE
— the Group’s share FEAG R 1ERE 1,289.2 139.6
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40 Commitments — Group (continued)

(b) Commitments under operating leases
The aggregate future minimum lease payments under non-
cancellable operating leases in respect of land and buildings are

40 EIE-FKEB#)

(b) REBEEHE ZEE
BEEBLLRIET S TUHBEE
AEZFARSEBSRENT -

as follows:
2011 2010
—E——F —E—EF
HKS$ Million HK$ Million
BEET AEAT
No later than 1 year —FR 14.4 12.5
Later than 1 year and no later than 5 years — & A 4F 42.9 40.7
Later than 5 years BiRAF 47.9 55.8
105.2 109.0

(¢) Future minimum rental receivable
The future aggregate minimum rental receivable under non-

(c) RRZIEEUES
BB B S R T E 2 R AR

cancellable operating leases is as follows: @itk CEER N
2011 2010
—2——F —E-TF
HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEBT BEAT
No later than 1 year —FR 90.3 59.9
Later than 1 year and no later than 5 years —FZE R FE 164.4 120.1
Later than 5 years WBARF 68.1 14.5
322.8 194.5

The Group leases out investment properties under operating
leases. The lease runs for an initial period of one to ten
years, with an option to renew the lease when all terms are
renegotiated. Lease payments are usually increased annually to
reflect market rentals. No contingent rent was recognised in both

AEBERBLEMEERREDED
e BN RE—=+F - XAF
BRBEIHARED  EREAEGK
REAEHREE A —REEFL
ARSI o SHAESIARE

2010 and 2011.

T —TER-T——ERRR -
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41

42

178

Contingent liabilities — Group

The Group’s investment property located in Shenzhen, the PRC is
subject to housing facility fund pursuant to <7 JI| 4% 7 45 [& (T £ [ ¥
3 & I8 & §] > adopted on 1 November 1994. Contingent liabilities of
RMB75.8 million (equivalent to approximately HK$93.6 million) (2010:
RMB75.8 million (equivalent to approximately HK$89.7 million)) arising
in this respect have been assessed by management with reference to
the legal opinion previously obtained. Management have requested
relief from the relevant local government authorities on the grounds
that certain amounts of maintenance costs were already spent for the
purposes as specified under the requirement of housing facility fund,
hence no further provision for the fund is considered necessary.

Related party transactions

Other than the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in these
financial statements, the material related party transactions during the
year were:
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FAREE-AEE

RER—NNAEF+— A —BEAZCRYI
KERREEBYWEBTEKRM) - AEB
R BFY 2 — B EMEZRREE AR
REEAESE - TEEDRSEBERSBZ
FEERE  FERUEEAZRABEAA
R #75,800,0007T (#9148 & 7 93,600,000/
L) (ZF—ZFF : ARMET75,800,0007T (47
& 789,700,000/87T)) - HREREEE
AAREERESHEREEE NS
TRERALE SR EC AHEEE BT
HEREERE K - tHERABEHES
VE#E— R -

BEL X5

BRitt S SR E M AR D15 2 R 5 R AE g
SN FANFTILZ BRI Z ST

2011 2010
—E——F —EFF
Note HK$ Million HK$ Million
k=3 BEBT BEBT
Income from supply of water to REREEESSRAERR
Jinhai Paper Pulping Industrial ARI[28 DK ZBA
Company Limited (“Jinhai”) (@) 42.2 34.8
Consultancy fee paid R E (b) = (7.0)
Interest expense paid on shareholders’ loans 15 A& B8 & 7% F1) 5.5 52
— Creator Holdings Limited (“Creator”) —RIESEERAR
(reizl) (© - (5.6)
— Genesis Capital Group Limited —ER|IEEERAT
(“Genesis”) ([Za1) (@ = (32.1)
Notes: BEE

(@) Yangpu Water Supply Company Limited, a subsidiary of which a 65%
equity interest held by the Group, entered into a water supply agreement
and a supplemental agreement with Jinhai, a company indirectly
controlled by the Oei family, for a period of three years commencing
from 1 January 2009. Income from Jinhai was conducted on terms as
set out in the agreement and the supplemental agreement governing this
transaction. The agreement was ended at 31 December 2011.

On 8 December 2011, the Group entered into the supplement agreement
with Jinhai for extending the terms of the water supply agreement for a
further three years from 1 January 2012.
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42 Related party transactions (continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(®)

()

On 2 March 2009, the Group entered into a consultancy services
agreement with a company controlled by an Executive Director of the
Company, who was appointed to hold that office on 4 September 2009
and resigned with effect from 20 December 2010, pursuant to which a fee
was paid by the Group on a monthly basis for the provision of consultancy
services rendered.

In November 2009, the Company entered into a revolving loan agreement
with Creator (a company owned as to 50% by Mr. Oei Kang, Eric and
as to the remaining 50% by his wife, Mrs. Oei Valonia Lau), one of the
substantial shareholders of the Company, under which the Company
might borrow up to HK$800.0 million for a period of thirty-six months from
the date of the agreement. The loan was unsecured, carried interest at
the Hong Kong dollar prime rate plus 2% per annum and was repayable
on demand.

The interest was paid on terms as set out in the agreement. There was no
outstanding loan balance as at 31 December 2010 and 2011.

In June 2010, the Company entered into a supplemental agreement
with Genesis, one of the substantial shareholders of the Company,
for amending and supplementing the revolving loan agreement dated
8 October 2007, under which the Company might borrow up to
HK$1,000.0 million for a period of ninety-six months from the date of the
said loan agreement dated 8 October 2007. The loan is unsecured and
carried interest at the Hong Kong dollar prime rate plus 2% per annum.
The Company is required to repay the loan and accrued interest thereon
at the expiry of the said agreement.

The interest was paid on terms as set out in the agreement. There was no
outstanding loan balance as at 31 December 2010 and 2011.
Key management compensation

Key management solely represents directors of the Company. The
compensation paid or payable to key management is shown as below:

42 BEEHERZ @)
M ()

) R-ETZAF=HA-H AEEEXRQF
—EZRTER (R _ZTNAFNLANBE
RERR-_Z-TF+ At HEEE
LT ) FE BB A B AT LB RIS ek - 1R
It - NEEFATERMBEERE XN AE -

© RZZETAE+—A AAREAARHE
P —2E BRREAE (XA RIS0%ARAEH =
M EEHE BT 250%ERHFEZET
R t38 ) ERE R - Bt
AARIAI A %% B B =1 /<@ A
HA R A 18 A 5 %800,000,000/8 T ° 25
ERAERA - A TRERFRIN2%E
R E REERERE -

MERZ BB GHRZN - RZE—F
FER-_FT——F+-A=+—AWERE

) RZZ—ZTFRA - ARREAQRHAF
— B EFERRELFI LTS  AEFT
kExABHA—ZT+F+ANBZER
B o Bt AARAIR L BEA
—ET &+ F/\H 2 ER i A et
N+-7518 A B A 8 A & % 1,000,000,000
BT c REENAERA  BETRER
FIEM2%FEF|ERETE o AR RZAER Eiip
HIHAREEERREFE

BB ATEIER IS - R=ZE—ZF
F—ZT——F+-_A=t+—HEEKESE

@ EEEBREKEZBE

TEERERBEEAARAES - EXN
FENTEIRERERS ZHENT

2011 2010

S -z

HK$ Million HK$ Million

BEBT BEBIT

Director’s fees EE0E 1.6 1.7
Salary and other benefits 54 REMER 31.1 29.0
Employer’s contribution to pension scheme BRIREET 82 B EHR 0.1 0.1
Share option benefits BN HEAR A 3.5 2.5
36.3 33.3

The Company has provided guarantees in respect of project loan facilities
granted by banks to its subsidiaries. For details, please refer to pages 57
to 63 on Report of the Directors.

) AARERBAIERTENBRARZEEE
HREREER BHAFEEL2HESS
REEFE57E63E ©
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43 Notes to consolidated cash flow statement 43 HGERESRERMET

(@) Reconciliation of operating profit/(loss) to net () R&EF(FHB)ELEHE
cash used in operations BATRAE S FEZEHR

2011 2010

—ZE——5F ZT—TF

HK$ Million HK$ Million

BEET BEAT

Profit/(loss) before income tax FriSHianmA], (E58) 310.2 (414.0)

Finance income U N (29.0) (18.9)

Depreciation and amortisation e Mgy 143.8 119.2

Employee share option benefits, net (Note 11) £ 2 AR HERE R - JF58 (FFEE11) 4.7 (4.8)
Fair value adjustments on investment REWMENTFEAE

properties 142.0 98.9
Provision for impairment losses on assets & R{E &8 2 #4E (fiX7)

(Note 7) 26.0 38.0
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEME ARz Was (280.1) -
Gain on disposal of an associated company & —RH# & A 7 2 Yias (103.0) =
Net exchange loss/(gain) b H E1E (W) F 58 20.2 (1.0
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEYZE - R K REWE

equipment = (11.9
Write down of inventories TFEMUR 2.9 -
Fair value gain on financial assets at BATEEEERIIEZEHERE

fair value through profit or loss and RETETHAAGEA T ERS

derivative liability, net FER (69.1) (13.5)
Write back of costs provision Bl RK 7N 2 st (180.8) 6.9
Finance costs BLE KA 192.4 225.6
Share of profits less losses of FE(EE A R R FIRE B

associated companies (111.2) (89.9)
Share of profits less losses of EiEEEARRFIRER

jointly controlled entities 17.6 14.9
Operating profit/(loss) before working capital 48 & & S8 AT L% A, (B8E)

changes 86.6 (64.3)
Increase in properties under development — ZEfE 42184 (434.3) (143.8)
Increase in prepaid land lease payments TEfT AR E FR g N (2.9) (3.4)
Decrease in properties held for sale EHER®R ZWER D 223.3 161.5
Decrease in assets held for sales fEHEEER D 51.2
(Increase)/decrease in inventories FEOGEMm, B (0.1) 0.8
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other R M B R e At LSRR (3 m)

receivables Ve (53.3) 44.5
Increase/(decrease) in other non-current HAIEREN I FUA KB BR R

payables and trade and other payables H eI EIE M, i) 4.3 (95.6)
Increase in non-controlling interests FERERR iR IE N 2.4 2.3
Cash used in operations EHEFARE (122.8) (98.0)
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43 Notes to consolidated cash flow statement continvesy 43 ZHEIREREBRMTE 2

(b) Disposal of subsidiaries (b) HEMBAF
In 2011, disposal of subsidiaries mainly represents the disposal RZF——F+ZA=1t—0 &
of Dorboy Investment Limited and Shenzhen Jing-Guang WEBLREERELERTERRE
Development Company Limited, effectively held 80% by the H80%Z MEBAR - B RERRA
Group, which was classified as non-current assets held for sale ARARYIREERARAA(ERZ
(Note 44) as at 31 December 2010, and also the disposal of HKC FTET_A=T"BoBEARRKHE
Shenyang Heping Investments Limited and Xiangxin Real Estate HEZIFRBEE(HE44)) RHE
(Shenyang) Company Limited, 100%-owned subsidiaries of the AEBEFREH100% 2 KB AR —
Group. BEREZEGNTEIREBRARIRSR

BEXCES)BRAR -

2011 2010
—E——F —E—TF
HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEBT BEATT
Net assets disposed: FTEEEFE :
Investment properties B 1,409.8 -
Cash and cash equivalents B RIS ZEY 41.5 -
Trade and other receivables JFEE LT B 3R e L A U R 2.2 =
Property, plant and equipment MNE - WS NGRS 1.5 -
Shareholder’s loan RERE K (203.6) -
Deferred taxation RAEFL IR (24.6) _
Trade and other payables JE IS BR 3 Rz LA FEASF 3R (24.6) -
Other loans HbER (76.0)
Non-controlling interests PSR RS 84.1 -
1,210.3 -
Release of exchange reserve upon disposal 1A H & Fr 2R [E 5, (& (202.7) -
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEH B ARz Mkes 280.1 =
Consideration KRB 1,287.7 =
Satisfied by: ATFIA LA
Cash consideration RERE 992.0 -
Receivables fEU ZR I8 295.7 -
1,287.7 -
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43 Notes to consolidated cash flow statement (continveq)

(¢) Analysis of net inflow of cash and cash
equivalents in respect of disposal of

43 LZEBREREBXRMTE 2

) ERLEMBARZEAER
BESEYRAFEDM

subsidiaries
2011 2010
—F——F —FTFF
HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEET BEBT
Cash consideration HEKE 992.0 -
Cash and cash equivalents disposed FIEHE RReEEY (41.5) =
950.5 -

44 Non-current assets held for sale

On 2 March 2011, Dorboy Investment Limited, an 80%-owned
subsidiary of the Group entered into a Disposal Framework Agreement
with an independent third party for disposal of its entire equity interest,
loan interests and liabilities in Shenzhen Jing-Guang Development
Company Limited which is the owner of Jingguang Centre at Yanhe
Road North, Luohu, Shenzhen, the PRC. The total amount of
consideration is RMB850.0 million. The transaction was completed in
2011.

As at 31 December 2010, the assets and liabilities related to disposal
group of non-current assets (part of the property investment and
leasing segment) were presented as held for sale.

(@) Assets of disposal group classified as held for

44 FEHEEZFRBERE

MNZE——F=A=H  KEBEEHFB0%
ZHBARERKREGRAREBE=H
I HEEE R - HERYIRERREAR
RNRlZ ZEEAER EREREE R
YIRBEEEE AR A A AR B RIIZE A e
WL RERLZEBA - BREAAR
#850,000,0007T ° RHER_ZF——F =%
B o

R_E—ZTF+_A=+—H FHEE
#umiﬂﬁ@(%%&ﬁ&fﬂ%%ﬁﬂz il
ZEENRBRBRRERBELEEREB 2 -

@ FEGENEEENEE

#H
)

sale
2010
—E—FF
HK$ Million
BEATT
Investment properties LAY 1,009.9
Property, plant and equipment ER Y 0.8
Trade and other receivables JFEE AT B SR e Lt E LS R 0.8
Cash and cash equivalents Re MRS FEY 11.3
1,022.8
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44 Non-current assets held for sale continued) 44 BHEHEZERBEE®
(b) Liabilities of disposal group classified as held b) FEFENEEEANERE
for sale
2010
—EEF
HKS$ Million
BEATT
Other payables Hith FERTFR 41.5
Bank borrowing RITIE 168.1
Other loan HEER 76.0
285.6
At 31 December 2010, certain investment properties with R-Z—ZF+-_A=+—H ' &F
carrying value of HK$698.2 million was pledged as securities for 15 & W) % BR M {8 698,200,0007%8 7T E
the bank borrowing. BRI TERIEE R o
(c) Cumulative income or expense recognised () REMEPEWAEIREEEF
in other comprehensive income relating to EHESER 2 REH 2 E25T
disposal group classified as held for sale PN
2010
—E=TF
HKS$ Million
BEATT
Currency translation differences PE R ME =58 73.6

BEERER)BRAF




Principal Subsidiaries, Associated Companies and Jointly
Controlled Entities
FTEWB AR BERATREGE QT

Listed below are the principal subsidiaries, associated companies and jointly  TX&HJEERAHAEEHE T ——F+ =
controlled entities which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affect the A =+—HIFFEEER NEEZEETZ
result and/or net assets of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2011. TEMBAR  BE AT REZEAAFEE

1 Principal subsidiaries 1 FERELF

Place of incorporation/

HKC (Holdings) Limited ® Annual Report 2011

operation and kind of Issued share capital/ Group’s effective
Name legal entity Principal activities Paid up registered capital equity interest
HRAL/ EE B RAE BRARA/ KEEZ
£ BEg TERH BffEfER BB R g
2011 2010 2011 2010
2% “2-%% Z8——%  “T-TF
(@ Investment holding
REZR
China Harvest Holdings Limited Hong Kong/PRC Investment holding HK$1,000,000 HK$1,000,000 75%™ 75%
RTRBERAR! &5/ RERR 1,000,0008% 1,000,007
Eden Investment Group Limited+* British Virgin Islands/PRC Investment holding USS$1 US§$1 54.13%
FEREEEARAR ABRAES/PE RER i 1%
HKC (China) Management Company PRC Wholly foreign-owned Provision of management US$8,000,000 US$8,000,000 100%
Limited enterprise services in the PRC
BERR(PE)EEARAAY BN EBALE R ERIEEERS 8,000,000%7 8,000,005
HKC Guilin Expressway Company Limited*  Hong Kong/PRC Investment holding HKS$1 HK$1 100%
EARRENGRARBRAT: &g/ RER 187 BT
HKC Infrastructure (Holdings) Limited* British Virgin Islands/PRC Investment holding USS$1 US$1 100%
BRERAMRHHER) ERAT AERSES/H RELR 1£7 1%
HKC (Nanxun) Holdings Limited Hong Kong/PRC Investment holding HK$2 HK$2 100%
EARR (R RMHERERAR: &g/ RER 28T 28T
HKC Property Investments (China) Limited*#  British Virgin Islands/PRC Investment holding USS$1 US$1 100%
EERRNZRA(PR)ARAR AERSES/H RELR 1£7 1%
HKC Shenyang Hunan Investments Limiteds  Hong Kong/PRC Investment holding HK$1 HKS1 100%
EARRER EHREBR AR &g/ RER 187 BT
HKC (Yangpu) Water Supply Limited* Hong Kong/PRC Investment holding HK$10,000 HK$10,000 100%
EERRGER) EAER AR &b/ RELR 10,0007 10,000/7C




1

Principal subsidiaries (continued)

Place of incorporation/

TEMMBE AR )

FEER(EZER)ERAA ©

operation and kind of Issued share capital/ Group’s effective
Name legal entity Principal activities Paid up registered capital equity interest
HRAY S EREE BRITRE/ TEEZ
£ BEg TERH BffEmER ERRAES
2011 2010 2011 2010
g -2-3F ZB--F -3-%f
(@ Investment holding (Continued)
REZR(E)
HKE (Chongaing) Holdings Limited+# British Virgin Islands/PRC Investment holding USS$1 US§$1 100% 100%
AERAHS/TE REBR =7 1%
HKE (Danjinghe) Wind Power Limited* Hong Kong/PRC Investment holding HK$4 HKS4 54.13% 59.18%
EAROR (R B BRAR! &/ RER 4B 4B
Hong Kong Construction Hong Kong/PRC Investment holding HK$10,000 HK$10,000 100% 100%
(Interior Contracting) Limited* Bk /H RERR 10,0007 10,0007
EERR(XEIR)ERAR
Hong Kong Construction Tianjin Tuan PoHu  Hong Kong/PRC Investment holding HK$462,000,000 HKS1 100% 100%
Investment Limited &b/ REARR 462,000,000387C 1T
BARRREEAHRERRAR)!
China Renewable Energy Investment Limited:e Cayman Islands/PRC Investment holding HK$23,563,718 HK$8,570,600 54.13% 59.18%
HEALRREERAT MEHs/H RERR 23563718 857060047
Hong Kong Energy (Holdings) Limited+* British Virgin Islands/PRC Investment holding USS$1 US$1 100% 100%
BAARR (R ERARH AERSES/PE RERR (ES 1%
Hong Kong New Energy (Si Zi Wang Qi) Hong Kong/PRC Investment holding HKS$2 HKS2 54.13% 59.18%
Wind Power Limitedt &/ RER 287 28T
BRMER (LTI B ERAR:
Hong Kong New Energy (Si Zi Wang Qi ll Hong Kong/PRC Investment holding HK$1,000 HK$1,000 54.13% 59.18%
Wind Power Limited: &k/HE &R 1,004 7 100087
BEFER(IFTE-E)REERAR
HKC (Shanghai Guangtian) Holdings Limited*  Hong Kong/PRC Investment holding HK$1 = 100% -
FARR( LEER)BRERAR: &5/ RERR 187
Karbony Investment Limited* Hong Kong/PRC Investment holding HK$10,000,000 HK$10,000,000 100% 100%
B/ RERR 10,000,000/ 7 10,000,000%7C
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Principal subsidiaries (continued)

Place of incorporation/

TEMMBE AR %)

operation and kind of Issued share capital/ Group’s effective
Name legal entity Principal activities Paid up registered capital equity interest
HRAY S EREE BRITRE/ TEEZ
£ BEg TERH BffEmER ERRAES
2011 2010 2011 2010
—T—-f -T-FF ZB—F -T-T&
(@ Investment holding (Continued)
REZR(E)
Noble Quest Enterprise Limited? British Virgin Islands/Hong Kong ~ Investment holding USS$1 US§$1 100% 100%
ABRABE/BH REBR 1% 1%
Sinoriver International Limited** British Virgin Islands/PRC Investment holding US$1 US$1 54.13% 59.18%
B EBEERAR ABRLEE/TE RERR 1% %7
The Legation Quarter Limited* Hong Kong/PRC Investment holding HK$82,105,263 HK$82,105,263 70.9% 70.9%
MEREREERERAR &5/ RER 82,105,263 82,105263% T
(b) Property investment
NERE
Hong Kong Construction (China) PRC Investment in shopping mall of US$85,500,000 1US$85,500,000 100% 100%
Engineering Company Limited** Wholly foreign-owned enterprise South Ocean Centre, 85,500,000 70 85,500,000% 7
BAER(TE) IRERAR" MESNEEE AR Shenzhen, the PRC
RERERYIT
HERLNES
Karbony Real Estate Development PRC Investment in offices, and US$155,000,000  US$155,000,000 100% 100%
(Shenzhen) Company Limited+# Wholly foreign-owned enterprise shopping mall of 155,000,000 155,000,000%7T
TREHERE (R ERAT MESNEEE AR Shun Hing Square,
Shenzhen, the PRC
RERERMERES
BAERES
Sky Universe Limited® British Virgin Islands/PRC Property holding of 9/F., US$1 US§$1 100% 100%
EERLEE/F Tower 1 South Seas Centre, EST E
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1 Principal subsidiaries (continveq) 1 FENBLAR®

Place of incorporation/

operation and kind of Issued share capital/ Group’s effective
Name legal entity Principal activities Paid up registered capital equity interest
HRAY S EREE BRITRE/ TEEZ
£ BEg TERH BffEmER ERRAES
2011 2010 2011 2010
g -2-3F ZB--F -3-%f
(b) Property investment (Continued)
NERE(E)
RIABTERGLR)ERERAR PRC Investment in property for USS$18,200,000  US$10,660,000 70.9% 709%
Wholly foreign-owned enterprise restaurants and retalls in Beijing, 18,200,000 7t 10,660,000%7T
PENEEA LK the PRC
REELRTEE
2BRZE
(c) Property development
NERR
Huzhou Nanxun International Building PRC Development and operation of US$48,000,000 1US$48,000,000 100% 100%
Market Center Company Limited# Wholly foreign-owned enterprise a building materials centre in 48,000,000% 7 48,000,000% T
ANERERR AR HENEEA LR Huzhou, the PRC
REEMNERREE
BB
Shanghai Guangtian Real Estate PRC Real estate development in RMB1,300,004,573  RMB900,000,000 60% 60%
Development Company Limited+* Sino-foreign equity joint venture Hongkou District in ARE AR%
LEEREHEREERAR GIEED S Shanghai, the PRC 1,300,0045787% 900,000,007
REE BT R
FRREIE
Tianjin Jingang Real Estate PRC Limited liability company Real estate development in RMB500,000,000  RMB500,000,000 75%** 75%*
Investment Company Limited* HEEREAAH Nankai District in Tianjin, AR% AR¥
REMEEEXREBRAT the PRC 500,000,000 500,000,007
REERETERE
FRREIE
Tianjin Renai Properties Development PRC Real estate development in HK$452,200,000  HK$304,200,000 100% 100%
Company Limited+* Wholly foreign-owned enterprise Tuanbo Lake of Jinhai County 452,200,000 304,200,000%57C
REMCEEXRRERAT HENNEEA LR in Tianjin, the PRC
RAEREME%
EaiRERE
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Principal subsidiaries (continued)

Place of incorporation/

TEMMBE AR %)

operation and kind of Issued share capital/ Group’s effective
Name legal entity Principal activities Paid up registered capital equity interest
AL/ S BREE BRITRE/ TEEZ
£ BEg TERH BffEmER ERRAES
2011 2010 2011 2010
—T—-f -T-FF ZB—F -T-T&
(c) Property development (Continued)
NERR(E)
Tianjin Ruigang Enterprise PRC Real estate development in HK$690,000,000  HK$690,000,000 100% 100%
Management Company Limited** Wholly foreign-owned enterprise Tianjin, the PRC 690,000,000%7 690,000,000 7
REMHECXERARAR MESNEEE S RAERERFEEDE
EREL(EE)BRAR PRC Real estate development at HK$928,000,000  HK$928,000,000 100% 100%
Wholly foreign-owned enterprise Ningbo Road in Heping District ~ 928,000,000%&7  928,000,000%7C
RESNERA R in Shenyang, the PRC
R B AT EERE
FRREE
BERROIMNERBER AR PRC Real estate development in RMB260,000,000 RMB259,581,205.16 100% 100%
Wholly foreign-owned enterprise Jiangmen, the PRC ARE AR%
RENEEA LS RAETFmRERE 260,000,000t 259,581,205.167C
(d) Infrastructure and alternative energy
HEREBRER
Asia Wind Power (Mudanjiang) PRC Wind Power project in HK$100,000,000  HK$100,000,000 46.55% 50.89%
Company Limited# Sino-foreign equity joint venture Heilongjiang, the PRC 100,000,000 100,000,000%7C
ENENEB(HATBRAR mEREERE RPEZEILEN
mA%EEEE
Chongaing Huangu Petrochemical Company PRC Investment in ethanol RMB180,470,000  RMB180,470,000 70.65% 70,65
Limited* Limited liability company energy business in Chongaing, AR¥ ARE
EERNALERAR PEAREEAR the PRC. The business is 180,470,000 180,470,0007C
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1 Principal subsidiaries (continued)

Place of incorporation/

1

TEMMBE AR )

FEARENTEEZ
EA%EER

FEER(EZER)ERAA ©

—T——

operation and kind of Issued share capital/ Group’s effective
Name legal entity Principal activities Paid up registered capital equity interest
HRAY S EREE BRITRE/ TEEZ
£ BEg TERH BffEmER ERRAES
2011 2010 2011 2010
g -2-3F ZB--F -3-%f
(d) Infrastructure and alternative energy
(Continued)
EERERRR(E)
HKC (Guilin) Expressway Company Limited**  PRC Construction and operation of RMB543,900,000  RMB543,900,000 100% 100%
ENEERRABARAR Wholl foreign-owned enterprise atoll road in Guilin, the PRC on N AR%
MESNEEA LK a Bulld-Operate-Transfer 543,900,000t 543,900,000
contract
BERE-A=2-BBARE
BEREEREEMT
169N
Hong Kong Wind Power (Muling) PRC Wind Power project in HK$150,100,000  HK$150,100,000 46.92% 51.30%
Company Limited* Sino-foreign equity joint venture Heilongjiang, the PRC
EEENEE(BHR)BRAR GIELED e S RPERETEN 150,100,000/ 150,100,000 7
BNEEER
Yangpu Water Supply Company Limited*  PRC Operation and maintenance of RMB181,285,714  RMB181,285,714 65% 65%
FERKEREEA R Sino-foreign equty joint venture: raw water supply facilies and AE# AR%
HERHEELE water supply services in 181,285,7147C 181,285,7147C
Yangpu Economic
Development Zone, Hainan,
the PRC
REEEREE AT ERER
LERRERKHERE
AR HK RS
BRFRLTTRERARR T PRC Wind Power project in RMB166,480,000 RMB166480,000 ~ 54.13%  59.18%
Sino-foreign equity joint venture Siziwang Qi Inner Mongolia, AR¥ ARE
HERHAELE the PRC 166,480,0007T 166,480,0007C
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1 Principal subsidiaries (continued)

Place of incorporation/

TEMMBE AR %)

190
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operation and kind of Issued share capital/ Group’s effective
Name legal entity Principal activities Paid up registered capital equity interest
HRAY S EREE BRARE/ TEEZ
£ BEg TERH BffEmER ERRAES
2011 2010 2011 2010
=§F  -3-TF S8 -F -T-3%
(d) Infrastructure and alternative energy
(Continued)
EERERRR(E)
BRMERNT EHRREAR AR PRC Wind Power projectin RMB172,526500 ~ RVB8,824,056  54.13%  59.18%
Sino-foreign equity joint venture Siziwang Qi Inner Mongolia, N ARH
TP S the PRC 172,526,500 8,824,0567C
PRERSENFEE
EHEBER
(e) Construction/property services
R/ MERH
Hong Kong Construction (Hong Kong) Hong Kong Provision of construction service  HK$150,000,000  HK$150,000,000 100% 100%
Limited i BRI 150,000,000 150,000,000/
EARR(ER) TIRERAR
Hong Kong Construction (China) PRC Provision of construction service US$85,500,000 US$85,500,000 100% 100%
Engineering Company Limited:* Wholly foreign-owned enterprise R R AR 85,500,000%X7  85,5500,000%7C
EARR(TE) TRERARH MESEBALR
Shenzhen Kumagai Property PRC Provision of property HK$60,000,000 HK$60,000,000 100% 100%
Management Company Limited+# Sino-foreign equity joint venture management service 60,000,000/ 70 60,000,000/57T
REANZERERAR MERSSELE REDEFERRS




ERRRERERAR © —F—FFH

2  Principal associated companies 2 FEBENT
Place of
Issued share capital/ incorporation/ Group'’s effective
Name registered capital operation equity interest
BERIRA/ AL,/ AEEZ
A EfEAR ik ERRARR
2011 2010 2011 2010
—E—-F —T-TF —2——% —Z-ZF
(a) Property
VIES
Hong Kong Construction SMC HK$10,000,000 HK$10,000,000  Hong Kong/PRC 40% 40%
Development Limited- 10,000,003 7T 10,000,000 &E/F
BRRERERERERAR
) Alternative energy
ERRER
CECIC HKC (Gansu) Wind Power RMB589,620,000 RMB589,620,000  PRC 21.65% 23.67%
Company Limited+# NG ARE  H
e AR (HR BN EEERAR 589,620,0007C 589,620,0007T
CECIC HKC Wind Power Company Limited*# ~ RMB545,640,000 RMB545,640,000  PRC 21.65% 23.67%
hERERENBE (R ) ERA R ARH ARE G
545,640,0007T 545,640,0007T
Linyi National Environmental New Energy RMB100,000,000 RMB100,000,000  PRC 21.65% 23.67%
Company Limited+# AR ARE  F
BT RITEE R BB AR 100,000,0007¢ 100,000,0007T
CECIC HKE Wind Power Company Limited+* RMB323,260,000 RMB323,260,000  PRC 16.24% 17.75%
HER AR ENEE(RIL)BRAR ARM AR #
323,260,0007T 328,260,0007T

191




Principal jointly controlled entities

Form of business Place of
structure/ Kind of establishment/
Name legal entity operation Group’s effective equity interest
E 200w rEEZ
=L FEERER B/ B BRRA R
2011 2010
—E——F —T-TF
Property development
MR
Shanghai Jingang North Bund Real ~ Wholly foreign-owned ~ PRC 25% 25%
Estate Company Limited+* enterprise s
EEeBIIINEBEERAA INEBEERE

Notes:

Unofficial English transliterations or translation for identification purposes only

+ Interest held by subsidiaries

# Not audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers

() China Renewable Energy Investment Limited is listed on the Stock
Exchange of which the stock code is 987.

*ox

The companies are considered as wholly-owned subsidiaries of the

Group from the accounting perspective, as the 25% shareholders of such
companies are not entitled to receive any future dividends and sharing of

residual interest.

Certain principal subsidiaries and associated companies were disposed
of during 2011. For details, please refer to Note 22 and Note 43(b) to
the consolidated financial statements.
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Five-Year Financial Summary

AFMBEREE

2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
2k —T-TF “ETHE —ZTN\F ZZTLF
HK$ Million HK$ Million HK$ Million HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEBT BEATL BEAT BEBT BHEBTL
Consolidated income statement GEEREER
Revenue Wz 696 499 378 295 706
Profit/(loss) before income tax FremiangERl/ (B8) 310 (414) 2,036 (2,921) 945
Income tax (expense)/credit PR (i) /B (120) 18 (334) 111 (95)
Profit/(loss) for the year KEFRF/(FE) 190 (396) 1,702 2,810) 850
Non-controlling interests IEP RS 51 102 (246) 164 (15)
Profit/(loss) attributable to ARFIRR et E AL
equity holders of the Company ikl (BE) 241 (294) 1,456 (2,646) 835
Dividends e 217 - - 122 827
Consolidated balance sheet SEREEEER
Net current assets REEEFE 2,014 1,993 1,608 1,833 5,938
Non-current assets FmBEE 16,393 16,036 16,562 14,022 10,450
Non-current liabilties FnEaE (4,127) (4,384) (4,766) 4,273) (3,003)
Net assets including BEFE(BE
non-controlling interests FilER) 14,280 13,645 13,404 11,582 13,385
Share capital AR 108 104 94 83 82
Reserves s 12,380 12,398 12,336 10,756 1616116
Non-controlling interests FERR R AR 1,792 1,143 974 743 (10)
Total equity 1A 14,280 13,645 13,404 11,5682 13,385
2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
“2—-F —Z-TF “EThE —ZTN\F e 3
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HKS
BT BT BT BT BT
Earnings/(loss) per share* SREN/(EB)
- basic 7 0.023 (0.028) 0.15 0.27) 0.13
- diluted ] 0.021 (0.029) 0.14 0.27) 0.13
Dividend per share BRRE
- attributable to the year —EErER 0.020 - - 0.015 0.135
Return on total equity R BERR® 1.3% (2.9%) 12.7% (24.3%) 6.4%
Note: fI5E -

R R ERRE A FE RN, BEENEEFEF
IR Z AN

Return on total equity represents profit/loss for the year expressed as a percentage of
the closing total equity for the year concerned.
TEEHEBITARE

# Adjusted for bonus issue approved in 2009 and 2010 # M_TENFR_F—
R
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Schedule of Principal Properties
FEYE B3R

(as at the date of the annual report)

(RAFRAE)
Investment properties — Completed REVE-BTK
(Approx.)
(Approx.) Attributable
GFA GFA Term of
Location Existing use Shareholding (sq.m.) (sq.m.) lease
(X%)
(R#) L2
BEAHR AR
12 BaifAz fRAE (FHK) (FFXK) HEH
The shopping mall and all car parking spaces, Commercial 100% 6,300 6,300 Medium
South Ocean Centre, i ]
Dongmen Road Central, Shenzhen, the PRC
LR BLRYI TR PR B EE B DB %
KR EES
The shopping mall, all car parking spaces and Commercial 100% 31,000 31,000 Medium
1/F, 2/F and 58/F offices, [ ]
Shun Hing Square, Di Wang Commercial Centre,
No. 5002 Shennan Road East, Luohu, Shenzhen, the PRC
i 7 BRI T 28 43 R A 2R B 500255
FEESHEEZDONENES -
FARESRIE  2ERBERAE
Various units for restaurants and retails, Commercial 70.9% 17,100 12,100 Medium
No. 23 Qianmen, Dong Dajie, S F
Dongcheng, Beijing, the PRC
iz R AR B A T o BRUA i P SR K 235% A
SERERRZEMNEN
Various units for retails in Zone B & C, Commercial 100% 114,000 114,000 Medium
Construction Materials Market, S F
Nanxun Economic Development District,
Huzhou City, Zhejiang Province, the PRC
RGPy )=t S B
BEREEMHEHBR RCEHZ(E
fERTEME
163,400
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a)

(as at the date of the annual report)

(RAFIRAE)
Properties Under Development BREPYIE
For sale purpose a) 1EHHERAZR
(Approx.)
(Approx.) (Approx.) Attributable
Intended Share-  Stage of Expected year Site area GFA GFA
Location use holding  completion of completion (sq.m.) (sg.m.) (sg.m.)
(R#%)
(R#) (R%)  EbER
BEEE BELAEE AEE
ik RERE BiE R EHERED (Erx)  (FEK)  (EFK)
A parcel of land along Residential 100%  Planning stage - 804,000 836,000 836,000
the eastern shore of Tuanbo Lake, FE REER
Jinhai County, Tianjin, the PRC
R B R B AR 3
aE— iR
A parcel of land located south of Residential 75%  Construction stage 20122014 54,000 150,000 113,000
Hongai South Road, i THER —E——%%
Nankai District, Tianjin, the PRC —T-ImF
i BIR 2 A R R AL s 2
—fg 13
Three parcels of land located at Residential 100%  Construction stage 2013 -2017 67,000 266,000 266,000
Ningpo Road, Heping District, and retall and Planning stage —E—=%%
Shenyang, the PRC EERZE TEBRR “T+tF
ARG AT RERE 2 REBEER
=gt
A parcel of land located at north of Residentialand ~ 100%  Construction stage 2013 -2014 95,000 189,000 189,000
Hong Kong-Macau Pier, Jiangmen, commercial and Planning stage —S—=%%
Guangdong Province, the PRC FEREE TREER —E-ME
i B ERE I M REPEER
BRERIL Az — L
1,404,000
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(as at the date of the annual report)
(RAFRAH)

Properties Under Development continueq)
b) For investment purpose

BRIYIZE )
b) ERERZE

(Approx.)
(Approx.) (Approx.) Attributable
Intended Share-  Stage of Expected year Site area GFA GFA
Location use holding  completion of completion (sq.m.) (sg.m.) (sg.m.)
(K%)
(R#) (R%)  [EbER
BEEE RBELAER AER
hE RERZ RiE  ERER FHERED (EHR)  (FAK)  (FBHK)
A parcel of land located in Office, hotel 25%  Construction in In2014 57,000 259,000 64,000
the north side of and retal progress N Sgf3
the International Passenger WRE - BE TiREF
Transportation Terminal of REE
Hongkou District, Shanghai, the PRC
IRl gL A R ERRER L
gl P
A parcel of land located at Lot 108, Office and 60%  Construction in In 2015 29,000 161,000 96,600
No. 4, Sichuan North Road, commercial progress RZZ—R%F
Hongkou District, Shanghai, the PRC ~ SHAZE R TiREF
il HEmi A&
71136 B s 4555 1085R 5
160,600
Properties Held for Sale FEHERR Y
(Approx.)
(Approx.) (Approx.) Attributable
Site area GFA GFA
Location Intended use Shareholding (sq.m.) (sq.m.) (sq.m.)
(K%)
(X%) (X%) FEfEEE
WEER BEARE AER
12 RERZ e (FREK) (FHK) (FHK)
Various units for retails in Zone B & C, Commercial 100% 26,000 53,000 53,000
Construction Materials Market, [HES
Nanxun Economic Development District,
Huzhou City, Zhejiang Province, the PRC
R E Ry )= S B
BEREEMKEHBERCE M % E
{ERTEM BN
53,000
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